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A Pay Order in the sum of Rupees PKR. [767,9781 (Seven hundred sixty-seven 
thousand nine hundred seventy-eight only), being the license application fee calculated in 
accordance with Schedule II to the NEPRA Licensing (Application, Modification, Extension, 
and Cancellation) Procedure Regulations, 2021, is also attached herewith. 

I hereby certify that the documents-in-support to this application have been diligently 
prepared and adhere to the stipulations outlined in the NEPRA Licensing (Application, 
Modification, Extension, and Cancellation) Procedure Regulations, 2021 and undertake to 
abide by the terms and provisions specified in the abovesaid regulations. I further undertake 
and confirm that the information furnished in the documents-in-support is true and correct to 
the best of my knowledge, and no material omission has been made. 

I, Khurram Raza Bakhtayari Director, being the duly authorized representative of 
Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited by virtue of Board Resolution dated 02 October 2023, 
hereby apply to the National Electric Power Regulatory Authority for the grant of an Electric 
Power Supplier License to Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited under category I pursuant to 
Section 23E of the Regulation of Generation, Transmission, and Distribution of Electric Power 
Act, 1997. 

Dear Sir, 

SUBJECT: APPLICATION FOR GRANT OF ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER 
LICENSE IN LIUE OF SECOND-TIER AUTHORIZATION FOR SALES 
OF ELECTRICITY TO OMYA PACK (PRIVATE) LIMITED (BPC) 
NOT CONNECTED TO THE DISCOs NETWORK 

The Registrar 
National Electric Power Regulatory Authority 
NEPRA Tower, Attaturk Avenue (East) 
Sector G-5/1, Islamabad 

Ref: AG/475 

November 29, 2023 
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BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 

Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Director 

For and on behalf of 
Bulleh Shah Packagi (Pvt.) Limited 

Yours Sincerely, 

Your cooperation in this regard will be highly appreciated. 
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d. Section 4 (2) of the Electric Power Supplier Regulations provide that "Upon cessation P 

ofgeneration licences as provided under sub-section (5) of section 14rrBifthe Ac or iC_J'· •''~t 
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Provided that the generation licensees who have been granted second-tier suwly 
authorization prior to notification o[these regulations. may continue to supply electric 
power to their existing consumers subiect to sub·regulation (2) and (3)." 

c. Section 4( 1) of the Electric Power Supplier Regulations provides that "a generation 
company or generation licensee shall not supply electric power to any consumer 
without obtaining a license under section 23E of the Act: 

b. Section 23E(2) of the NEPRA Act states that "The eligibility criteria for grant of license 
to suwly electric power shall be prescribed by the Federal Government " 

a. Section 14D(3) of the NEPRA Act states that "A generating company may suJJJJlY 
electricity to any transmission, distribution, supply or market trader licensee in 
accordance with this Act and the rules and regulations made thereunder and may, 
subiect to section 23E. supply electricity to any consumer." 

2. We would like to reproduce the following provisions of the Regulation of Generation, 
Transmission and Distribution of Electric Power Act, 1997 Act, 1997 (the "NEPRA Act"), 
and relevant regulations thereunder for your kind attention: 

1. We, Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited ("BSPPL"), are writing with reference to letter 
dated December 12, 2022, having Reference/File No. NEPRA/DG (Lic)/LAG·30/23448 
(the "Letter") issued by National Electric Power Regulatory Authority ("NEPRA" or the 
"Authority"), wherein BSPPL was directed to apply for Supplier License under NEPRA 
Licensing (Application, Modification, Extension, and Cancellation) Procedure 
Regulations, 2021 ("Licensing Regulations") read with the provisions of NEPRA 
Licensing (Electric Power Supplier) Regulations, 2022 ("Electric Power Supplier 
Regulations") for the supply of electricity to a Bulk Power Consumer i.e., Omya Pack 
(Private) Limited (the "BPC") in lieu I place of originally allowed Second Tier Supply 
Authorization issued to BSPPL by NEPRA vide License No. SGC/151/2020 dated 
November 12, 2020 (the "License") which valid for period of 19 years. In our letter dated 
March 7, 2023 we sought an extension from the Authority for submission of application 
for obtaining an Electric Power Supplier License, since various important laws, rules, 
codes, and documents had not yet been finalized and/or approved at the Federal 
Government and NEPRA level and therefore, it was difficult for any organization including 
BSPPL to make an application for Supplier License at that stage. Despite awaiting a 
response regarding the above-mentioned extension letter, BSPPL is proceeding with the 
instant application for an Electric Power Supplier License due to the regulatory requirement 
and on the basis of the below-mentioned grounds. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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e. This electricity arrangement functions in an isolated mode without any grid 
involvement, rendering grid charges inapplicable to this setup. 

d. Since the BPC operates independently from the grid and any distribution network with 
interconnection exclusively on private property, factors such as Use of System Charge; 
Cross Subsidy, and Stranded Cost do not apply to the BPC. 

c. The BPC remains unconnected to the grid, as. the interconnection between BSPPL's 
generator and BPC is on private land, eliminating any involvement of a distribution 
network. 

b. The BPC stands independent of the distribution companies' ("DISCOs") capacity 
obligations. Additionally, the demand projections and evaluations for additional 
capacity procurement conducted by the DISCOs do not encompass the specific needs 
of BSPPL's BPC as same was discussed at the time of grant of second tier authorization 
for 19 years. 

a. It is important to note that the BPC is not a customer of the Lahore Electric" Supply 
Company ("LESCO") or of any other Competitor Supplier or Supplier of Last Resort. 

3. As per para 2( d) above, BS PPL has to regularize the current supply arrangement within the 
updated regulatory framework established by the Authority. Resultantly, in this instant 
application BSPPL aims to acquire an Electric Power Supplier License, in lieu of its 
existing second tie authorization being legal requirement, in accordance with the Licensing 
Regulations, read in conjunction with the Electric Power Supplier Regulations. Please also 
note the following in respect of the acquisition of the Electric Power Supplier License by 
BSPPL for provision of electricity to the BPC: 

[ emphasis added] 

completion ofone year from notification of these regulations. whichever is earlier. any 
generation company who has been granted a second-tier supply authorization shall 
obtain licence for supply of electric power under section 23E of the Act in order to 
supply electric power to its consumers". 

4. BSPPL has a Cogen Captive Power Plant which serves as a strategic asset, enhancing the 
company's operational efficiency by simultaneously producing electricity and steam. 
BSPPL not only reduces its dependence on external power sources but also minimizes 
energy wastage, contributing to a more sustainable and eco-friendly business model. This 
cogeneration power plant has a biomass boiler, contributing to the generation of electricity 
at a cost-effective and affordable rate. This integrated approach aligns with BSPPL's 
commitment to sustainable practices and responsible resource management. This 
mechanism enables BSPPL to efficiently utilize its generation facility, providing BPC~: 
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c. Para no. D (x) " ..... About the objections of LESCO, it is clarified that BSPPL plans 
supplying to the proposed BPC i.e., OPPL directly from its CPP without making any 
connection to the network of LESCO. In view of the said, it is clear that the 
understanding of LESCO is not correct as BSP PL does not plan having electric power 
from any other source except its own CPP and also maintaining the connection from 
the utility. In fact, OPPL plans to have the supply from BSPPL which is not a consumer 
of LESCO therefore, the question of serving notice and paying of cross subsidy does 
not arise. The supply to OPPL will be made directly through an underground cable 
located on private property without involving any public property therefore, there is no 
issue of crossing of cable through the exclusive territory of LESCO and any wheeling. 
In view of the said, the Authority considers that all the observations ofSNGPL, NTDc • ...-51-u,"""'H·..._~ 

and LESCO stand addressed and settled." ~~r1c\ 
t .v­ 
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a. Para no. D (iii) " .... The Authority considers that the above proposal of BSP PL is in line 
with the provisions of the NEPRA Act, relevant rules and regulations framed 
thereunder. The proposal will not only allow BSPPL to use its generation facility in an 
optimum manner but will provide OPPL with low-cost affordable electricity for its 
operations. Further to the said, the proposal will also help ·in reducing the carbon 
emission by generating clean electricity from biomass, thus improving the 
environment. " 

5. The rationale presented above for obtaining an Electric Power Supplier License aligns with 
the justifications put forth by the Authority during the issuance of the License to BSPPL. 
This License enabled the supply of electric power to the BPC under the framework of 
Second Tier Supply Authorization. The grounds that were provided by the Authority on 
that occasion are restated here for reference and continuity: 

which _is not connected to any distribution network, with affordable electricity to support its 
operations at a low cost. 

b. Para. no. D (v) " .... The Authority observes that the proposed BPC and the generation 
facility of BSPPL are located within the same premises and the BPC will be supplied 
through underground cable/feeder of 2201440 volt. Pursuant to proviso to Section- 
21/22 of the NEPFIA Act, the Authority is empowered to allow a generation company 
to sell electric power to a BPC located in the service territory of a distribution 
company. In view of the said, the Authority allows the BSPPL to sell electricity to BPC. 
Further, under Section-Ziv) of the NEPRA Act, ownership, operation, management, and 
control of distribution facilities located on private property and used solely to move or 
deliver electric power to the person owning, operating, managing, and controlling 
those facilities or to tenants thereof has not been included in the definition of 
"distribution". Based on the said considerations that the proposed BPC are located 
within the same premises and no public areas are involved, the supply of power to 
BPC(s) by BSP PL does not constitute a distribution activity under the NEP RA Act, and 
BSPPL will not require a distribution license for supplying to the BPC(s)." 



Poper , Board • Corrugated Products 
A Packagu Group Company 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 

Karachi Office 
. 416-422, G-20, The Forum, 
· Block - 9, Khayaban-e-Jami, 

Clifton, Karachi 
Ph: 021-3586941 

· Kasur Factory 
· Kasur - 7 KM, Kot Radha Kishan Rd . 
' Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, 
: Kasur - 55050 
; Ph: 049-2717335-45 

Lahore Office 
. Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O. Amer 

Sidhu, Lahore - 54760, 
Ph: 042-35811541-46 

Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Director 

.· .... 

··</>, 
'. ;..~. : •• t::·. 

For and on behalf of 
Bulleh Shah Pa ging (Pvt.) Limited 
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7. Furthermore, as stated above, the said BPC is not connected to the grid and thus falls outside 
the capacity obligations of the DISCOs. Additionally, the demand projections and 
additional capacity procurement assessments made by the DISCOs do not encompass the 
requirements of BSPPL's BPC. Therefore, BSPPL asserts that this arrangement with its 
BPC is not subject to any grid-related costs, including Use of System Charges, Cross 
Subsidy, and Stranded Costs. 

6. In light of the above, in this application BSPPL aims to regularize the existing supply 
arrangement with an Electric Power Supplier License from the Authority in accordance 
with the Licensing Regulations, read along with the provisions of the Electric Power 
Supplier Regulations. It is crucial to emphasize that, according to our perspective, there 
exist two distinct supply arrangements: the first involves the provision of electricity via the 
grid, while the second entails the delivery of electricity in an isolated mode without any 
grid association. BSPPL is pursuing a license falling within the parameters of the second 
supply arrangement, which pertains only to the scenario where the BPC is not connected 
from any grid infrastructure and operates exclusively with in the same premises on a 
privately owned property under the boundary rational. For abundant clarity, it is restated 
that BSPPL is only seeking a license falling under the second type, where the BPC is not 
connected to any grid and functions solely on private property. In accordance with the terms 
of the License, a significant portion ofBSPPL's installed capacity (24 MW representing 
92% of the 26 MW net capacity) is utilized for BSPPL's internal consumption, while only 
a minor portion (2 MW representing 8% of the 26 MW net capacity) is being supplied to 
the BPC pursuant to existing second tie authorization. Further, it is'reiterated that we are in 
compliance with the applicable requirements of law and the License. 
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Certifie 

"RESOLVED THAT Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari, Director holing CNIC bearing 
number 35201-5915315-1 be and is hereby authorized on behalf of the Company to file 
applications, appeals, reviews, revisions, references, response, written statement, affidavits 
or any other proceedings before the National Electric Power Regulatory Authority and to 
do all such acts necessary or in connection thereto including but not limited to, executing 
a power of attorney, appoint authorized representative(s) to do the same, sign, verify and 
file documents, applications, memoranda, written statements and to communicate with 
National Electric Power Regulatory Authority." 

TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED AT THE MEETING OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE DIRECTORS OF 

BULLEHSHAH PACKAGING PRIVATE LIMTED 
DATED 2 OCTOBER 2023 
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Tariff categories of consumer classes to be served: 

The tariff category of the BPC based on the load and consumer class mentioned in 
sub section ii above are as follows: 

iii. 

Consumer class/category, sub-category on the basis of sanctioned load and 
voltage level 

The BPC is not connected to the grid and it's not the consumer of any distribution 
company, based on the load of the BPC the details are as follows: 

ii. 

Sr.# Name ofConsumer I xpectcd I oad -•tt~-~~, 
Detail of Consumers: 

i. Interconnection Point, number of consumers and expected load: 

The Single Line Diagram (SLD) for interconnection point are attached as Annexure 
A. 

;;;1 
l_E.:. 

1. As per Schedule III of S.R.O. 760 (1)/2021 dated June 17, 2021, 
documents required for Electric Power Supply are described in this 
Schedule. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC PO'WER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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Demand and consumption pattern on different time periods 

Demand and consumption patter of BPC is as follows: 

iv. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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The 12-month projections to BPC are as follows: 

v. Procurement Plan for meeting expected loads (including own generation and/or 
long-term and short-term PPAs, as the case may be) 

BSPPL presently operates a generation facility with a total gross capacity of 41 MW. 
Out of this capacity, 30 MW is currently in operation, and the net capacity, after 
accounting for auxiliary load, is 26 MW. Of this 26 MW, 24 MW is utilized for 
BSPPL's internal consumption, while the remaining 2 MW is dedicated to supplying 
the BPC in accordance with their specific needs. 

BS PPL is also in the process of expanding its operational capacity and fully utilizing 
its gross capacity. With these enhancements, they will have ample capacity to meet 
the future demands of their BPC. As a result, there should be no need for additional 
procurement to accommodate the expected load of the BPC. 

vi. 12-month projections on expected load, number of consumers and expected sale 
of units for each consumer category 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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ix. Consumer Service Manual 

We will adopt and implement the Consumer Service Manual published by the 
NEPRA for Electric Power Supplier and as amended from time to time. 

viii. Training and development procedures and manuals 

Attach as Annexure B. 

5-year Investment Plan indicating schemes/models/framework for undertaking 
supply of electric power (including frameworks for providing non­ 
discriminatory services and acquisition/sale of assets in relevant service 
territories) 

Currently we do not have any specific plan regarding this because electricity is being 
provided through a single line and the property where BPC is operating in the same 
premises close to our facility and this do not involve any public land. 

BSPPL presently operates a generation facility with a total gross capacity of 41 MW. 
Out of this capacity, 30 MW is currently in operation, and the net capacity, after 
accounting for auxiliary load, is 26 MW. Of this 26 MW, 24 MW is utilized for 
BSPPL's internal consumption, while the remaining 2 MW is dedicated to supplying 
tile BPC in accordance with their specific needs. 

BSPPL is also in the process of expanding its operational capacity and fully utilizing 
its gross capacity. With these enhancements, they will have ample c~acity to meet 
the future demands of their BPC. 

vii. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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e. Basis of common services for commercial and residential consumers and 
their allocation thereof 

BSPPL's business model is primarily geared towards supplying electricity to 
industrial or BPC and does not involve serving consumers in the commercial or 
residential sectors. This specialization likely involves tailored services and 
considerations specific to industrial-scale electricity usage. 

Payment via Cross Cheque: BPC make their payments to BSPPL by issuing 
cross cheques. This method ensures a secure and traceable payment process. 

In summary, BSPPL uses remote metering to accurately measure electricity 
consumption, bills BPC based on actual usage at agreed prices, and receives 
payments through cross cheques for the services provided. 

c. Ability to access consumer metering systems and other services/equipment 

It's confirmed that BSPPL possesses the capability to access the metering 
systems and other associated services and equipment of the BPC. This ability is 
likely crucial for efficient operation, monitoring, and management of the 
electricity supply to the BPC, including tasks like accurate billing, 
troubleshooting, and ensuring the reliable provision of electricity services. 

d. Emergency provisions and protocols 

Attach as Annexure C. 

b. Billing and collection procedures (including provisions for remote 
metering) 

This statement describes the billing and payment process for electricity 
consumption at BSPPL: 

Remote Metering: BSPPL has installed meters in the HTV (High Tension 
Voltage) room. These meters measure the electricity consumption of the BPC 
connected to BSPPL's supply. 

Monthly Billing: At the end of each month, BSPPL calculates the amount of 
electricity consumed by BPC based on the actual .readings recorded by the 
meters located in the HTV room. These readings provide an accurate measure 
of how much electricity BPC has used during the billing period. 

Agreed Pricing: The billing is done at an agreed-upon price. This price could 
be based on a previously negotiated rate or tariff structure between BS PPL and 
BPC. 

Information relating to: 

a. Proposed services territory 

Attach as Annexure A. 

x. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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a. OmyaPack Private Limited- OPPL 

The BPC is linked through the 11 KV (kilovolt) network situated on private land. In this 
setup, the generator is connected to the High-Tension Voltage (HTV) room, and the 
metering points for the BPC are also located at the HTV room. This arrangement between 
BPC and generator means that the BPC receives electricity from BSPPL through its own 
private electrical network infrastructure, which is distinct from the public grid. Operation 
and maintenance of the network and system is the responsibility of the BSPPL. 

The power generated from the generation facility currently is supplied to BSPPL for self­ 
consumption and by using private property to the Bulk power consumer (BPC). In regard 
to this, NEPRA issued a Generation License to BSPPL datedIZ Nov 2020 on Private-to­ 
Private mode for sale of power to the following bulk power consumer (the "BPC") under 
second-tier supply authorization: 

2. Prospectus 
Bulleh Shah Packages Private Limited (BSPPL) is wholly owned by Packages Limited. 
BSPPL's parent company, Packages Limited, has been in the Paper and Board business 
since 1968. Over the years, it has continued to enhance its capacities and capabilities to 
meet the growing demand of Paper and Board products in Pakistan. In 2005, Packages 
Limited invested in a Green Field Project in Kasur by the name of Bulleh Shah Paper 
Mills. The plant, spread over 225 acres of land expanded its product lines to Liquid 
Packaging Board, Folding Box Board, White Line Chip Board, Writing Paper and 
Photocopy Paper, Test Liner and Fluting/Corrugated medium paper. The current plant has 
the capacity to produce 240,000 tons of paper and board and 210 million corrugated boxes 
annually. 

BSPPL was using their generation facility as captive generator for self-consumption. After 
that, BSPPL submitted an application on 24 Jan 2020 for the grant of a generation license 
in terms of Section 14 B of the Regulation of Generation, Transmission, and Distribution 
of Electric Power Act, 1997 (the ''NEPRA Act") and with relevant provisions of the 
NEPRA Licensing (Application and Modification Procedure) Regulations,1999. and got 
Generation License for Biomass thermal generation plant from NEPRA on 12 Nov 2020. 
The summary ofBSPPL plant specification is reflected in the below table. 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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3. . Company Information 

The following Company Information is Attach as Annexure D. 

a) Certificate of Incorporation 
b) Pattern of Share holding 
c) Memorandum of Association 
d) Article of Association 
e} Annual Report 

i) Authorized, issued, subscribed and paid-up share capital of the BSPPL. 

APPLICATION FO!t ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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Profile of senior management are attached as Annexure E. 

Evidence of financial resources is attached as Annexure D ( e ). 

Evidence of technical resources are attached as Anriexure F. 

Bulleh Shah Packages Private Limited (BSPPL) is wholly owned by Packages Limited. 
BSPPL's parent company, Packages Limited, has been in the Paper and Board business 
since 1968. Over the years, it has continued to enhance its capacities and capabilities to 
meet the growing demand of Paper and Board products in Pakistan. In 2005, Packages 
Limited invested in a Green Field Project in Kasur by the riame of Bulleh Shah Paper 
Mills. The plant, spread over 225 acres of land expanded its product lines to Liquid 
Packaging Board, Folding Box Board, White Line Chip Board, Writing Paper and 
Photocopy Paper, Test Liner and Fluting/Corrugated medium paper. The current plant has 
the capacity to produce 240,000 tons of paper and board and 210 million corrugated boxes 
annually. 

4. Evidence of Financial and Technical resources 

Profile of BSPPL: 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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.. 

Presently, we don't have any specific plans for investment and expansion. This is because 
our electricity supply is routed through a single line, and the properties where the BPCs 
are situated are in very close proximity to our Generation Facilities. Additionally, this setup 
does not extend beyond the immediate area. 

Furthermore, we have already made investments in and acquired engines capable of 
running on biomass. These engines are in place to ensure a continuous power supply, both 
for our internal operations and to meet the needs of the BPCs. 

We take complete responsibility for the operation and maintenance of the electrical 
infrastructure. Regular inspections are conducted on the cables laid out to detect and 
address potential issues proactively, It's worth noting that we also have access to the BPCs' 
properties, which aids in our maintenance efforts. 

In this context, there is no need for additional planning or development. The cables 
connecting our Generation Facilities to the BPCs have already been established. Moreover, 
there is currently no demand for expansion from the BPCs, nor have they conveyed any 
intentions to expand their business operations to us . 

5. Technical and Financial Proposal 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC PO\VER SUPPLIERLICENSE 
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6. Duly· authoraed statement stating whether the> applicant·· has been 
refused grant of license under the Act: . 

We hereby confirm that we have not been refused the grant of license under the Act. 

~ ... - - ·-. ·~ .. ' 
:. ·.·. . . . . : .. : .· •. . -_ .. ·. ·. : 

APPLICATION FOR ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LICENSE 
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Human Resource Head 

Regards 

The responsibility for implementing these policies lies with the Human Resource department. 

Implementation 

For any kind of interpretation, questions and advice regarding these policies, the Human Resource department is 
responsible. 

Interpretation & Advice 

This Policy is a reference and a general guide for all staff. It is not intended to be and should not be interpreted as a 
contract between BSP and any employee. This policy is a revision of the previous versions. Hence, this supersedes all 
existing policies and procedures. This policy may be subject to change from time to time, any changes to this policy 
shall be authorized by the HHRC and Board of directors of BSPL. 

This Human Resource Polley applies to all staff across all locations where Bulleh Shah packaging 
(Pvt.) Limited (BSPL) operates. 

Dear Colleagues, 
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• People Performance Process (PPP). 

• Management Review Process (MRP) for all CE0-3 employees. 

1.1 Learning and Development needs are determined by several output generating tools which 
are used within Bulleh Shah Packaging and which form the nucleus of "Packages Group Talent 
Framework". These are: 

1. Identifying Learning & Development Needs: 
I 

Learning & Development Process 

Out of scope: All full-time employees (FTE) in Non-Executive and Non-Management grades. 
Anything other than learning & Development areas - e.g., business conferences, supplier 
meetings, sales conferences. 

In scope: All full-time employees (FTE) in Executive & Management grades. 

3. To ensure that your learning objectives are linked to the overall business strategy of your BU 
and the Company. 

Objective: 

1. To provide you with continuous learning & development opportunities. 

2. To ensure that you are equipped with the right skillset and knowledge to cater to the ever­ 
changing demands of the market, customers, the business and to your own learning needs. 
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1.6 In addition to individual learning & Development initiatives, HR will also incorporate into the 
plan the agreed common Companywide initiatives which are required. 

1.5 While much of the information for individual Learning & Development will come from the 
above-mentioned processes, the Line Head can (should they feel the need) recommend 
individual or collective Learning & Development initiatives during the course of the year and 
which may not have been captured in the above-mentioned processes. However, this will not be 
the norm and the ability of the organization to entertain such requests would depend upon the 
relevance of the proposal and the cost involved. 

1.4 HR will collect all the information captured for a meaningful progress towards Learning & 
Development of individuals. 

1.3 Learning & Development requirements are captured from the inputs provided by the Line 
within the above-mentioned tools. Therefore, it is imperative that appropriate time and thought 
is given to the Learning & Development requirements of individuals before entering them into 
the above-mentioned tools. 

1.2 Each year Bulleh Shah Packaging runs the above-mentioned processes. You should be familiar 
with their functioning. Detailed guidelines, booklets, and broachers are available on the Intranet 
for you to become familiar with. In addition, hard.copies are available from HR. 

• 

360 Degr:e Feedback System . 

Learning Needs Assessment (LNA) . 

• 
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5. External Training Registration: 

Wherever possible, Bulleh Shah Packaging will provide internal trainings; either through OD 
Department- HR Division or through trained internal subject experts. Indeed, internally led 
trainings are highly encouraged. 

4. Internal Trainings: 

3.2 All International trainings will require the approval of the CEO as well. 

3.1 All individual trainings requiring a cost spend needs to be approved by the Department Head, 
Division Head and Head of HR on the "Training Nomination Form" (attached) and available on the 
Intranet. 

3. Approval for Trainings: 

Responsibility for identified individual Learning & Development areas will rest with each 
respective Line Head. Support will be provided by OD Department - HR Division. For common 
Companywide initiatives, OD Department will be directly responsible. 

2. Responsibility for learning & Development: 
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Training Nomination Form 

Yes Learning & Development Process pp (31) 1-Jan-2021 

Management 
Approval Name of Process Effective Date Revision Date 

People 
Process No. 
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International trainings need approval of CEO: 

.. . 

Please specify why the employee has been nominated for this training 

For use by d"tvislonal/departmental manager I I 

Date: From To --- Cost ~ 
Topic: _ 

Trainer's Name: --------- 
Venue: ------------ 

I Course Information I 
Employee ID: Name: _ 
Department: _ 

Employee Information 

Tralninc Nomination Form 
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..... ; .•..........•••......• ..... 

... ~ ' . ~.' ... Training mentioned in LNA: 

Approved by liiiiir 
Date Approved: 

. HR SECTION 

., . 

(jj) 
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SECRETARY 

CERTIFIED T%i7 C>:;P·f 
FOR BULLEH SH/~H PAG~AGiiiG (f!R!i/M[) L. iiT~ 

n« 5000/- 

~~ ~==-~~ 
(SIDNEY C. PEREIRA) 
Joint Registrarflnchargc 

Company Registration Office, 
Karachi 

Given under my hantl al Karachi this 03"1 dtiy of October Two Tl1011s11111f and 
Twelve. 

This change is subject to the condition that for period of one year from the 

elate of issue of this certificate, the company shall continue to mention its former 

name along toitl: its new name mi ilie outside of eve,~/ office or place i11 tohich its 

business is carried 011 and in every document or notice referred lo in clauses (a) and (c) 
of section 143. 

l herein] certify that pursuant to the provisions of section 39 of the Companies 

Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984), the name of BULLEH SHAH PAPER MILL 

(PRIVATE> LIMITED has been changed to BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) 

Lll\HTED and tlta t the said company has been duly incorporated as tr .,compmiy 

limited hy slwres ,1s a private COlllEfl...J..W. 1111de,. the provisions of the said Grdinance. 

Company Registration No: 0052465 

{Under section 40 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XL VII of 1984)] 

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION ON CHANGE OF NAME 

SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMlvIISSION OF PAKISTAN 



. r-··- .. ··-· -· .. ·• ·-··· ··- .. 
·, 

-,ii w w w b u I i e h s h a 11 . co ,n p k 

Karachi Office 
416-422, G-20, The Forum, 
Block - 9, Khayaban-e-Jami, 
Clifton, Karachi 
Ph: 021-3586941 

Poper • Boord • Corrugated Products 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Packages Group Company 

(: 

·,: .. 
Kasur Factory 
Kasur - 7 KM, Kot Radha Kishan Rd. 
Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, 
Kasur - 55050 
Ph: 049-2717335-45 

Lahore Office 
Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O. Amer 
Sidhu, Lahore - 54760, 
Ph: 042-35811541-46 

( lqra Sajjad ) 
Company Secretary 

SHAH PACKAGING (PVT) LIMITED 

.. 

I FOLIO NO. NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES PERCENTAGE 

8 .PACKAGES LIMITED 1,091,873,865 100% 
15 SYED HYDER All 1 0.00% 
17 SYED ASLAM MEHDI 1 0.00% 
21 KHURRAM RAZA BAKHTAYARI 1 0.00% 
27 IMRAN KHALID NIAZI 1 0.00% 
28 RIYAZ ALI TOWFIQ CHINOY 1 0.00% 
29 AYESHA KHAN 1 0.00% 

TOTAL 1,091,873,871 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE} LIMITED 

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING 

AS OF 30 SEPTEMBER 2023 
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· :secRETARY , . 

ElULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 

OF 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

AND 

. •. 

MEMORANDUM 

:· ... 
(PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES) 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017 

• 

... 
. 
' 
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Rs. 5000/- 

~ 
(SIDNEY C. PEREIRA) 

Joint Registrarflncharge 
Company Registration Office, 

Karachi 

Gioen under my hand at Karachi this 03,i1 day of October Two Thousand and 
Twelve. 

This change is subject to the condition that for period of one year from the 
date of issue of this certificate, the company shall continue to mention its former 

name along with its new name on the outside of every office or place in which its 

business is carried on and ill evmJ document or notice referred to in clauses (t?) and (c) 

of section 143. 

I hereby certify that pursuant to the provisions of section 39 of tire Companies 
Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984), the name of BULLEI-I SHAH PAPER MILL 

(PRIVATE) LIMITED has been changed to BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) 

LIMITED and that the said company has been duly incorporated as a company 

limited by s1,ares as a private compamt under the prouisions of the said Ordinance. 

Company Registration No: 0052465 

[Under section 40 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XL VII of 1984)] 

CER.TIFICATE OF INCORPORATION ON CHANGE OF NAME 

SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN 

/ 
! ,:. ( . /.. ;;. ...:: .· 
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{ TAHIR MAHMOOD ) 

ADDITIONAL REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES 

Fee Rs. 2,500/- (Two Thousand Five Hundred Only) 

Given under my hand at Karachi this 16th day of September two thousand and five. 

J hereby certify that BULLEH SHAH PAPER MILL (PRIVATE) LIMITED is this day 

incorporated under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984) and that the company is 

limited by Shares. 

Company Registration No. 0000001165~/20050907 

(Under section 32 of the Companies Ordinance; 1984 (XL VII of 1984) 

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 

... Q ·- ti! OJ.fl, .. , (,_l~a.,: 
~;~~;_~;· 

.. J~~4''"' 
l(,."1(!11 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COI\11VIISSION OF' PAKISTAN 



Lahore Office Kasur Factory Karachi Offtee 
Shahrah~E-Room.i.RO. An'ter Kasur - 7 ~M. Kpt Radha Ki~han Road · 416-422, G-20, The FOl'IJ!ll, 
Sidhu. Lahore- 54760, Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Roaci, Block - 9, Khayaban-e-Jami, 
Ph: 042,35811541,46 District Kasur - 55050 Clillon, Karachi 

Ph: 04~2717335-45 Ph: 021-3586941 

Bulleh Shah 
P e o k D g i n :g 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Packages Group Company 

SECRETARY 

CERTIFiED TRUE COPY 
FOR 8ULLEH SHAH PACKAGii~G (PRIVATE) Lli TEO 

~a-~ 
Company Secretary ~ 

Certified true copy 

FURTHER RESOLVED that the Company Secretary be and is hereby authorized to do all acts, 
deeds and things, take any and all necessary steps to implement and give effect to this resolution 
and file all necessary documents/returns with the Companies Registrar as required by law in this 
regard and to attend to the matters ancillary thereto." 

• 
''RESOLVED THAT the Articles of Association of the Company be and are hereby substituted by a 
new.set of Articles of Association, as laid before the members, and prepared by amending the existing 
Articles of Association in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 and other applicable laws. 

TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED AT 
THE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 

DATED 24 OCTOBER 2018 



SECRETARY 

2. To carry on all or any of the business of manufacturing and printing of cartons, packages, 
specialised containers for various commodities, utensils and other articles; printers, lithographers, 
type founders, stereotypers, electrotypers, photographic printers, photo-lithographers, chromo­ 
lithographers, engravers, die-sinkers, book binders, designers, draughtsmen, paper and ink 
manufacturers and dealers In or manufacturers of any other articles or things of a character similar 
or analogous to the foregoing or any of them or connecting therewith; manufacturers, importers, 
exporters and dealers in raw materials, articles and things required for purposes of manufacture 
and printing of cartons, packages, specialised containers for various commodities, utensils and 
other articles in which the company is interested or any other marketable commodities, and to 
establish and maintain showrooms for this purpose; and of distributors, suppliers and sellers of the 
said articles and contractors for supplying them. · 

CERTIF!ED i'RUE CO~\ .... "···~· ii .... rr, 
FOR BULLEH SHAH PACKP.l.iiNt; \l1RIVAI ti t,\i i\l;;.t 

1. To carry on all or any of the businesses of manufacturers of and dealers in paper and board of all 
kinds, and Tetra paper for making Tetra Pak of any type, description and dimension, straw board, 
plain and corrugated, duplex board, chip board, card board, box board, veneer board, mill board, 
wall and ceiling paper, greaseproof paper and articles made of paper, pulp, paper board specialities 
and board in all theirbranches. 

I. The name of the company is BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED. 
II. The registered office of the company will be situated in the province of Sindh, Pakistan. 
Ill. The objects for which the company is established are: 

•. 

OF 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017 

(PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY S~ARES) 



15. To let out on hire, mortgage, sell or otherwise dispose off or deal with whole or any part of the 
undertaking of the company to any lands, business, property, rights or assets of any kind belonging 
to the company or any share or interest thereon respectively in such manner and for such 
consideration as the company may think fit, in the event of winding up of the company. 

14. To purchase, take on lease or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any immovable or movable 
property, and any rights or privileges which the company may think necessary or convenient for 
the purpose of its business, and in particular any land, buildings, easements, machinery, plant and 
stock-in-trade; and either to retain any property so acquired for the purpose of the company's 
business or to turn the same to account as may seem expedient. 

13. To amalgamate with any other company in Pakistan or elsewhere established with objects similar 
or identical to those for which this company is established. . · 

12. To enter into any arrangements and contracts with any government or authority, supreme, 
municipal, local or other firms, companies and corporate bodies etc., that may seem conducive to 
the company's objects or any one of them and to obtain from government or authority any rights, 
privileges, options, concessions and licenses, and to carry out, exercise or comply with any such 
agreements, arrangements, rights, privileges, concessions and licenses and to procure the company 
to be registered or recognized. · 

11. To apply for purchase or otherwise acquire and register any patent or patent rights, licenses, 
concessions or privileges, trade marks or designs and the like. conferring to any exclusive or non­ 
exclusive or limited right to use or any secret or other information as to any invention of which may 
seem calculated directly or indirectly to benefit the company, and use, exercise, develop or grant 
license in respect of or otherwise turn to account the property rights or-information so acquired. 

10. To appoint contractors, except managing agent, brokers, canvasses, agents and other persons to 
establish and maintain agencies or branches in any part of Pakistan or else where for the purpose 
of the company and to discharge and discontinue the same. 

9. To establish, participate in or promote commercial, mercantile and industrial enterprises and 
operation and enter into joint ventures, partnerships or other collaborations and arrangements 
with any undertaking or company whether local or foreign for the achievement of the company's 
objects and business. 

8. To guarantee the performance of contracts, agreements, obligations of the company and to give 
any guarantee in relation to the execution of jobs, contracts, payment of securities, deposits, loans, 
debenture stocks, bonds and also for discharge of the obligations of the company. 

7. To apply for tender, purchase or otherwise acquire contracts, subcontracts, licenses and 
concessions for or in relation to the objects of business herein mentioned or any of them and to 
undertake, execute, carry out, dispose of or otherwise turn to account the same. To sublet all or 
any contracts from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as may be thought expedient. 

6. To acquire, establish and carry on stores, depots and factories etc in Pakistan or elsewhere and 
maintain stalls, booths, godowns and warehouses required for the benefit and promotion of the 
products or business of the company. 

5. To do business of contractors, tenders, stockists, distributors, market surveyors, dealers and 
suppliers of variety of things which the company may consider beneficial. 

4. To acquire agencies except managing agent of any person, firms or companies and to act as agents, 
manufacturer's representatives, personal agents, selling agents, buying agents, consultants, 
technical agents to and for any undertaking or enterprise whatsoever. 

3. To acquire, deal, purchase, import, sale, supply and export any thing whatsoever. 

2 



V. The Authorized Share Capital of the Company is Rs.15,000,000,000 (Rupees Fifteen Billion) divided 
into 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of PKR 10/- each with powers to the Company to increase, 
reduce, reorganize, consolidate or subdivide the share capital on such terms as the Company in 
General Meeting may deem appropriate in the capital of various classes from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company and the Companies 
Ordinance, 1984. 

25. The company shall not engage in banking, business of an investment company, leasing company 
and insurance or any unlawful business and that nothing in object clauses shall be construed to 
entitle it to engage in such business, directly or indirectly. The company shall not launch multilevel, 
pyramid and ponzi scheme. · 

IV. The liabillty of the members Is limited. 

24. "Notwithstanding anything stated in any object clause, the cornpanv shall obtain such other 
approval or license from the competent authority, as may be required under any Jaw for the time 
being in force, to undertake a particular business." · 

23. It is hereby undertaken that the company shall not engage in banking business or in investment 
company or in any unlawful business and that nothing in object.clauses shall be construed to entitle 
it to engage in such business • 

22. It is expressly declared that the several sub-clauses of this Clause and all the powers expressed 
therein are to be construed as cumulative and independent and in no case unless the context 
expressly so requires is the generality of any one sub-clause to be narrowed or restricted by the 
name of the Company or by the particularity of expression in the same sub-clause or by the 
application of anv- rule of construction such as the ejusdem generis rule, and accordingly none of 
such sub-clauses or the objects therein specified or the power thereby conferred shall be deemed 
subsidiary or auxiliary merely to the objects mentioned in any other sub-clause of this clause, and 
the Company shall have full power to exercise all or any of the powers conferred by any part of this 
Clause in any part of the world. 

21. And generally to do and to perform all such other things and acts as may appear to be incidental or 
conducive to the attainment of the above objects or any of them. 

20. To draw, make, accept, endorse, execute and issue promissory notes, bills of exchange, bills of 
lading and other negotiable or transferable securities and to advance, deposit money, securities or 
property to such persons, firm or company and on such terms with or without security as the 
company deem fit. 

19. To open an account or accounts with any bank or banks and to draw and endorse cheques and to 
withdraw money from such accounts 

18. To pay all costs, expenses, liabilities and obligations incurred or sustained in or in respect of the 
promotion, floatation, registration and establishment of the company, or in connection with the 
establishment and inauguration of any of its branches or business, and also to pay or adjust 
advocate's fees, brokerage, commission, bonuses, printing charges, or any other preliminary 
expenditure, which in the opinion of the Directors, may have properly been incurred by any 
member, advocate or agent, in connection with the aforesaid. 

17. To borrow money by the issue of debenture stock (perpetual or otherwise) and to secure the 
repayment of any money borrowed, or owing to mortgage, charge or lien upon all or any of the 
property or assets of the company (both present and future) and also by a similar mortgage, charge 
or lien to secure and guarantee the performance by the company of any obligation undertaken by 
the company. 

16. To create and issue different classes of shares, debenture or stock debenture and redeem, cancel 
or accept surrender thereof; and to issue its members any dividends, bonuses, shares, or distribute 
amongst them any other property of the company provided that any such issue or distribution of 
dividends, bonuses, bonus shares or other property does not amount to reduction of share-capital 
of the company. 

3 



Sd/- (200) Two Hundred 

Sd/- (200) Two Hundred 

Sci/- (500) Five Hundred 

Number of shares 
taken by each 
subscriber 

Sci/- 

Pakistani Omar Yacob KHAL!D YACOB 

Pakistani Chaudhry Abdul Rashid MUJEEB RASHID 

Pakistani Syed Babar Ali SYED HYDER ALI 

N.I.C. No. Occupation Residential address 
in full 

35201-1655225-1 Professional 70-F.C.C., Gulberg, 
Manager Lahore 

35201-5296887- 7 Professional House No.54, Block L, 
Manager Phase I, D.H.A., 

Lahore Cantt., Lahore 

35202-2337385-9 Professional 304-Upper Mall, Lahore 
Manager 

Nationality 
with any former 
Nationality 

Name & Surname 
(Present & Former) 

in full 
(in Block Letters) 

....... Ci om 
'°?J ~:j .- .,, 
f;; rii ::co 
Y:!-1;;-~~~=-~~~~~--,-,:-~~~~~-=:--~~.,---,-~-,-~~~--,,--:-,-:-:;:-~,.,--~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 5= ~ated this 9ili day of September 2005 Witness to the above signatures: Adi J. Cawasji 
~ rn Father's 'name: Mr. Jehangir N. Cawasji 
c» 0 Occupation: Service 
~ Q Nationality: Pakistani G> •.J ~-< N.l.C. number: 42000-0524360-9 c..., Full address: 66 B, South Circular Avenue, D.H.A., Phase-Z, Karachi- 75500 
'=ci ;;:o 
~ 
.d c: 

Signature Father's/Husband's 
Name in full 

4 
We, the several persons, whose names and address as are subscribed hereunto are desirous of being formed into a Company in pursuance of these Memorandum of Association, and we respectively 

agree to take the number of shares in the capital of the Company set opposite to our respective names. 



SECRETARY 

CERTlfiEO TRU[ COP~--- .. vc 
rOR BULL EH Si\Atl PAC\\P,Gm1; (PRWAl ~:) 

"Special Resolution" has the same meaning as ascribed thereto in clause (66) of sub­ 
section 1 of Section 2 of the Act. 

(p) 

"Shares" means shares in the share capital of the Company; (o) 

"Section" means sections of the Act; (n) 

"Seal" means the common or official seal of the Company; (m) 

"Registered Office" means the registered office of the Company for the time being; (I) 

"Register" means the Register of Members to be kept pursuant to Section 119 of the 
Act and "Member" has the same meaning as set out in Section 118 of the Act; 

(k) 

"Act!' means the Companies Act, 2017 and any amendment or re-enactment thereof for 
the time being in force; 

Ul 

"Memorandum" means the Memorandum of Association of the Company as originally 
framed or as altered from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Act and 
these Articles; 

(i) 

"General Meeting" means an Annual General Meeting or an Extra Ordinary General 
Meeting of the Company, as the case may be. 

(h) 

"Dividend" means the distribution of profits of the Company to its Members; (g) 

"Day" means a calendar day; ·- (f} 

(e) "Commission" means the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan established 
under Section 3 of the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan Act, 1997 (Xlll of 
1997); 

(d) "Company" means Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited; 

(c) "Chief Executive" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Company appointed from 
time to time in accordance with these Articles; 

(b) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company for the time being and 
"Directors" mean the directors of the Company for the time being; 

(a) "Articles" means these Articles of Association as originally framed or as altered from 
time to time by Special Resolution; 

Words or expressions contained in these Articles shall, unless otherwise defined herein or unless 
inconsistent with the subject or context, have the same meaning as ascribed thereto in the 
Companies Act, 2017. ln these Articles, unless there is something in the subject or context 
inconsistent therewith: 

2. DEFINITIONS 

The regulations contained in table "A" in the first Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017, shall not 
apply to the Company except to the extent and as hereinafter expressly incorporated. 

1. TABLE'A'NOTTOAPPLY 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMrfED 

OF 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

PRIVATE LIMITED CoMPANY LIMITED BY SKARES 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017 



All Shares issued pursuant to these Articles shall have a par value of PKR 10/· each per Share and 
except to the extent stated in these Articles and the Act, shall rank pari passu in all respects, 
including voting rights, dividends, return on capital and otherwise. 

6.2 Parity of Initial Shares 

Subject to the provlslons.of the Act and these Articles, the Shares of the Company shall be under 
the control of the Board. The Board shall, as regards any issuance or allotment of Shares, duly 
comply with the provisions of these Articles and Sections 70 and Section 83 of the Act as may be 
applicable. 

6.1 Issuance of Shares 

6. SHARES 

5.2 Except as may be set out in these Articles, the holders of Shares of the Company are entitled to 
receive notice(s) of general meetings of the Company and to vote at such general meetings and 
shall have one vote for each share. 

5.1 The authorised share capital of the Company is the amount set out in Clause V of the 
Memorandum divided into the number of ordinary Shares of PKR 10/· each as set out in the said 
clause with powers to the Company by Special Resolution, to increase, reduce, reorganize, 
consolidate or subdivide the share capital into various classes from time to time in accordance 
with the provisions of these Articles and the Act. 

5. AUTHORISED CAPIT Al 

(c) the right to transfer Shares of the Company is restricted in the manner and to the extent 
specified in these Articles. 

[bl no invitation shall be made to the public to subscribe for the Shares or debentures of 
the Company; 

(a) the number of Members of the Company (exclusive' of persons in the employment of 
the Company), shall be limited to fifty (50), provided that for the purposes of this 
provision, where two or more persons hold one or more Shares in the Company jointly, 
they shall be treated as a single Member; 

The Company is a private limited company and accordingly: 

4. PRIVATE COMPANY 

3.2 The Registered Office of the Company will be situated in the province of Sindh. 

3.1 The business of the Company shall include the objects expressed in the Memorandum of 
Association. 

3. BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY AND REGISTERED OFFICE 
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•. 

If any Share certificate is defaced, mutilated and is surrendered to the Company or is lost or 
destroyed, then on proof to the satisfaction of the Board, and after making such inquiries as to 
the defacement, mutilation, loss or destruction of the original and on such indemnity as the 
Board deems adequate being given, a new certificate in lieu thereof may be issued on such 
terms and fee as may be prescribed by the Board including payment of expenses incurred by the 
Company in investigating title, within thirty (30) Days after receiving application for the same. 

7 .3 Issue of Duplicate Certificates 

Every Member shall be entitled, within thirty (30) Days of the allotment of Shares, without 
payment, to one (1) certificate for all the Shares registered in his name, or upon paying such fee 
as the Board may from time to time determine, to several certificates, each for one or more 
Shares. Every certificate of shares shall specify and denote the number of Shares in respect of 
which it is issued, and the amount paid thereon. In respect of a Share or Shares held jointly by 
several persons, the Company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery 
of the Share certificate to anyone of the joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all. 

7.2 Members' Right to Certificates 

The certificates of title to the shares shall be issued under the Seal of the Company and signed 
by two (2) Directors. 

7 .1 Certificates 

7. SHARE CERTIFICATES 

Subject to the provisions of the Act, these Articles and any applicable laws, rules and 
regulations, the Board may allot and issue Shares in the capital of the Company as payment for 
any property (tangible or intangible) sold or transferred, goods or machinery supplied, for any 
securities transferred or issued, for good will and/or for services rendered to the Company or 
expenses incurred on behalf of the Company or in conduct of its business or affairs and any 
Shares which may be so allotted shall be issued as fully paid up Shares. 

6.4 Issuance of Shares for consideration other than cash 

The Board may, subject to the provisions of these Articles and Section 83 of the Act, allot or 
otherwise dispose of any Shares of the Company to such persons, on such terms and conditions 
and at such times as the Board thinks fit, and at a premium or at par or at a discount (subject to 
the provisions of the Act) and for such consideration as the Board thinks fit, PROVIDED THAT, 
where at any time the Board decides to increase the issued capital of the Company by issuing 
any further Shares, such Shares shall be offered to the existing Members in proportion to the 
existing Shares held by each Member in respective kinds and classes and such an offer shall be 
made by a notice specifying the number of Shares to which the Member is entitled, and limiting 
a time not less than fifteen (15) Days and not exceeding thirty (30) Days within which the offer, 
if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined, and on expiration of such time, or on receipt of 
information from the Member to whom such notice is given that he declines to accept the 
shares offered, the Board may, subject to the provisions of Section 83{1)(a)(iv) of the Act, 
dispose of the same in such manner as it may consider most beneficial to the Company or 
decide not to allot such Shares to any person. 

6.3 Further Issue of Shares 
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(el The Soard shall have power on due notice (given in the manner prescribed in the Act) to 
close the Register of Transfers for such period(s) of time not exceeding thirty (30) Days 
in any year. 

Signature Transferee(s) ------­ 
Full Name, FcKher's/Husband's Name 
Nationality, Occupation 
and Full Address ofTransferee. 

Witness 
Signature 
Full Address 

Signature Transferor(s) ------­ 
Full Name, Father's/Husband's Name 
Nationality, Occupation 
and Full Address of Transferor. 

Witness 
Signature 
Full Address 

AS WITNESS my/our hands this day of _ 

of consideration 

"I/We,, son/daughter/wife of and 

of---------- being a ------ national, called the "Transferors" in 
the sum of 

.__ ) paid to me/us by -------~ 

son/daughter/wife of of ------------ 
national(s) of (hereinafter called "The Transferee(s)") do hereby transfer 
to the Transferee(s) share(s) numbered in Bulleh Shah 
Packaging {Private) Limited to hold the same unto the said Transferee(s), his (or her or their) 
executors, administrators and assigns subject to the several conditions on which I/we held the 
same immediately before the execution hereof, and I/we, the Transferee(s), do hereby agree to 
take the said share(s) subject to the conditions aforesaid. 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited. 

Form for Transfer of Share~ 

(d) The instrument of transfer of any Share shall be in writing in the usual common form or 
in the form appearing in below or as near thereto as circumstances will admit. The 
Board may from time to time alter or vary the Form for Transfer of Shares. 

(cl The Company shall maintain a "Register of Transfers" and therein shall be fairly and 
distinctly entered the particulars of every transfer or transmission of any Share. 

(b) Subject to the applicable law and in particular, Section 76 of the Act and the rules made 
thereunder, all transfers of Shares will be executed by way of an instrument of transfer 
executed by the transferor and transferee, and the transferor shall be deemed to 
remain holder of the Share until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register of 
Members in respect thereof. 

(a) Any transfer or attempted transfer of shares by a Member which is not in accordance 
with Section 76 of the Act, the requirements set out in the rules made thereunder and 
the requirements of these Articles, shall be void and of no force or effect and the Board 
shall not be required to register any such transfer or attempted transfer. 

8.1 Validity and Execution of Transfer 

8. TRANSFER.AND TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 
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The Company may from time to time by way of a Special Resolution alter the conditions of its 
Memorandum so as to increase its authorised share capital by such amount as it thinks 
expedient, consolidate and divide the whole or any part of jts share capita! into Shares of larger 
amount than its existing Shares, sub-divide its Shares or any of them into Shares of smaller 
amount than is fixed by the Memorandum or cancel Shares which at the date of passing of the 
resolution in that behalf have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and diminish. 
the amount of its share capital by the amount of the Shares so cancelled. 

9.1 Power to Increase Share capital 

9. ALTERATION OF CAPITAL 

A person to be deemed as a Member under this Article to a Share by reason of the 
death or insolvency of the holder shall be entitled to the same dividends and other 
advantages to which he would be entitled if he were the registered holder of the Share 
and exercise any right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the 
Company. 

(e) 

(d) The person nominated under this Article after the death of the Member, be deemed as 
a Member of Company till the Shares are transferred to the legal heirs and if the 
deceased was a Director of the Company, the nominee shall also act as director of the 
Company to protect the interest of the legal heirs. 

(c) A person may on acquiring interest In the Company.as Member, represented by Shares, 
at any time after acquisition of such interest deposit with the Company a nomination 
conferring on a person, being the relatives of the member, namely, a spouse, father, 
mother, brother, sister and son or daughter, the right to protect the interest of the legal 
heirs in the Shares of the deceased in the event of his death, as a trustee and to 
facilitate the transfer of Shares to the legal heirs of the deceased subject to succession 
to be determined under the Islamic law of inheritance and in case of non-Muslim 
members, as per their respective law. 

(bl The Shares or other securities of a deceased member shall be transferred on application 
duly supported by succession certificate or by lawful award, as the case may be, in 
favour of the successors to the extent of their interests and their names shall be entered 
to the register of members. 

(a) The executors, administrators, heirs, or nominees, as the case may be, of a deceased 
sole holder of a Share shall be the only persons recognised by the Company to deal with 
the Share in accordance with the law. In the case of a Share registered in the names of 
two or more holders, the survivors or survivor, or the executors or administrators of the 
deceased survivor, shall be the only persons recognised by the Company to deal with 
the Share in accordance with the law. 

8.3 Transmission 

The Directors shall refuse to transfer any Shares of the Company If the provisions of these 
Articles and the Act in respect of transfers are not complied with. The Directors shall also refuse 
to transfer any shares if the transfer deed is for any reason defective or invalid, provided that 
the Company shall, within fifteen (15) Days from the date on which the instrument of transfer 
was lodged with it, notify the transferor and transferee of the reason of refusal of transfer and 
in case of defect or invalidity, the Transferee or the Transferor shall, after removal of such 
defect or invalidity, be entitled to re-lodge the transfer deed with the Company. 

8.2 Refusal to Transfer Shares 
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Twenty-one (21) Days' notice at the least specifying the agenda, place, Day and the hour of 
meetingand, in case of special business, the general nature of that business, a statement setting 
out all material facts concerning such business shall be given in the manner provided by Section 
134 of the Act for the General Meetings to such persons as are under the Act or these Articles, 
entitled to receive such notices from the Company. 

10.3 Notic~ of Meetings 

Subject to the provisions of Section 133 of the Act and these Articles, the Board may at any time 
call an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company to consider any matters which require 
the approval of the Company in a General Meeting and shall, on the requisition of Members 
representing not less than one-tenth of the voting power on the date of the deposit of the 
requisition. 

10.2 Extraordinary General Meetings 

An Annual General Meeting of the Company shall be held in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 132 of the Act once at least in every calendar year within a period of one hundred and 
twenty (120) Days following the close of lts financial year at such time and place as may be 
determined by the Board. All such general meetings of the Company other than the Annual 
General Meeting shall be called "Extraordinary General Meetings".· 

10.1 Holding of Annual General Meeting 

10. GENERAL MEETINGS 

Subject to the provisions of Section 85 of the Act, the Company may by way of a Special 
Resolution passed by the Members of the Company (in a duly convened General Meeting), alter 
the conditions of the Memorandum as to cancel any shares which at the date of passing of the 
resolution in that respect have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person, and 
diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of shares so cancelled. 

9.4 Power to Cancel Shares 

The Company may by way of a Special Resolution passed and approved by the Members of the 
Company (in a duly convened General Meeting), reduce its share capital in any manner and with 
and subject to any incidental authorisation and consent required by law. 

9.3 Power to Reduce Share Capital 

Any capital raised by the creation of new Shares shall be considered part of the authorised 
capital and the new Shares shall rank pari-passu with the e.xisting Shares (class of Shares) in all 
matters be subject to the provisions herein contained with reference to transfer, transmission, 
voting, division and otherwise. In the event of consolidation or sub-division of Shares, the rights 
attaching to the new Shares shall .be strictly proportional to the rights attached to the previous 
Shares so consolidated or sub-divided. 

9.2 Condition of Creation of New Shares 
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If within thirty (30) minutes after the time prescribed for a General Meeting a quorum is not 
present or ceases to exist, the meeting, if called upon the requisition of the Members shall be 
dissolved, and in any other case, the meeting shall be adjourned to the same Day in the next 
week at the same time and place and for that adjourned meeting the Members present, being 
not less than two (2), shall form the quorum. 

10.10 Adjournment of Meeting for Lack of Quorum 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall also be the Chairman ofthe General Meetings, but 
if there ls no such Chairman, or and if at any meeting the Chairman is not present within fifteen 
(15) minutes after the time·appointed for holding the Meeting or if the Chairman is not willing 
to take the Chair, the Members present may choose one of the Directors to be the Chairman of 
the General Meeting, and if none of the Directors being present or, being present, Is unwilling to 
act as the Chairman, the Members present shall choose one of their number to be the 
Chairman. 

10.9 Who 'ls to preside at General Meetings 

(c) No action shall be taken by the Company which -is required under the Act or these 
Articles to be approved by the Members of the Company, unless consent or approval for 
such action is given at a General Meeting of the Company duly convened and held. 

(b) Any business to be transacted at any General Meeting shall be decided by a simple 
majority of the Members' votes (present in person, through video-link or by proxy) in its 
favour at a General Meeting properly convened and held. 

(a) The quorum for any General Meeting of the Members shall be at least two (2) Members 
present personally, through video-link or by proxy. 

10.8 Quorum and Decision at General Meetings 

A Member who does not timely receive notice of ;; General Meeting, but attends and 
participates in such General Meeting, shall be deemed to have waived timely receipt of such 
notice. 

10.7 Waiver of Notice 

The accidental omission to give notice to, or the non-receipt of notice by, any Member shall not 
invalidate the proceedings at any meeting. 

10.6 Omission to give Notice of General Meeting 

If all the Members entitled to attend and vote at an Extraordinary General Meeting so agree, the 
meeting may be held at a shorter notice period than twenty-one (21) Days. 

10.5 Shorter Notice 

All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an Extraordinary General Meeting, and 
also business that is transacted at an Annual General Meeting with the exception of (i) declaring 
dividends; (ii) the consideration of financial statements of the Company and reports of Directors 
and Auditors; {iii) the election and appointment of Directors; and (iv) the appointment, and the 
fixing of the remuneration of, the Auditors. Where any special business is to be transacted at a 
general meeting, there shall be annexed to the notice of the meeting a statement setting out all 
material facts concerning such business, including, in particular, the nature and extent of the 
interest, if any, there.n of every Director, whether directly or indirectly, and, where any item of 
business consists of the according of any approval to any document by the meeting, the time 
when and the place where the document may be inspected, shall be specified in the statement . . 

10.4 Special Business 
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Except as to voting for the election of the Directors as provided in Section 159 of the Act, every 
Member entitled to vote, either in person, through video-link or by proxy, shall have one (1) 
vote and upon a poll every Member entitled to vote and present in person, through vldeo-link 
by proxy shall have votes proportionate to the paid-up value of the Shares or other securities 
carrying voting rights held by him. 

11.1 Votes of Members 

11. VOTING 

The books containing Minutes of proceedings of General Meeting of the Company shall be kept 
at the Registered Office and shall, during business hours (subject to reasonable restrictions as 
the Board may from time to time impose but so that not less than two (2) hours each Day is 
allowed for inspection), be open to the inspection of any M(lmber. 

10.16 Inspection of Minute Books 

Records of resolutions of the Members and minutes of all proceedings of General Meetings shall 
be kept in properly maintained books in accordance with Section 151 of the Act, and any such 
minutes if signed by the Chairman of the General Meeting or of the next following General 
Meeting shall constitute sufficient evidence on the facts therein stated without further proof. 

10.15 Minutes 

The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuation of a General Meeting for the 
transaction of any business, other than the question on which the poll was demanded. 

10.14 Effect of Demand for Poll 

Any poll demanded on the election of a Chairman of a General Meeting or on any question of 
adjournment shall be taken at that General Meeting and without adjournment. 

10.13 Poll on Election of Chairman and Adjournment 

If a poll is demanded as aforesaid it shall be taken (subject to Section 145 of the Act) in such 
manner and at such time and place as the Chairman of the General Meeting directs, and either 
at once or after an interval or adjournment of not more than fourteen (14) Days from the Day 
on which the poll is demanded and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of 
the General Meeting at which the poll was held. 

10.12 Poll 

At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the General Meeting shall be decided by 
a show of hands, unless a poll is demanded (before or on the declaration of the results of the 
show of hands) by Members present in person, through video-link or by proxy, having not less 
than one-tenth of the total voting power. Unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the 
Chairman that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried, or carried unanimously, or by 
a particular majority, or lost and an entry to that effect in the books of the proceedings of the 
Company which is approved by the Members, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without 
further proof of the number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against such 
resolution. The demand for a poll may be withdrawn at any time by the person or persons who 
made the demand. 

10.11 Voting on Resolution by Show of Hands and When Poll Demanded 
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A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid 
notwithstanding the previous death of the principal or revocation (where permissible) of the 
proxy or of any power of attorney or the other authority under which such proxy was signed, 
provided that no intimation in writing of the death or revocation shall have been received at the 
Registered Office before the General Meeting or the adjourned General Meeting at which the 
proxy is used. 

11.8 Validity of Proxy 

adjournment thereof." 

Limited (Private) 

"I/We 'of in the district 
of being a member of Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited 

hereby appoint of 
_____________ as my proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 
(annual, extraordinary, as the case may be) general meeting of Bulleh.Shah Packaging (Private) 
Limited to be held on the __ Day of and at any 

An instrument appointing a proxy may be in the following form or a form as near thereto as may 
be: 

11. 7 Instrument of Proxy 

No person shall act as proxy unless the instrument of his appointment, duly executed, or other 
authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof, shall be 
deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at least forty-eight (48) hours before the 
time appointed for holding the General Meeting at which the person named in the proxy 
proposes to vote. 

11.6 Filing of Instrument of Proxy 

Every proxy shall be appointed in writing under the hand ~f the appointer or by an agent duly 
authorised under a power of attorney in accordance with Section 137 of the Act A proxy holder 
nee_d not be a Member of the Company. 

11.5 Proxy 

On a poll, votes may be given either personally, through video-link or by proxy, or through 
postal ballot (in accordance with regulations specified by the Commission), provided that no 
corporate body shall vote by proxy as long as a resolution of its directors in accordance with the 
provisions contained in Article 11.3 (Representative of Corporate Members) is in force. 

11.4 Poll by Proxy 

A body corporate or a corporation (whether a company within the meaning of the Act or not), 
being a Member may by a resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise any of its 
officers or any other person to act as its authorised representative at any General Meeting of 
the Company and the person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on 
behalf of the Member which he represents as if he were an individual Member and shall be 
deemed to be a Member present personally. 

11.3 Representative of Corporate Members 

In case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person, through 
video-link or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of other joint holders, and 
for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which their names stand in the 
Register. 

11.2 Voting by Joint Members 
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(b) The Board shall fix the number of Directors of the Company to be elected not later than 
thirty-five (35) Days before convening the General Meeting at which the Directors are to 
be elected, and the number so fixed shall not be changed except with the prior approval 
of the Company in the General Meeting at which the election is to be held. 

(a) The total number of the Directors sha!I not be less than two (2). 

12.3 Number of Directors 

The Chairman shall preside over the meetings of the Board, but shall not have a casting 
vote. If the Chairman for the time being is unable to attend any meeting of the Board, 
the Directors present shall choose one (1) of their number to be Chairman of such 
meeting. 

(b) 

(a) The Directors shall appoint one of their number Chairman of the Board. The Board may 
remove the Chairman at any time by unanimous vote (except the vote of the Chairman 
to be removedl'and appoint a new Chairman. The Chairman shall at all times be one of 
the Directors: The term of the Chairman shall be co-terminus with the tenure of the 
Board. A retiring Chairman shall be eligible for reappointment and shall preside over the 
General Meeting at which an election of Directors shall be held. 

12.2 Appointment of Chairman 

(i) Syed Hyder Ali; 
(ii) Syed Aslam Mehdi; 
(iii) Khalid Yacob; 
{iv) Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
(v) Veli-Jussi Petka; 
(vi) Martin Schotten; 

The Directors of the Company at the time of inception were: 

12.1 First Directors as of the Adoption of these Articles 

12, DIRECTORS 

The Chairman shall not have a casting vote. 

11.11 Chairman not to have Casting Vote 

If any question is raised, the Chairman of the General Meeting shall decide the validity of every 
vote tendered at such General Meeting in accordance with th'e Act and these Articles. 

11.10 Chairman to Decide 

No objection shall be made to the validity of any vote except at the General Meeting or at the 
poll at which such vote shall be tendered, and every vote whether given personally, through 
video-link or by proxy not disallowed at such General Meeting or poll shall be deemed valid for 
all purposes of such General Meeting or poll. • 

11.9 Validity of the Vote 
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If any Director resigns or becomes disqualified or otherwise ceases to hold office for any reason 
whatsoever prior to the expiry of a three (3) year term, then the Board shall appoint any person 
to be a Director to fill such casual vacancy on the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold 
office for the remainder of the term of the Director in whose place he is appointed. 

12.8 Filling of Casual Vacancy 

The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board, but if the number 
falls below the minimum fixed, the Directors shall not, except for the purposes of filling a casual 
vacancy in their number or for convening a Genera! Meeting, act so long as the number remains 
below the minimum. 

12.7 Continuing Directors to Act 

The Company may by resolution in a Genera! Meeting remove an elected Director in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 163 of the Act. 

12.6 Removal of Director 

An elected Director shall hold office for a period of three (3) years, unless he restgns, or 
becomes disqualified from being a Director or otherwise ceases to hold office earlier under 
these Articles. An election of Directors in the· manner prescribed by the preceding Articles shall 
be held once In every three (3) years. A retiritie Director shall be eligible for re-election. 

12.5 Term of Office 

(c) Where the number of candidates is equal to or less than the number of Directors to be 
elected, it will not be necessary to hold an election as laid down in Article 12.4(a) above 
and all candidates shall be deemed to have been elected under this Article. 

(b) No person, whether a retiring director or otherwise, shall be eligible for election as 
Director unless notice of his candidature for election has been lodged in writing at the 
Registered Office not less than fourteen (14) Days before the date of the General 
Meeting at which the election of Directors is to take place. 

(iii) the candidate who gets the highest number of votes shall be declared elected as 
Director and then the candidate who gets the•next highest number of votes shall 
be so declared, and so on until the total number of Directors to be elected has 
been so elected. 

(ii) a Member may give all his votes to a single candidate or divide them between 
more than one of the candidates in such manner as he may choose. 

(i) a Member shall have such number of votes as is equal to the product of the 
voting shares held by him and the number of Directors to be elected. 

(a) After the expiry of the term of office of the existing Directors of the Company as at the 
date of adoption of these Articles and at each subsequent election of Directors and 
subject to the provisions of Article 12.3 (Number of Directors), the number of Directors 
fixed by the Board shall be elected by the Members in a General Meeting, unless the 
number of the candidates is not more than the number of Directors to be elected, in the 
following manner, namely: 

12.4 Election of Directors 
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(b) Any bonds, Debentures, Redeemable Capital or other securities issued or to be issued by 
the Company shall be under the control of the Board which may issue them on such 
terms and conditions and in such manner and for such consideration as shall be 
considered by the Board to be for the benefit ofthe Company. 

(a) For the purposes of the Company only, the Board may obtain finance or borrow moneys 
from third party financiers, including (without limitation) banks, development financial 
institutions, other financial institutions and I or the Members and secure payment of 
such sum or sums of money in such manner and upon such terms and conditions as it 
may think fit and in particular by the creation of mortgages and I or charges on the 
property, assets (movable and immovable) and / or on book debts/ receivables of the 
Company and by the issue of bonds, perpetuai or redeemable Debentures or 
Redeemable Capital, or by mortgage or charge or other security on the whole or any 
part of the property, assets and rights of the Company (both present and future), and 
the undertaking of the Company, provided however, that the above power of the Board 
shall not entitle the Company to carry on the business of banking/finance/investment 
company. 

12.11 Power to Obtain Finances and Giving of Securities 

(c) The Board shali not take any decision in relation to ·alfy_ matter which is within the 
competency of the Members under the Act, other applicable laws and these Articles and 
regulations as referred to in Article 12.10 (a), unless and to the extent permitted by the 
Act, other applicable laws and these Articles and the regulations referred to above and 
the relevant consent is given by the Members at a Genera! Meeting, properly convened 
and held. 

(bl A resolution at a meeting of the Directors duly convened and held shall be necessary for 
exercising the powers of the Company specified in Section 183(2) of the Act. •... 

(a) The Board shall be responsible for the overall directiqn, supervision and management of 
the Company. The Board may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by the 
Act or by these Articles or by a Special Resolution, required to be exercised by the 
Company in General Meetings, subject nevertheless to the provisions of the Act or to 
any of these Articles, and such regulations (being not inconsistent with the aforesaid 
provisions) as may be prescribed by the Company in General Meeting but no regulations 
made by the Company in General Meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors 
which would have been valid if such regulations had not been made. 

General Management Powers 

A Director may also be reimbursed all reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly 
incurred by him/her in attending and returning from meetings of the Directors or any 
committee of the Directors or General Meetings of the <;ompany or in connection with the 
discharge of their duties as Directors of the Company. 

shall be determined by the Board. 

(c) any Director (including each alternate Director) for attending meetings of the Board or a 
Committee of the Directors; 

{bl the Chief Executive Officer; and 

(a) a Director (including each alternate Director) for performing extra services, including 
holding office of the Chairman; 

Subject to any approval or limits required by law, the terms and conditions and remuneration 
of: 

12.10 

12.9 Remuneration 
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(f) The meeting of the Board may take place in person or by telephone conference call or 
video conference or by other audio-visual means. Subject to the Act, all business 
transacted by the Directors by telephone conference or video conference/ other audio­ 
visual means for the purposes of the Articles shall be deemed to be validly and 
effectively transacted at a meeting of the Directors. 

(e) A Director's attendance at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of that meeting 
except when the Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the 
beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not 
properly called or convened. 

(d) Any notice shall include an agenda identifying in reasonable detail the matters to be 
discussed at the meeting and such notice shall be sent by registered air mail or telexed 
or emailed to any Director residing outside Pakistan. At least seven (7) Days prior to the 
proposed meeting, copies of any relevant papers to be discussed at the meeting shall be 
given to each Director. Any Director (or its alternate) is entitled to add matters to the 
agenda to be discussed at a meeting by serving notice together with the list of the 
matters and copies of any relevant papers to each other Director not less than four (4) 
Days prior to the meeting. If any matter is not identified in reasonable detail, the Board 
shall not decide on it, unless all Directors present at the meeting agree. 

(cl A Director may, by written notice, summon a meeting of the Board. In respect of any 
meeting of the Board, at least seven (7) Days' notice will be given to all Directors, unless 
at least two (2) Directors approve a shorter notice period. 

(b) The Board shall at a minimum meet at least meet four (4) times annually at the 
Registered Office of the Company or at such other location as may be approved by the 
Board from time to time. 

(a) The Directors of the Company may meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn, 
and otherwise regulate meetings of the Board as they think fit. 

13.1 Meeting of Directors 

13. PROCEEDING OF DIRECTORS 

(b) Any such minutes of any meeting of the Board or of a Committee of Directors or of the 
Company, if signed by the Chairman of such meeting or of the next succeeding meeting 
and approved by the Board or the Members (as the case may be), shall be receivable as 
evidence of the matters stated in such minutes. 

(iii) of appointment of officers made by the Directors. 

(ii) of all resolutions and proceedings at all meetings of the Company and the Board, 
and of any Committees of the Directors, as well as resolutions passed by 
circulation; and 

{i) of the names of Directors (including Alternate Directors) present in person, at 
each meeting of the Board or any Committee of the Directors; 

(a) The Company shall maintain records in accordance w)th Sections 151 and 178 of the Act 
comprising: 

12.12 Minute Books 
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Except for resolutions relatiog to matters contained in Section 183(2) of the Act, a resolution 
which is circulated together with the necessary papers, if any, to all Directors and signed by all 
the Directors or Committee of Directors entitled to notice of a meeting of Directors or 
Committee of Directors shall be as valid and effectual as if it has been passed at a meeting of the 
Directors or Committee of Directors duly convened and held. Transmission of documents and 
signature of resolutions by facsimile or other electronic means shall be effective for the purpose 
of circulating and executing documents and resolution. A resolution may consist of several 
documents in the like form each signed by one or more Directors. A resolution signed by an 
Alternate Director need not also be signed by his appointer and, if it is signed by a Director who 
has appointed an Alternate Director, it need not be signed by the Alternate Director In that 
capacity. 

13.6 Resolution by Circulation 

All acts done by any meeting of the Board or of a Committee of the Directors, or by any person 
acting as Director or alternate Director shall, notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered 
that there was some defect in the appointment of any such Directors or persons acting as 
aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if every such Director or ·- 
person had been duly appointed and was qualified to act, provided that as soon as any such 
defect has come to notice, the Director or other person concerned shall not exercise the right of 
his office till the defect has been rectified. 

13.5 When acts of Meetings of the Board or a Committee Valid - Defective Appointment 

The approval of a resolution in accordance with the provisions of this Article 13.4 
(Approval of Actions by Directors) by the Directors at a meeting of the Board at which 
quorum is present, by telephone conference call or by audio-visual means shall be 
sufficient for constituting such action as the decision of the Board. It is clarified that for 
purposes of deciding the matters specified in Section 183{2) of the Act, a duly convened 
physical meeting of the Board at which quorum is present will be required. 

{a) No resolution will be passed and no action will be taken at a Board meeting, unless a 
majority of the Directors attending the meeting vote in favour of such resolution. 

13.4 Approval of Actions by Directors 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside at Directors' meetings. 

13.3 Who to preside at Directors' Meetings 

(bl Participation of Directors via telephone, video-conference or other audio-visual means 
shall be counted for the purposes of forming a quorum. A Director shall be regarded as 
present for the purposes of quorum if represented by an Alternate Director in 
accordance with Article 14 (Alternate Directors). 

(a) A meeting of the Board, at which quorum is present, shall be competent to exercise all 
or any of the authorities, powers and discretion by or under these Articles or by or 
under any law vested in or exercisable by the Board generally. For the purposes of dny 
Board meeting, the quorum shall be no less than two (2) Directors. 

13.2 Quorum of Directors' Meeting 
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Except for matters stated in Section 183(2) of the Act, the Board may delegate to the Chief 
Executive such of its powers, authorities and discretion as are necessary for and consistent with 
the effective management of the Company, and as are not required to be exercised by the 
Directors at their meetings, upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as they 
may think fit, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own powers, and, may from 
time to time, render, withdraw, alter or vary any such powers. 

16.4 Power of the Chief Executive and Management Committee of Directors 

In case of a vacancy In the office of the Chief Executive, the Board may select another person 
including an elected Director to be Chief Executive. A Chief Executive appointed against a casual 
vacancy shall hold office till the Directors elected in the next election appoint a Chief Executive. 

16.3 Filling Vacancy in Position of Chief Executive 

The Board may, by resolution passed by not less than three-fourths of the total number of 
Directors for the time being, or the Company may by Special Resolution in a General Meeting 
remove a Chief Executive before the expiration of his term of office notwithstanding anything 
contained in these Articles or in any agreement between the Company and the Chief Executive. 

16.2 Removal of Chief Executive 

(b) The terms and conditions of appointment, including the remuneration of a Chlef 
Executive shall from time to time be determined by the Board. 

(a) Within fourteen (14) Days from the date of election of the Directors or the date on 
which a Chief Executive ceases to hold office for whatsoever reason, the Board shall 
appoint, any person, including an elected Director as the Chief Executive for a term not 
exceeding three (3) years, as is determined by the Board, and his appointment shall be 
subject to determination ipso facto at the expiry of the term 'Jr in accordance with 
Article 16.2 (Removal of Chief Executive). The Chief Executive, if not already a Director, 
shall be deemed a Director. On expiry of his term, the retiring Chief Executive shall be 
eligible for reappointment. 

16.1 Appointment of Chief Executive 

16. CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Subject to Section 183(2) of the Act, the Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its 
powers to a committee or committees, as it thinks fit. Any committee so formed shall conform 
to any regulations that may be lmposed upon it by the Board and shall have such quorum as 
prescribed by the Board. 

15. COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS 

Subject to the approval by the Board, any Director may appoint an alternate or substitute 
director to act for him during his absence from Pakistan for a period of not less than ninety (90) 
Days. Every such appointment shall be made by notice to the Board in writing under the hand of 
the Director making the appointment . An alternate Director so appointed shall not be entitled 
to appoint another Director, but shall otherwise be subject to the provisions of the Articles with 
regard to the Directors. An alternate Director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings 
of the Board, and to attend and vote as a Director at any such meeting at which the Director 
appointing him is not personally present, and generally to perform all the functions of his 
appointer as a Director in the absence of such appointer, including approving and signing Board 
resolutions by circu!ation under Article 13.6 (Resolution by Circulation). An alternate Director 
shall ipso facto cease to be an alternate Director if his appointer for any reason ceases to be a 
Director or if and when his appointer returns to Pakistan or if the appointee is removed from 
office by notice in writing under the hand of the appointer. 

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS 14. 

14 



The appointment of an alternate Director will constitute leave of absence from the Board of 
Directors for whom such alternate is appointed during such Director's absence. 

(c) he resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company. 

(ii) he or any firm of which he is a partner or any private company of which he is a 
director without the sanction of the Company in General Meeting accepts or 
holds any office of profit under the Company other than that of chief executive 
or a legal or technical advisor; or accepts a loan or guarantee from the Company 
in contravention of Section 182 of the Act (if applicable in terms of this Section. 

(i) he absents himself from three (3) consecutive meetings of the Directors, without 
seeking leave of absence from the Directors; 

he ceases to hold office under Section 171 of the Act if: (b) 

(ix) does not hold National Tax Number as per the provisrons of Income Tax 
Ordinance, 2001 (XLIX of 2001), unless exempted by the Commission. 

(D) a person representing a creditor or other special interests by virtue of 
contractual arrangements; 

(C) the Chief Executive; 

(B) a whole time Director who is an employee of the Company; 

(A) a person representing a member which is not a natural person; 

(viii) is not a Member, provided that this Article 17.l(a) (viii) shall not apply in case of: 

(vii) has betrayed lack of fiduciary behavior and declaration to this effect has been 
made by the court under Section 212 of the Act at any time during the preceding 
five (5) years; 

(vi) has been debarred from holding such office under any provision of the Act; 

(v) has been convicted by a Court of Law for an offence involving moral turpitude; 

(iv) is an undercharged insolvent; 

(iii) has applied to be adjudicated as an insolvent and his application is pending; 

(ii) is of unsound mind; 

(i) is a minor; 

(a) he becomes ineligible to be appointed a Director on anyone or more of the grounds 
enumerated in Section 153 of the Act as follows, that is to say, he: 

The office of a Director shall ipso facto be vacated if: 

17.1 Automatic Vacation of Office of Directors 

DISQUAllFICATION OF DIRECTORS 17. 
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Payment may be made in the form and manner specified by the Commission, including by direct 
bank transfer, dividend warrant or cross cheque in the name of the registered holder or 
authorized person. 

19.4 Form of Payment 

The profits undistributed as dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid 
on the Shares and the number of Shares themselves. The Chief Executive shall be responsible for 
making payment of cash dividend within fifteen (15) working days from the date of declaration 
of dividend, or within such other time as may be specified by the Commission. 

19.3 Distribution of Dividends 

The Board may from time to time pay to the Members such interim dividends as appear to be 
justified by the profits of the Company. 

19.2 "Interim Dividends 

Subject to provisions of Section 240 to 243 of the Act, the, Company in General Meetings may 
from time to time declare dividends, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by 
the Board. 

19.1 Declaration of Dividends and Restrictions on Amount Thereof 

19. DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES 

The Board shall provide a common Seal for the purposes of the Company which shall have the 
Company's name engraved on it in legible form and the Board shall provide for the safe custody 
of the Seal. The Seal shall never be used except by the authority of the Board, and at least two 
(2) Directors shall sign every instrument to which the Seal is affixed, provided, nevertheless, that 
any instrument bearing the Seal of the Company and issued for valuable consideration shall be 
binding on the Company notwithstanding any irregularity. 

18. SEAL 

Subject to the provisions of Section 183(2l(f), Section 205, Section 207 and Section 209 of the 
Act, the Directors shall not be disqualified from contracting with the Company as vendor, 
purchaser or otherwise, but in respect of any such contract or arrangement entered into by or 
on behalf of the Company with any company or partnership of or in which any director shall be a 
director or shareholder or interested, the nature of his interest must be disclosed by him at the 
meeting of the Directors at which the contract or arrangement is determined, if the interest 
then exists, or in any other case at the meeting of the Directors after the acquisition of the 
interest. No Director shafl vote as a Director in respect of any contract or arrangement in which 
he is so Interested as aforesaid, and if he does so vote, his vote shall not be counted but he shall 
be entitled to be present at the meeting during the transaction of the business in relation to 
which he is precluded from voting, although he shall net be reckoned for the purpose of 
ascertaining whether there is a quorum of Directors present. These provisions shall not apply to 
any contract by or on behalf of the Company to give to Directors or any one of them any security 
for advances or by way of indemnity against any loss which they or any of them may suffer by 
reason of becoming or being sureties for the Company. A general notice that any Director is a 
shareholder of any specified company or is a partner of any specified firm and is to be regarded 
as interested in any subsequent transaction with such firm or company shall be given for 
purposes of disclosure under this Article, and any such general notice shall expire at the end of 
the financial year in which it was given but it may be renewed for a further period of one 
financial year by giving fresh notice in the last month of the financial year in which it would 
otherwise expire. A register shall be kept by the Directors in which shall be entered particulars 
of all contracts or arrangements to which this Article applies. 

17.2 Interest of Directors 
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The Board shall cause to be kept proper books of accounts and to be maintained detailed, 
complete, accurate and itemized accounts of the Company in accordance with the Act and 
generally accepted accounting principles in Pakistan and, to the extent possible, In accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the procedures of the International 
Accounting Standards Board. 

21.1 Books of Accounts to be Kept 

21. ACCOUNTS 

Any General Meeting may, upon recommendation of the Board, resolve that any undistributed 
profits of the Company (including profits carried and standing to the credit of any reserves or 
other special accounts or representing premiums received on the issue of Shares and standing 
to the credit of the share premium account and capital reserves arising from realized or 
unrealized appreciation of the assets or goodwill of the Company or from any acquisition I sale 
of interests in other undertakings) be capitalised. Such capitalised undistributed profits and 
reserves shall be distributed amongst such of the Members as would be entitled to receive the 
same if distributed by way of dividend, and in the same proportions, on the footing that they 
become entitled thereto as capital. All or any part of such capitalised fund may be applied on 
behalf of such M_emkrs for payment in full or in part either at par or at such premium as the 
resolution may provide, for any unlssued shares or debentures of the Company which shall be 
distributed accordingly and such distributions or payment shall be accepted by such Members in 
full satisfaction of their interest in the said capitalised sum. • 

20. CAPrrAUSATION 

Unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise used by the Board for the benefit of the 
Company until claimed, and all dividends unclaimed for three (3) Years after having been 
declared shall be deposited by the Company to the credit of the Federal Government In terms of 
and after complying with the requirements of Section 244 of the Act. 

19.9 · Unclaimed Dividends 

The Directors may carry forward any profits which they may think prudent non to distribute, 
without setting them aside as a reserve. 

19.8 carrying forward of Profits 

No dividend shall bear interest or mark-up against the Company. 

19.7 No interest on Dividends 

If several persons are registered as joint holders of any Share, any one of them may give 
effectual receipts for any dividends payable on the Shares. 

19.6 Receipt for Dividends by Joint Holders 

The Board before recommending any dividend, may set aside out of the profits of the Company 
such sum as they think proper as a reserve or reserves, which shall, at the discretion of the 
Board, be applicable for meeting debt obligations or contingencies, or for equalizing dividends, 
or for any other purpose to which the profits of the Company may properly be applied, and 
pending such application may, in the like discretion, either be employed in the business of the 
Company or be invested in such investments (other than the shares of the Company), as the 
Board may subject of the provisions of the Act, from time to time think fit. 

19.5 Power of Board to create Reserve 

17 



A notice may be given by the Company to any Member or Director by sending it to them by mail, 
prepaid postage, electronic message or by facsimile, at their registered address, or if they have 
no registered address in Pakistan, to the address supplied to the Company for the giving of 
notices to them, in compliance with Section SS of the Act. 

23.l How Notices to be Served 

23. NOTICES 

The Company shall keep its funds in one or more bank accounts, in the sole name of the 
Company, with banks approved by the Board. Such funds shall be used in connection with the 
business of the Company or as may be otherwise provided in the Memorandum. 

22.2 Bank Acco.unt and Use of Funds 

The Company shall on the recommendation of the Board appoint an Auditor in its Annual 
General Meeting in compliance with Section 246 and Section 253 of the Act. The Auditors shall 
have access to all books of accounts, records, invoices, cheques, vouchers, papers and 
documents relating to the business of the Company. 

22.1 Appointment of Auditors and their Duties 

· 22. AUDIT 

The Directors shall in all respects comply with the provisions of Section 220 to Section 239 of the 
Act, as applicable, in relation to the accounts of the Company. 

21.6 Compliance with Act 

A copy of the annual audited financial statements together with the report of the Directors and 
the report of the Auditors shall be sent to all Members of'the Company along with the notice 
convening the General Meeting before which the same are required to be laid at least twenty­ 
one (21) Days preceding the General Meeting. 

21.5 Copies of Financial Statements to be sent to Members 

Once at least in every year, the Directors shall cause to be prepared and laid before the 
Company in an Annual General Meeting, financial statements made up in accordance with the 
Act within a period of one hundred and twenty (120) Days following the close of the financial 
year of the Company, and made up to the date of the close of the financial year adopted by the 
Company . The financial statements shall be accompanied by an Auditor's report and the 
Directors report in accordance with the provisions of the Act in that respect. 

21.4 Financial Statements 

The Members will have the right, exercisable by providing at least seven (7) days prior written 
notice to the Company, at all reasonable times during the Company's normal business hours and 
at the sole expense of that Member to examine all or any portion of the Company's books and 
accounts including, without limitation the generality of the foregoing, all records, invoices, and 
the contracts and agreements of the Company. 

21.3 Inspection by Members 

The books of accounts shall be kept at the Registered Office or at such other place as the Board 
thinks fit and shall be open to inspection by the Directors dur\ng business hours. 

21.2 Where to be Kept 
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The Liquidator may, within the like sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in 
trustees upon such trust for the benefit of the contributors as the Liquidator, with the like 
sanction, think fit, but so that no Member shall be compelled to accept any Shares for securities 
whereupon there is any liability. 

25.3 

For the purpose of aforesaid, the Liquidator may set such value as it may deem fair upon any 
property to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how such division shall be carried out as 
between the Members or different classes of Members. 

25.2 

If the Company shall be wound up, the Liquidator may, with the sanction of a Special Resolution 
of the Company and any other sanction required by the Act, divide amongst the Members in 
specie or kind, the whole or any part of the assets of the Company, whether they consist of 
property of the same kind or not. 

25.1 

DISTRIBUTION OF AsSETS ON WINDING UP 25. 

Nu person other than Members or Directors or the person authorised by the Company shall be 
entitled to enter the property of the Company, or inspect any account or books of accounts or 
document of the Company or properties of the Company, without permission of the Board and 
to require disclosure of any information relating to the Company's trading, or any matter which 
is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, mystery of trade, or secret to the conduct of the 
business of the Company and which in the opinion of the -Board will be expedient in the interest 
of the Company not to communicate. 

Restrlctio·n f>n Inspection of Books of Account of Company or on entering Into the property of 
the Company 

24.2 

Every Director, Chairman, Chief Executive, Auditor, Trustee, Member, officer, servant, agent, 
accountant or other person employed in the business of the Company shall, if so required by the 
Board before entering upon his duties, sign a declaration in the form approved by the Board 
pledging himself to observe strict secrecy representing the business ·and affairs of the Company 
and all transactions of the Company with the customers and state of the accounts with 
individuals and in matters relating thereto, and shall by declaration pledge himself not to reveal 
any of the matters which may come to his knowledge in the discharge of his duties except when 
required so to do by the Board, or by any General Meeting, or by a court of law or by competent 
authority, and except so far as may be necessary in order to comply with any provisions in these 
Articles. 

24.1 Secrecy 

24. SECRECY 

Subject to the requirements of these Articles, notice of every General Meeting shall be given in 
the same manner herein authorised to (a) every Member, (b} every person entitled to a Share in 
consequence of the death or insolvency of Member (if the Company has been notified of his 
entitlement); (c) to the Auditors of the Company for the time being; and (d) to every Director. 

23.4 Notice of General Meetings 

A notice may be given by the Company to the joint holders of a Share by giving the notice to the 
joint holder named first in the register in respect of the Share: 

23.3 Notice of Joint Holders 

Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice shall be deemed to be made by properly 
addressing pre-paying and posting a letter containing the notice and unless the contrary is 
proved, to have been effected at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the ordinary 
course of post. 

23.2 Service by Post 
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In the event that a dispute, claim or controversy arises between the Company, its management 
or its shareholders, or between shareholders lnter-se, or the directors inter-se, all steps shall be 
taken to settle the dispute and resolve the issue through mediation by an accredited mediator 
before taking recourse to formal dispute resolution such as arbitration or litigation. 

27. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Subject to Section 180 of the Act, no Director, Chairman, Chief Executive, Secretary, legal 
advisor, attorney or other officer or employee of the Company will be liable for the acts, 
receipts, neglects or default of any other Director or office or for any loss or expenses happening 
to the Company through the insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by order 
of the Board, or other officer for and on behalf of the Company, or for the insufficiency or 
deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the moneys of the Company shall be invested, 
or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency, or tortuous acts of any 
persons or institutions with whom any money, securities or effects shall be deposited, or for any 
loss associated by any error of judgment or oversight on his part, or for any other loss, damage, 
or misfortune whether which may happen in the. execution of the duties of his office or in 
relation thereto, unless the same happens through his own willful act or negligent breach of 
duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company. 

26.2 Individual Responsibility of Directors, etc. 

Every Director, Chairman, Chief Executive or officer of the Company or any person employed by 
the Company as Auditor, advisor or agent, shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company 
against any liability incurred by him or her as such Director, Chairman, Chief Executive, officer, 
Auditor, advisor or agent, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which 
judgments given in his favour or in which he is acquitted, or in connection with any application 
under Section 492 of the Act in which relief is granted to him by court. 

26.1 Indemnity of Officers of the Company 

INDEMNITY 26. 
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~t:7:=,..-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~,,-,.~~-:---:-~--;-~~~--,--:-,-:--:-~-:-:---~~--~~~~~~~~~~~~~·~~~~~~~~~ 
1;,~ed this 9"' day of September 2005 Witness to the above signatures: Adi J. Cawasji 
~ ~1 Father's name: Mr. Jehangir N. Cawasji 
~ :;=-. Occupation: Service 'c:. fi\ Nationality: Pakistani 
'..!t;.0 <!.:: ,.1 N.I.C. number: 42000-0524360-9 
~ -~, Fu!I address: 66 B, South Circular Avenue, D.H.A., Phase-2, Karachi-75500 ~-c: 
-o·r'' 
I\?~ 
't~~}. 

~~1 

~ 
~\ 

Sd/- (200) Two Hundred 

SJ/- (200) Two Hundred 

Sd/- 

Sci/- (500) Five Hundred 

Pakistani OmarYacob 

Signature 
Number of shares 
taken by each 
subscriber 

Pakistani Chaudhry Abdul Rashid 

KHALIDYACOB 

MUJEEB RASHID 

Pakistani Syed Bahar Ali SYED HYDER ALI 

N.I.C. No. Occupation Residential address 
in fu!! 

35201-1655225-1 Professional 70-F.C.C., Gulberg, 
Manager Lahore 

35201-5296887-7 Professional House No.54, Block L, 
Manager Phase I, D.H.A., 

Lahore Cantt., Lahore 

35202-2337385·9 Professional 304-Upper Ma!I, Lahore 
Manager 

Nationality 
with any former 
Nationality 

Father's/Husband's 
Name in full 

Name & Surname 
(Present & Former) 

in fu!l 
in Block Letters 
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We, the several persons, whose names and address as are subscribed hereunto are desirous of being formed into a Company in pursuance of these Articles of Association, and we respectively agree 

to take the number of shares in the capital of the Company set opposite to our respective names. 
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SECRETM~V 

CERTIFIED 1~~lfiA~S>pG;.'lli'' 'PRIVA1r.)L\ i\i. ,, FOR BULLEH SHl'\11 r vt\l'\ ,\ \ ' '" 

D~ILLC:H SHAH PACKAGING iPRIVATEJ LIMITED 

l\aracl,i Office 
· .! 1h-.L::L. G-20 Thi-· F~,i·;1r, 

8'.(16: - 9 l~t1:Jv.:-,hat't·fl'·.hn·, 
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Kasm Pactory 
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Sh!i111 !. . .;t, .. ~,r. ·· ~-,~·!t/i 
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The business environment remained challenging during the year due to macroeconomic factors, rupee 
depreciation against the US dollar and rising commodity prices. Net revenue of the Company has increased by 
29%, gross profit has increased by 45%, resulting in 40% increase in EBITDA. The major factors behind this was 

availabilit y of old pulp stocks procured at a lower price. Finance cost increased significantly by more than 2.5 

times due to higher borrowing rates compared Lo last vear and higher financing need for managing higher 
woiktng capital and (APEX projects. Depreciation of PKR against foreign currency, resulted in Exchange loss of 
Pl<R 887 million in current year as compared to PKR 333 million in 2021. Despite these, Companv was able 10 

:,0cure .:,,rowth in P, ofit before tax by 26%. 

at the balance sheet date. 

On February 09, 2022, a fire incident took place at the finishing house and central stores which damaged the 
building and certain items of property, plant and equipment, stores and spares and stock-in-trade. All of those 
items were adequately insured. After extensive exercise from the appointed surveyors, Company was able to 
c:';t:)blish claim of Pl<R 6.143 million out of which 85% claim is recovered and Pim 938 million is still outstanding 

•... 

Earning per Share 
...... -- ··-·-· - ·-·- ·---·-······--···· --------··---------------. -·-···-- -··-- ···------------------··--------···-·---------···--- .... _. 

5,485 4,35':> .. . ·-···. ···-·· --····· ---·--·------·-··--··· ... ·-·--· ·-·-·· ---·--·---···--···· .. - --- ---- -···-- ------·--·--···. 
3.280 3,112 . - . - .... _ ------------ ··------ -·-·--··--·----- -----··-·--·---------------·-··--------·- 

Rupees 3.00 2.85 

Profit After T ax 
Pr ofrt Before Tax 

9,421 6,745 . -- ···----- ----·····--···-·--··----·--····- ---· .. ·-·······----··--·· 
(1,639j (l,531) 

... -·- --··-·····-~··- ··-· ···-·····- .. - 
---··-··----·- ... J_2-,29?) , (860) 

.. ··-· -·· - --··· .. ·- .. -- ·-·-·-·· -- 
Finance Cost 

55,585 
2022 2021 

Rupees in million 

, .. •. ,,-!( !! , ·,I .. h:t 1v1 tic, .~ n1i f 11;, ,;·,\' iai per torn 1i'1 nee of Uk C:0111j1;,;ny 

.. i 111• (rn11p.111v i~ pr,nup.111\' engaged in the manutactura and sale of paper & paper boa, d of all kmd; arid 
r,,r, ui::c1ted boxes Iho <l1?t,1il oi thi:· Company's financiul perlonnancs is as follows: 

c I h,: 11,\;ud of L'•ir,,ctor:, of llw C.m,pany t;il,e ple;1:;urc- in presenting the Annual l~i::pon tugellier with th,t Audn ed 
i i;1.1;1n.'d St,1tt.·11·11·11l,, of 111,• Con1p,111y f0r tlw y1:,11 r-nd(•d December 31, 2022. 
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Regardrng the business, in respect of unfair competition posed bv import of writing printing paper and blench 
board that is being sold at dumped prices m the local market, BSP has been activelv pursuing for fixation of anti­ 
dumpmg duty and Import Trade Price (ITP) with National Tariff Commission (NTC). The said claim has been 
verified by NTC and additional duty has been imposed however, it is not implemented because ot stay order on 
technical grounds. The Company is in discussion with government bodies for support and implementation. 

Principal Risks facing the Company 

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee of the Board regularly review risk matrix in terms of impact 
and probability of occurrence. The senior management team, led by the Chief Executive Officer is responsible 
for risk mitigation measures The Company's ability to continuously assess m:11 ket conditions and its- timely 
response enables the Company to manage nsks effectively. The risks that related to Imancial statements are 
already hrghlighted in the Note 44 of the annexed financial statements of the Company. 

1. Syed Hyder Ali 
2 Syed Aslam Mehdi 
3. Khurrarn Raza Bakhtiyari 
,j lrnr an Khalid Niazt 
5. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy 
6. p,:,char Abbas 
7. Shaheen Sadiq 
8. Umar Saeed 
9. Dr. Ayesha Khan 

uirectors of Bullen Shah Packaging during 2022 
Followmg persons have been members of the Board of Directors of Buileh Shah Packaging (Pnvatc) Limited 
during 2022: 
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/:,.dequacy of Internal Financ,al Controls 

Management has an established system of internal financial and operational controls necessary to comply with 
applicable laws, regulations and directives governed in Pakistan. The Board of Directors of the Company also 
understands its _responsibilities regarding the adequacy of internal control and review its compliances through 
quarterly meetings with Internal Auditors and annual meetings with External auditors. 
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Human Resource and Rernuner atlon Committee of the Board consist of follow mg members: 

1. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinoy (Chairman) 
2. Syed Hyder Ali 
3. lmran Khalid Niazi 
4. Asghar Abbas 

Human F;esource and Remuneratior. Committee: 

l. Riyaz Ali Towfiq Chinov (Chairman) 
2. Sved Aslam Mehdi 
3. Khurram Raza Bakhtiyari 
4. lrnran Khalid Niazi 

Audit Committee of the Board consist of following members: 

•. ,··!;,Le Comrnittee 
~ 

15% Exc!cuti11e Directors 

··- ····--···- -·-·- ···---·-·-----·- ---i·· -····--··----·-·-·--·; 
I\Jon-[x~~u_ti~.:.~ir_ec:~?.rs ! 70% . 
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Asghar Abbas 
Chief Executive Officer 
Lahore, 21 March 2023 
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Lahore, 211\ arch 2023 

Events after reporting date 
No material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company have occurred between 
the end of the financial year and the date of this report. 

Cornpanv's Staff and Customers 
We wish to record our appreciation of the commitment of our employees to the company and continued 
patronage of our customers. 

In 2023, Rupee depreciation against foreign currency and increase interest rates are expected to affect the 
performance of the Company. In addition to the above, depletion of foreign exchange reserves is going to have 
an adverse impact on availability of raw material and supplies for the operations. However, the Company will 
continue its focus on improving shareholder's value by minimizing the impact of the highlighted threats through 
cost control, product and process optimization, price rationalization and efficient working capital management. 
In addition to the above, Company has contributed towards its social and environmental responsibilities at all 
levels and will continue to do so even in the future. 

The present auditor's M/s A.F Ferguson & Co., Chartered Accountants retire and have offered themselves for 
rcappomtrnent. They have confirmed having achieved satisfactory rating by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) as well as compliance with the Guidelines on the Code of Ethics of the 
lnternauonal Federation of Accountants (JFAC) as adopted by ICAP. 
A'::. suggested by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors has recommended their reappointment as 
Auditors of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2023, at a fee to be mutually agreed . 

r 
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Future Outlook • 

·, : ::: ,: .:.: ,;·,,,,,:; :::: ·: ·,:;,;,•:; ::,' place to f or '"'"e the remuneration packages of ind ivid u a I drrector-, for au en d ,.,/9 
111;:.:,tin;_;', of the board and its committees. The remuneration of the Directors for attending n1eetinr,s of ih« 

Bo.11d '-'' Committees of Direr tor s shall from time to time be determined by the Board based on market trend 
'I he det:1il r cmuner at ion of JII Directors of the Company is being presented in Note 38 of the annexed ~lnilnc ial 
Stall'l1H!l1tS of the Company 
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard . 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of.assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

Management is responsible fat· the other information. The other information comprises the Directors' 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

·we conducted om audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable 
in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the ,1udit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Basis for Opinion 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive loss, 
the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming 
part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give 
the 'information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX o( 2017), in the manner so required and 
respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at December 31, 2022 and 
of the profit and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then 
ended. 

v\!e have audited the annexed financial statements of Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited (the 
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the 
statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive loss, the statement of changes in equity, 
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and we state that we 
have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
were necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

Opinion 

To the members ofBulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT · 

A·F·FERG·USON&Co. -~ 

•,,,, .. , 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material- uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report, However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually .or in the aggregate, they could reasonably he expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Board of directors are responsible for. overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the 
requirements of Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

kF·FERG-USON&.co. • . - ;~ 
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UDIN: .AR2022.10~'7lllpUwgsTs4 

Lahore 
Date: April 5, 2023 

A. F. Ferguson & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 

d) no Zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (}..'VIII of 1980). 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Muhammad 
Masood. 

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of 
comprehensive loss, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together 
with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 
2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns; 

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the 
purpose of the Company's business; and 

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 
(XIX of 2017); 

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion: 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

kF·FERGUSON&Co. pwc .. 
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/,;'J. Th.:: annexed notes 1 Lo 46 form an integral part ofthesefinanui~I stat~i:1ents. 
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Total comprchenslve income for the year" 

Other comprehensive loss for the year- 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOi~ THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER :J1, 2022 

BULLEH SI-IAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
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3.1 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for recognition of plan assets of 
defined benefit gratuity fund at fair value and certain employee benefit obligations, long term loans under Temporary Economic 
Refinance Facility (TERF) scheme, deferred government grants and lease liabilities at present value. 

3. Basis of measurement 

There is a standard and certain amendments to accounting and reporting standards that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Company for the financial year beginning on January 1, 2022. The standard and amendments are not expected to have 
any material impact on the Company's financial reporting and, therefore, have not been disclosed in these financial statements. 

b) Standard, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted by the Company 

There were certain amendments and interpretations to published accounting and reporting standards that are applicable for the 
financial year beginning on January 1, 2022 but does not have any significant impact on the Company's financial reporting and, 
therefore, have not been disclosed in these financial statements. 

a) Standard, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective in the current year: 

2.2 Initial application of standard, amendment or an interpretation to existing standard 

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Act differ from the IFRS, the provisions of and directives issued under the 
Companies Act, 2017 have been followed. 

•. 

i) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting: Standards Board 
(IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 ('the Act'); and 

ii) Provisions of and directives issued under the Act. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. 
The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of: 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

2. Basis of preparation 

- znd Floor, G.D. Arcade, 73-E, Fazal-ul-Haq Road, Blue Area, Islamabad, Pakistan; and 

- 416-422, G-20, The Forum, Block-q, Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi 

In addition to the above mentioned business units, the Company has sales offices situated at the following addresses: 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited (The Company') was incorporated as a private limited company under the repealed 
Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now, The Companies Act, 2017) on September 16, 2005. It is a wholJy owned subsidiary of Packages 
Limited ('the Holding Company'). The Company's primary object is to carry on the business of manufacture and sale of paper & paper 
board of all kinds and corrugated boxes. The manufacturing facilities of the Company are situated at 7 km, Kot Radha Kishan Road, 
Off 4 km Kasur-Raiwind Road, District Kasur and Main Korangi Road, Sector 28, Landhi Town, Karachi. The registered office of the 
Company is situated at 416-422, G-20, The Forum, Block-q, Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi. Head office of the Company is 
situated at Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O Amer Sidhu, Lahore. 

1. Legal status and nature of business 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 



Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying 'amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred 

The charge for current tax is calculated using prevailing tax rates or tax rates expected to apply to profit for the year if enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in accordance with the prevailing law for taxation of income, after taking into 
account tax credits, rebates and exemptions, if any. Management periodically•evaluates position taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that the tax authorities 
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The charge for current tax also includes adjustments, where considered necessary, to provision 
for tax made in previous years arising from assessments framed during the year for such years. The Company measures its tax 

· balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the 
resolution of the uncertainty. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the Company has a legally enforceable right to 
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset.and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. x. Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide its certificate 
dated July 30, 2019, has registered the Company, Packages Limited (the Holding Company), Packages Converters Limited (subsidiary 
of the Holding Company) and Packages Investments Limited (subsidiary of the Holding Company) [together the 'Group'] as a Group 
and has also, vide its certificate dated November 6 2019, designated the Group for the purpose of group taxation under Section 59M · 
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Consequent to the filing of declaration for group taxation for the tax year 2023 by the Holding-. 
company, the Group will be taxed as one fiscal unit for the tax year 2023. 

4.1 Taxation 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

4. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that may have a financial impact on the company and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

i) Provision for taxation - note 4.1, 8 & 35 

ii) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment- note 4.2 

ill) Impairment of property, plant and equipment - note 4.2 

iv) Employee benefits - note 4.6 & 9 
v) Lease term and discount rate for lease liabilities - notes 4.5 
vi) Impairment of financial assets - note 4.10 
vii) Provision for obsolescence of stores, spare parts and stock in trade - 4.7', 4.8 & 23 

This note provides an overview of the area that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more 
likely to be materially adjusted due to the estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed information about each of 
these estimates and judgements is included in other notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected 
line item in the financial statements. 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual 
results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the company's accounting policies. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 3.2 



Property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, including property under construction for such purposes is classified as 
investment property. The investment properties of the Company comprise land, which is stated at cost less any identified impairment 
Joss. · 

4.3 Investment properties 

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment are treated as property, plant and equipment where they meet the definition of property, 
plant and equipment. Major spares and stand by equipments are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

4.2.3 Major spare parts and stand-by equipment 

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less any identified impairment loss'. All expenditure including borrowing costs connected 
with specific assets incurred during installation and construction period are carried under capital work-in-progress. These are 
transferred to operating fixed assets as and when these are available for use. 

4.2.~ Capital work in progress 

The gain or Joss on disposal or retirement of an asset represented by the .difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset is recognized as an income or expense. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to statement of profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. 

Depreciation on additions to operating fixed assets is charged from the month in which an asset is available for use while no 
depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset is derecognized or retired from active use. 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, at each 'financial year end, and adjusted if impact on depreciation is 
significant. The company's estimate of the residual value and useful life of its operating fixed assets as at December 31, 2022 has not 
required any adjustment as its impact is considered insignificant. 

3.33%to20% 
3.33%to20% 

3.33% to 33.33% 
10%to20% 

5% to33.33% 
16.66% to 33.33% 
3.33% to 33.33% 

16% to 33.33% 

Buildings on freehold land 
Buildings on leasehold land 
Plant and machinery 
Furniture and fixtures 
Office equipment 
Vehicles 
Major spare parts and stand-by equipments 
Right-of-use assets 

Depreciation on all operating fixed assets and amortization on leasehold land is charged to statement of profit or loss on the straight­ 
line basis at the following annual rates after taking into account their residual values: 

Operating fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment loss except for leasehold land 
which is stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost of leasehold land is amortized using the straight line method over the 
period of lease term. Cost in relation to certain operating fixed assets signifies historical cost and borrowing costs as referred to in 
note 4.17. 

4.2.1 Operating fixed assets 

4.2 Property, plant and equipment 

· Current and deferred taxes based on the consolidated results of the Group are allocated within the Group on the basis of separate 
return method, modified for determining realizability of tax credits and tax losses which are assessed at Group level. Ally adjustments 
in the current and deferred taxes of the Company on account of group taxation are credited or charged directly to equity as 
contribution from / distribution to the Holding Company in the year ih which they arise. 

Group tax adjustments 



Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the statement of financial position. Rental income 
(net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Operating leases 

(b) The Company is the lessor: 

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases oflow-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in 
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase option. 

When there is a change irt scope of a lease, or the consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original terms and conditions of 
the lease, it is accounted for as a lease modification. The lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if modification 
increases the scope oflease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets and the consideration for lease increases by an 
amount that is commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase' in scope adjusted to reflect the circumstances of the 
particular contracts, if any. When the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, the lease liability is remeasured and 
corresponding adjustment is made to right-of-use asset. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentive received. The right-of-use 
asset 'is depreciated on a straight line method over the lease term as this method most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits. The right-of-use asset is reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in fixed lease payments or an index or rate, change in the Company's estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will 
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. The corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of­ 
use asset, or is recorded in the statement of profit or loss if the carrying amount of right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

Lease payments include fixed payments, variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable 
by the lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 
option, payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option, less any lease 
incentives receivable. The extension and termination options are incorporated in detennination of lease term only when the Company 
is reasonably certain to exercise these respective options. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental 
borrowing rate. 

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by 
the Company. 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 

(a) The Company is the lessee: 

4.5 Leases 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. · 

Useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed, at each statement of financial position date and adjusted if the impact on amortization is 
significant. The Company's estimate of the useful lives of its intangible assets as at December 31, 2022 has not required any 
adjustment as its impact is considered insignificant. 

Expenditure incurred to acquire computer software and SAP Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System are capitalised as intangible 
assets and stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Intangible assets are amortised using the 
straight-line basis over their useful lives at the rate ranging from 10% to 33.33%. 

Intangible assets 4.4 



. 
The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations. Actuarial 

· gains and losses are charged to the statement of profit or loss immediately in the period when these occur. 

Provisions are made annually to cover the obligation for accumulating compensated absences based on actuarial valuation and are 
charged to statement of profit or loss. The most recent valuation was carried out as at December 31, 2022 using the "Projected Unit 
Credit Method". 

- Accumulating compensated absences: The Company provides for accumulating compensated absences when the employees 
render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. TI1e annual leaves can be encashed at the time the 
employee leaves the Company on the basis of the gross salary while no encashment is available for medical leaves. The employees of 
the Company are entitled to earned annual and medical leaves on the basis of their service with the Company and in accordance with 
the Company policy. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity 
in other comprehensive income in the year in which they arise. Past service costs are recognized immediately in statement of profit or 
loss. 

The Company is expected t~ contribute Rs 22.411 million (2021: Rs 19.573 million) to the gratuity fund in the next financial year. 

Plan assets include treasury bills, term finance certificates with scheduled banks, Pakistan investment bonds and units of mutual 
funds. · 

Expected rate of increase in salary level for the first two years 

Expected rate of increase in salary level after two years 

Expected rate of return 
Expected mortality rate 

2022 2021 

14.50% 12.25% 

14.50% 12.25% 

14.50% 12.25% 

12.25% 10.25% 

SLIC(2001- SLJC(2001- 
2005) Mortality 2005) Mortality 
Table setback 1 Table setback 1 

year year 

Discount rate 

The future contribution rates of these plans include allowances for deficit and surplus. Projected unit credit method, using the 
following significant assumptions, is used for valuation of gratuity plan: 

- Gratuity plan: There is an approved funded defined benefit gratuity plan for all employees. Monthly contributions are made to the 
funds on the basis of actuarial recommendation at the rate of 4.50 percent per annum of basic salaries for gratuity. The latest actuarial 
valuation for the gratuity scheme was carried out as at December 31, 2022. The actual loss on plan assets during the year was Rs 
12.291 million (2021: actual gain of Rs 9.450 million). 

a) Defined benefit plan 

The main features of the schemes operated by the Company for its employees are as follows: 

4.6.2 Post employment benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating annual leaves that are expected to be settled 
wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of 
employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the statement of financial position. 

4.6.1 Short term obligations 

Employee benefits 4.6 



For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the company has niade an irrevocable election at.the time of 
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The classification depends on the company's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash 
flows. 

- those to be measured at amortized cost. 

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value [either through other comprehensive income ('OCI') or through profit or loss]; and 

The company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

4.9.1 Classification 

4.9 Financial assets 

If the expected sales price less completion-costs and costs to execute sales (net realisable value) is lower than the carrying amount, a 
write-down is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its net realisable value. Provision is made in the 
financial statements for obsolete and slow moving stock in trade based on management estimate. 

Materials in transit are stated at cost comprising invoice value plus other charges paid thereon. 

Stock of raw materials, except for those in transit, work-in-process and finished goods are valued principally at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost of raw materials is determined using the weighted average cost method. Cost of work-in-process and 
finished goods comprises direct production costs such as raw materials, consumables and labour as well as production overheads such 
as employee wages, depreciation, maintenance, etc. The production overheads are measured based on a standard cost method, which 
is reviewed regularly to ensure relevant measures of utilization, production lead time etc. 

4.~ Stock in trade 

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment is capitalised as referred to in note 4.2.3 

Stores and spare are valued at moving weighted average cost except for items in transit which are stated at invoice value plus other 
charges paid thereon till the reporting date. For items which are slow moving and/or identified as obsolete, adequate provision is 
made for any excess book value over estimated realizable value. The Company reviews the carrying amount of stores and spares on a 
regular basis and provision is made for obsolescence. 

4.7 Stores and spares 

Above retirement benefits are payable to staff on completion of prescribed qualifying period of service under these schemes. 

-Pension fund: There is an approved contributory pension fund for executives (management personnel) of the Company. Employees 
. have the option to contribute 6% per annum of basic salary and the Company contributes 20% per annum of basic salary to the fund. 

-Provident fund: There is an approved contributory provident fund for all permanent employees. Equal monthly contributions at 
the rate of 10 % per annum of basic salary plus dearness and cost of living allowance are made by the Company and employees to the 
fund. 

b) Defined contribution plans 

2022 2021 

14.50% 12.25 
14.50% 12.25 
14.50% 12.25 

SUC(2001- SUC(2001- 
2005) Mortality 2005) Mortality 
Table setback 1 Table setback 1 

year year 

Discount rate 
Expected rate of increase in salary level for the first two years 
Expected rate of increase in salary level after two years 
Expected mortality rate 

Projected Unit Credit Method, using the following significant assumptions, has been used for valuation of accumulating compensated 
absences: 

l 



All financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value less transaction costs. Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. 

4.9.4 Financial liabilities 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other income / expenses in the statement of profit or loss as 
applicable. Impairment losses {and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value. 

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Company's management has elected to present 
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the 
statement of profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment, Dividends from such investments are recognised in 
statement of profit or loss as other income when the Company's right to receive.payments is established. 

Equity instruments 

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in the statement of profit' pr loss and presented net within other income I 
expenses in the period in which it arises. 

c) Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL) 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets' cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken 
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses 
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other income/ expenses. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
are presented in other income / expenses and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss. 

b) Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the 
effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in 
other gains/Oosses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in 
the statement of profit or loss. · ' 

a) Amortised cost 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the company's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the company classifies its debt instruments: 

Debt instruments 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

At initial recognition, the company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

4.9.3 Measurement 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date, being the date on which the company commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

4.9.2 Recognition and derecognition 

'The company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 



. ·~ 

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or 

- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including 
· the company, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the company) . 

The company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical 
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable: 

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 
change to the debtor's ability to meet its obligations; 

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor; 

- significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or'in the quality of third-party guarantees, if applicable. 

The following indicators are considered while assessing credit risk: 

The company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the 
company compares the risk of a default occurring on the instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of 
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. 

Expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. The probability is determined by the risk of default which is 
applied to the cash flow estimates. In the absence of a change in credit rating, allowances are recognized when there is reduction in the 

. net present value of expected cash flows. On a significant increase in credit risk, allowances are recognized without a change in the 
expected cash flows, although typically expected cash flows do also change; and expected credit losses are rebased from 12 month to 
lifetime expectations. 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if 
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical 
data adjusted by forward-looking information (adjusted for factors that are specific to the counterparty, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of 
money where appropriate). As for the exposure at default for financial assets, this is represented by the assets' gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date. Loss allowances are forward looking, based on 12 month expected credit losses where there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk rating, otherwise allowances are based on lifetime expected losses. 

- Trade debts 

- Loans, deposits and other receivables 

- Bank balances 

- Long term security deposits 

Following are the financial assets that are subject to the ECL model: 

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECL') associated with its financial assets. The 
. impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade debts, the 

Company applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure the ECL (loss allowance) which uses a life time expected loss allowance to be 
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables while general 3-stage approach for loans, deposits, other receivables, short term 
investments and bank balances i.e. to measure ECL through loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL if credit risk on a 
financial instrument or a group of financial instruments has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 

4.10 Impairment of financial assets 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective yield method. 



Trade debts are amounts due from customer for goods sold or services performed in ordinary course of business. Other receivables 
generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the company. Trade debts and other receivables are 
recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain significant financing component in which 
case such are recognized at fair value. The Company holds the trade debts with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows 
and therefore measures the trade debts subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less loss allowance. 

4.12 Trade debts and other receivables 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognized amount and the company intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and to 
settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

4.11 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

The company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery ;fforts and has concluded 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is based on unavajlability 
of debtor's sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount. The company may write-off. 
financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in 
impairment gains. 

The company recognizes an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss for financial assets with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments that are measured 
at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position. 

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure .the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk 
characteristics. · 

- Nature of financial instruments; 
- Past-due status; 
- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and 
- External credit ratings where available. 

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the 
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis: 

Trade debts with individually significant balance are separately assessed for ECL measurement. All other receivables are grouped and 
assessed collectively based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix approach based on the company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; 
. - reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of 

future economic conditions. 

The company recognizes life time ECL on trade debts, using the simplified approach, The measurement of ECL reflects: 

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 
- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to 
the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;· 

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or 
- the disappearance of an Active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 

Irrespective of the above analysis, in case of trade debts, the company considers that default has occurred when a debt is more than 
180 days past due, unless the company has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate. 



All other borrowing / finance costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

4.17 Borrowing costs 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 
fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and translation differences on non-monetary assets 
such as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. All 
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other gains/(losses). 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates, are generally recognized in statement of profit or loss. 

b) Transactions and balances 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company's 
functional and presentation currency. ·· · 

a) Functional and presentation currency 

4.16 Foreign currency transactions and translation 

. 
The Company manufactures and sells a range of paper & paper board products. Revenue is recognised when control of the products 
has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel and price to 
sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer's acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs 
when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer 
and either the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed or the 
Company has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. 

Revenue is recognised when or as performance obligations are satisfied by 'transferring control of a promised good or service to a 
customer, and control either transfers over time or at a point in time. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, excluding discounts, commissions and government levies. Revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of performance 
obligations. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery. 

4.15 Revenue recognition 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year which are 
unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting 
period. They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 

4.14 Trade and other payables 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. · 

4.13 Cash and cash equivalents 



Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another 
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as 
other income or finance costs. 

Fees paid on the establishment of Joan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or 
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

4.23 Borrowings 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
the Company will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or 
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

4.22 Government grants 

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares. • 

- the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 

4.21 Earnings per share 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period taking in consideration the amount that the Company would rationally pay to settle the 
obligation. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks s~ecific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest 
expense. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an 
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even 
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources wilJ be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. · 

4.20 Provisions 

Dividend and appropriation to reserves are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which these are approved. 

4.19 Dividend 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

4.18 Share capital 



5.2 The holder of ordinary shares of the Company is entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All 
shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets. 

5.1 1,091,873,871 (2021: 1,091,873,871) ordinary shares of the Company are held by Packages Limited. 

10,918,739 10,918,739 1,091,873,871 1,091,873,871 

5,282,136 528,213,616 Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each issued as fully paid 

for consideration other than cash - note 5.3 

528,213,616 

5,636,603 5,636,603 563,660,255 Ordinary shares of Rs 10 each fully paid in cash 563,660,255 

(Rupees in thousand) (Number of shares) 

2021 2022 2021 2022 

5. Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 

All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. 

4.27 Rounding of amounts 

A contract asset is recognised for the Company's right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that it has transferred to a 
customer. If the Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before 
payment is due, the Company presents the amount as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. A contract 
liability is recognised for the Company's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received 
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration, or the Company has a right 
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. a receivable), before tqe Company transfers a good or service to the customer, 
the entity shall present a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). · 

4.26 Contract assets and contract liabilities 

Non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to identify circumstances indicating occurrence of impairment loss or 
reversal of previous impairment losses, if any. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Reversal 
of impairment loss is restricted to the original cost of the asset. 

4.25 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow is remote. 

- there is present obligation that arises from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
. benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

- there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company; or 

Contingent liability is disclosed when: 

4.24 Contingent liabilities 



This loan is repayable in 16 equal semi-annual instalments in 10 years including a grace period of 2 years from the date of 
disbursement. 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries markup semi-annually at 6 month KIBOR before State Bank of Pakistan's approval and SBP rate i-e. 1% + 0.47% after the 
State Bank of Pakistan gives approval to a disbursement. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from MCB Bank to meet Balancing, Modernising and Replacement (BMR) of their plant to increase its 
capacity and efficiency. The aggregate loan amount of this facility is Rs. 1,500 million. There have been twelve disbursements 
amounting to Rs 497.476 million in the financial year. 

6.1.1 SBP Temporary Economic Refinance Facility - I 

· 6.1 'Loans under refinance scheme comprise of: 

Current portion shown under current liabilities 

Loans under refinance scheme 
Long term loans 

- note 6.1 1,243,576 858,844 
- note 6.3 11,015,186 5,811,483 

12,258,762 6,670,327 

- note 13 (1,728,590) (2,030,156) 
10,530,172 4,640,171 

- note 6.1.1 921,113 601,179 
- note 6.1.2 322,463 
- note e.i.g 257,665 

1,243,576 858,844 

SBP Temporary Economic Refinance Facility- I 
SBP Temporary Economic Refinance Facility - II 
SBP Employee Refinance Scheme for Salaries and wages 

From banking companies: 

6. Long term finances - secured 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

7,698,690 

5,282,136 
2,4l6,554 

Net assets 
528,213,616 fully paid ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 

issued to Packages Limited 
Share premium on issuance of shares 

7,698,690 

5,959,275 

5,100,000 
827,476 

13,586 
18,213 

Liabilities 
Long term finances 
Deferred tax 
Deferred liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

13,657,965 

10,503,560 
18,600 

738,777 
2,396,228 

800 

Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Long term loans and deposits 
Stores and spares 
Stock in trade 
Loans, advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 

Rupees in 
thousands 

5.3 Under the Asset Transfer Agreement entered. into between Packages Limited and the Company on September 15, 2012, 
528,213,616 fully paid ordinary shares of Rs 10 each were issued to Packages Limited against the transfer of assets, and related 
liabilities, in respect of paper & paperboard and corrugated business operations at Kasur and Karachi of Packages Limited at their 
respective carrying values on May 30, 2013 as stated below: 



Balance as at beginning of the year 

Disbursements during the year 

Repayments during the year 

Converted to TERF during the year 

6.2 The reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follows: 
2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 

858,844 499,937 
529,342 862,189 

(265,752) (265,752) 

370,564 

1,492,998 1,096,374 

(353,805) (273,367) 

104,383 35,837 
1,243,576 858,844 

(78,590) (296,892) 

1,164,986 561,952 

Discounting adjustment for recognition at 

fair value - deferred government grant 

Unwinding of discount on liability 

Balance as at end of the year 

Current portion shown under current liabilities 

It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

It carried markup at 1 per cent per annum with effect from the date it is approved by the State Bank of Pakistan. The effective mark-up 
charged during the year ranges from 1% to 7.46 % per annum. Markup was paid quarterly in arrears. 

Mark-up 

This represents longterm financing facility availed under State Bank of Pakistan's (SBP) Refinance Scheme for Payment of Wages and 
Salaries to the Workers and Employees of Business Concerns ('Refinance Scheme') obtained from ABL, amounting to Rs 531.504 
mi1lion. The loan has been fully repaid during the year. 

6.1.3 . SBP Employee Refinance Scheme for Salaries & Wages 

It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

· Security 

The loan is repayable in 16 equal quarterly instalments in 6 years including a grace period of 2 years from the date of disbursement. 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries markup quarterly at 3 month KIBOR +0.2% before State Bank of Pakistan's approval and SBP rate i-e. 1% + 1% after the 
State Bank of Pakistan gives approval to a disbursement. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from ABL to meet Balancing, Modernising and Replacement (BMR) of their plant to increase its capacity 
and efficiency. The aggregate loan amount of this facility is Rs. 500 million. There has been one disbursement amounting to Rs 31.866 
million in the financial year. 

6.1.2 SBP Temporary Economic Refinance Facility - II 

It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 



It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

This loan is repayable in 5 years including a grace period of 2 years. The balance is repayable in 6 equal half yearly instalments ending 
in March 2024. 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries mark-up at six month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum (2021: six month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum). The effective mark­ 
up charged during the year is 7.64% to 16.10% per annum (2021: 7.35 % to 7.77% per annum). Mark-up is payable semi- annually in 
arrears. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from Habib Bank Limited against diminishing. musharaka agreement to meet the capital expenditure 
requirements already incurred by the Company from own sources. The aggregate loan amount is Rs 2,000 million. 

6.3.3 Musharaka running finance agreement- 2 

It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

This loan was originally repayable in 4 years including a grace period of 1 year. However, as per the State Bank of Pakistan's Banking 
Policy & Regulations Department's Circular Letter No.14 of 2020, the repayment of this loan has been deferred by 1 year. The balance 
is repayable in 10 equal quarterly instalments ending August 2023. 

Tenor and repayment 

. It carries mark-up at three.month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum (2021: three month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum). The effective 
mark-up charged during the year ranges from 8.68 % to 15.89 % per annum (2021: 7.4 96 to 8.68 per annum}. Mark-up is payable 
quarterly in arrears. 

Mark-up 

TI1is loan has been obtained from MCB Islamic Bank Limited against diminishing musharaka agreement to meet the capital 
expenditure requirements already incurred by the Company from own sources. The aggregate loan amount is Rs 1,000 million. 

6.3.2 Musharaka running finance agreement - 1 

'This loan has been obtained from Allied Bank Limited to meet Balancing, Modernising and Replacement (BMR) of their plant to 
increase its capacity and efficiency. The loan has been approved by SBP in the current year, resultantly it has been reclassified to 
Loans under refinance scheme as SBP Temporary Economic Refinance Facility - II. 

6.3.1 Temporary Economic Refinance Facility 

- note 6.3.1 370,564 
- note e.g.z 250,000 583,333 
- note6.3.3 1,000,000 1,666,667 
- note6.3.4 2,000,000 
- note 6.3.5 3,000,000 
- note 6.3.6 666,667 1,000,000 
- note 6.3.7 1,600,000 2,000,000 
- note 6.3.8 2,498,519 190,919 

11,015,186 5,811,483 

Temporary Economic Refinance Facility 
Musharaka running finance agreement - 1 
Musharaka running finance agreement - 2 
Musharaka running finance agreement - 3 
Musharaka running finance agreement - 4 
Tenn finance agreement -1 
Term finance agreement -2 
Demand Finance 

6.3 Long term finances consist of: 

2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 



It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

. Security 

This loan is repayable in 5 years including a grace period of 2 years. The balance is repayable in 6 equal semi-annual instalments 
ending in September 2024 . 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries mark-up at six month KIBOR plus 0.20 % per annum (2021: six month Kibor plus 0.20 96 per annum). The effective mark­ 
up charged during the year ranges from 7.9696 to 16.3196 per annum (2021: 7.50% to 8.04% per annum). Mark-up is payable semi- 
annually in arrears. ' 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from Allied Bank Limited.for the purpose of re-profiling of statement of financial position and meeting 
capital expenditure requirements of the Company. The aggregate loan amount is Rs. 1,000 million. 

6.3.6 Term finance agreement - 1 

It is secured by a ranking charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

. This loan is repayable in 5 years including a grace period of 2 years. The balance is repayable in 12 equal quarterly instalments ending 
in May 2027. · 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries mark-up at three months KISOR per annum. The effective mark-up charged during the year is 14.68% to 15.83% per annum. 
Mark-up is payable quarterly in arrears. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from Faysal Bank Limited against diminishing musharaka agreement for the purpose of re-profiling of 
statement of financial position. The aggregate loan amount is Rs 3,000 million. 

6.3.5 Musharaka running finance agreement - 4 

It is secured by a ranking charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

This loan is repayable in 6 years including a grace period of 2 years. The balance is repayable in 8 equal half yearly instalments ending 
in March 2028. . 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries mark-up at six month KISOR per annum. The effective mark-up charged during the year is n.06% to 16% per annum. Mark­ 
up is payable semi - annually in arrears. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from Meezan Bank Limited against diminishing' musharaka agreement for the purpose of re-profiling of 
statement of financial position. The aggregate loan amount is Rs 2,000 million. 

6.3.4 Musharaka running finance agreement - 3 



Opening balance 

Disbursements during the year 

Repayments during the year 

Converted to TERF during the year 

5,811,483 5,833,333 
7,307,600 561,483 
(1,733,333) (583,333) 
(370,564) 

11,015,186 5,811,483 
(1,650,000) (1,733,333) 

9,365,186 4,078,150 
Current portion shown under current liabilities 

(Rupees in thousand) 6.4 The reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follow: 
2021 2022 

It is secured by a joint parri passu and ranking charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

This loan is repayable in 16 equal semi-annual instalments in 10 years including a grace period of 2 years from the date of 
disbursement. 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries markup at 6 month KISOR per annum on demand finance facility. SBP rate + 0.5% will be applicable after the State Bank of 
Pakistan gives approval to a disbursement. 

Mark-up 

This loan has been obtained from MCB Bank to meet Balancing, Modernising and Replacement {BMR) of their plant to increase its 
capacity and efficiency. The aggregate loan amount of this facility is Rs. 5000 million which is convertible to long term financing 
facility of SBP. There have been twenty seven disbursements worth Rs. 2,307.6 million in the financial year. 

6.3.8 Demand Finance 

It is secured by a joint parri passu charge over plant and machinery with 25% margin. 

Security 

. This loan was originally repayable in 7 years including a grace period of 2 years. However, as per the State Bank of Pakistan's Banking 
Policy & Regulations Department's Circular Letter No.14 of 2020, the repayment of this loan has been deferred by 1 year. The balance 
is repayable in 10 equal semi-annual instalments ending in September 2026. 

Tenor and repayment 

It carries mark-up at six month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum (2021: six month KIBOR plus 0.10 % per annum). The effective mark­ 
up charged during the year ranges from 7.63% to 16.09% per annum (2021: 7.38 % to 7.75% per annum). Mark-up is payable 
quarterly in arrears. 

Mark-up 

This loan bas been obtained from Allied Bank Limited for the purpose of re-profiling of statement of financial position and meeting 
capital expenditure requirements of the Company. The aggregate loan amount is Rs 2,000 million. 

6.3.7 Term finance agreement - 2 



562,471 

132,957 
429,514 

1,579,399 

1,551,991 
27,408 

1,259,954 

Opening balance 
Charged to statement of profit or loss 
Closing balance 

The movement in net deferred tax liability during the year is as follows: 

Net deferred tax liability 

Intangible assets 
Trade debts 
Lease liabilities 
Deferred liabilities 
Tax losses 

Deferred tax asset 

2,272,078 .. 
2,258,777 

13,301 
Accelerated tax depreciation 
Right-of-use assets 

Deferred tax liability 

The net liability for deferred tax comprises of: 

(1,101) (1,964) 
(11,128) (8,910) 

(22,027) (36,096) 
(44,574) (36,664) 

- note 8.1 (933,294) (933,294) 
(1,012,124) (1,016,928) 

1,259,954 562,471 

2022 2021 
(Rupees In thousand) Deferred tax liabilities'.· 8. 

1511616 

45,313 
106,303 

91,358 

7.3 The minimum lease payments _are discounted over a lease term ranging from 3 to 6.25 years. 

23,220 - note 7.3 

50,353 
22,937 

No later than one year 
Later than one year and not later than five years 
Later than five years 

7 .2 The undiscounted minimum lease payments of the lease liabilities are: 

Balance as at beginning of the year 
Interest on lease liabilities 
Additions during the year 
Reassessment oflease liabilities 
Rentals paid during the year 

· Balance as at end of the year 

7.1 Reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follows: 

21,030 

- note 7.1 
- note 13 

66,747 
(45,717) 

Present value of lease payments 
Current portion shown under current liabilities 

126,429 149,385 
8,881 16,520 

13,639 
(39,097) 
(43,105) {321426) 
66,24z 126,422 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

The Company has obtained certain land and building on lease from its Holding Company and a third party. The lease contract renews 
upon mutual consent ofbotb lessee and lessor. This gives rise to lease liabilities in respect of right-of-use assets as referred in note 19 
and are recognised at Company's average incremental borrowing rate of 14.77% per annum (2021: 13.2% per annum). 

7. Lease liabilities 



13,701 36,515 

9,106 
747 

3,848 

8,458 
949 

27,108 

Experience adjustments 
Actuarial losses from change in financial assumptions 
Remeasurements in plan assets, excludes interest income 

9.6 Remeasurements charged to other comprehensive loss are as follows: 

29,969 29,155 
49,033 36,936 

~~~<_14_,_8~17_)~~~(1~3_,2_9_8_) 
64,185 52,793 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Interest Income on plan assets 

9.5 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

115,653 130,091 
18,712 16,865 

(27,108) (3,848) 
(8,116) (17,571) 
(4,316) (24,740) 
14,817 13,298 

820 1,558 
110,462 115,6Q3 

Opening balance 
Contributionsinade 
Rerneasurements in plan assets, excludes interest income 
Benefits paid 
Plan assets transferred to the Holding Company 
Interest Income on plan assets 
Plan assets transferred from the Holding Company 
Closing balance 

9 .4 Movement in fair value of plan assets is as follows: 

404,322 369,131 
29;969 29,155 
4_9,033 36,936 
(8,116) (17,571) 
8,458 9,106 

949 747 
820 1,558 

(4,316) (24,740) 
481,119 404,322 

Opening balance 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Benefits paid 
Experience adjustments 
Actuarial losses from change in financial assumptions 
Liability transferred from the Holding Company 
Liability transferred to the Holding Company 
Closing balance 

9.3 Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation is as follows: 

288,669 239,040 
64,185 52,793 
36,515 13,701 
(18,712) (16,865) 

370,657 288,669 

Liability as at January 1 

Charge to the statement of profit or loss 
Charge to other comprehensive loss 
Contribution by the Company 
Liability as at December 31 

9.2 Movement in net liability for employee retirement benefit - gratuity is as follows: 

481,u9 404,322 
(110,462) (115,653) -----'----------- 370,657 288,669 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Liability as at December 31 

9.1 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

288,669 370,657 Gratuity fund 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) Employees Retirement benefit - Gratuity 9. 

8.1 The unabsorbed depreciation loss of Rs 3,218.255 million (2021: Rs 3,218.255 million) is available for set off against income 
of the Company under separate return for indefinite period, but not available under the group taxation model. 

® 



- Investment risk -The risk of the investment undcrperforming and being not sufficient to meet the liabilities. 

Withdrawal risk - The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal probability. The significance 
of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the entitled benefits of the beneficiary. 

- Demographic risks 

Mortality risk - The risk that the actual mortality experience is diffetent than the assumed mortality. This effect is more 
pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on the higher side. 

- Final salary risk Oinked to inflation risk) - the risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what 
is currently assumed. Since, the benefit is calculated on the final salary (whieh will closely reflect inflation and other macroeconomic 
factors), the benefit amount increases as salary increases. 

9.9 Risks faced by the Company on account of gratuity fund 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior period. 

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this 
is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit 
obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the 
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) bas been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability 
recognised in the statement of financial position. · 

(437,367) 448,504 530,734 Salary 

(448,528) (530,749) 366,244 438,115 

(Rupees in thousand) (Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 2021 2022 

Decrease in 
assumption 

Increase in 
assumption 

Change in 
assumption 

2022 2021 

%age 

196 1% 

196 1% 

Discount rate 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Year end sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations are as follows: 

9.8 Sensitivity analysis 

2022 2021 

Fair value Fair value 

(Rupees in (Rupees in 
thousand) % thousand) % 

Plan assets are comprised as follows: 

Debt instruments - un-quoted 20,104 18.20% 18,123 15.67% 

Equity instrument - quoted 71,690 64.90% 74,481 64.40% 

Cash and cash equivalents 18,668 16.90% 23,050 19.93% 

110,462 100.00% 115,653 100.00% 

9.7 Plan assets 



124,470 104,467 
9,779 13,965 

15,040 9,766 
(3,400) (8,602) 
(11,448) 4,207 

634 667 
135,075 124,470 

Opening balance 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Benefits paid 
Experience losses 
Loss from change in financial assumptions 
Closing balance ». 

12.1 Movement in liability for accumulating compensated absences is as follows: 

Opening balance 124,470 104,467 
Charged to the statement of profit or loss 14,005 28,605 

138,475 133,072 
Less: payments made during the year 3,400 8,602 
Closing balance 135,075 124,470 

This represents provision made to cover the obligation for accumulating compensated absences: 

(Rupees in thousand) Deferred liabilities 12. 

2021 2022 

11.1 This represents contributions made by employees for purchase of the Company vehicles. The vehicles are transferable to 
employees at tax written down value after a period of six years. 

101,503 67,060 

73,673 
6,613 

111,892 
10,389 

-note 11.1 
-note 13 

Long term liabilities 
Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities 

2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) Long term liabilities 11. 

10.1 This grant is being amortized in the statement of profit or loss in line with the recognition of interest expense that the grant is 
compensating. The amortization of grant has been presented as a reduction of related interest expense in statement of profit or loss. 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to this grant. 

269,134 - note 6 

230,419 
38,715 

423,443 
101,200 

Represented by: 
Non-current portion 
Current portion 

269,134 524,643 

31,603 
273,367 
(35,836) 

269,134 
353,805 
(98,296) -note33 

-note 10.1 

Opening balance 
Deferred grant recognized during the year 
Credited to profit or loss 

. Closing Balance 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2022 

This represents deferred government grant recognized in respect of the benefit of below-market interest rate on long term finances as 
referred to in note 6. The benefit has been measured as the difference between the fair value of the loan and the proceeds received. 
The Company has used the prevailing market rate of mark-up for similar instruments to calculate fair values of respective loans. The 
discount rate used range from 7.84% to 15.96% per annum (2021: 7.84% to 10.58% per annum). The reconciliation of the carrying 
amount is as follows: 

10. Deferred government grant 



9,663,765 

2,200,000 
14,748,276 
4,400,000 

-note 14.1 
- note 14.2 
- note 14.3 

Running finances - secured 
Short term finances - secured 
Letters of credit and bank guarantees 

14. Finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 

- note 6 1,728,590 2,030,156 
-note7 45,717 35,071 
-note io 101,200 38,715 
- note 11 101382 61613 

1,885,826 2,1101551 

Current portion oflong term finances - secured 
Current portion of lease liabilities 
Current portion of deferred government grant 
Current portion of long term liabilities 

_ 13. Current portion of non-current liabilities 

(Rupees in thousand) · 
2021 2022 

Withdrawal risk - The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal probability. The significance 
of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the entitled benefits of the beneficiary. 

- Demographic risks 
Mortality risk - The risk that the actual mortality experience is different than the assumed mortality. This effect is more 

pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on the higher side. ·- 

- Final salary risk Oinked to inflation risk) -the risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what 
is currently assumed. Since, the benefit is calculated on the final salary (which will closely reflect inflation and other macroeconomic 
factors), the benefit amount increases as salary increases. 

12.4 Risks faced by the Company on account of accumulating compensated absences: 

(113,466) (123,813) 137,101 147,903 1% Salary 

(136,943) (147,792) 113,809 124,172 Discount rate 

(Rupees in thousand) (Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

%age 
2022 

Decrease in 
assumption 

Increase in 
assumption 

Impact on defined benefit obligation ~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
Change in 

assumption 

1z.3 Sensitivity analysis 

9,779 13,965 
15,040 9,766 
(11,448) 4,207 

634 667 
14,005 28,605 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Experience losses 
Loss from change in financial assumptions 
Expense charged to the statement of profit or loss 

12.z Amounts charged to statement of profit or loss are as follows: 
(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 



15.3 On August 13, 2020, the Honourable Supreme Court announced the order relating to the levy imposed under Gas 
Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 whereby all arrears of Gas Infrastructure Development Cess ('GIDC') that have become 
due up to July 31, 2020 and have not been recovered so far shall be recovered from the gas consumers in twenty-four equal monthly 
instalments starting from August 01, 2020 without the component of late payment surcharge ('LPS') on the outstanding balance of 
GIDC. The LPS shall only become payable for the delays that may occur in the payment of any of the twenty-four instalments. Accrued 
liabilities include an amount of Rs 86.865 million (2021: Rs 86.865 million) in respect of GIDC prior to the promulgation date of 
GIDC Act, 2015. 

15.2 Accrued liabilities include Rs 355.959 million (2021: Rs .190.111 million) in respect of Packages Llmited, the Holding 
Company. 

11,645 20,025 

8,567 6,048 
68 68 

89 124 
83,465 144,873 
69,295 34,942 
35,411 3,031 

4,934 
390 

213,864 209,111 

Packages Limited 
·me Pakistan Limited 
Packages Lanka (Private) Limited 
Packages Real Estate (Private) Limited 
Packages Convertors Limited 
Ornyapack (Private) Limited 
IGI General Insurance Limited 
IGI Life Insurance Limited 
Tripack Films limited 

15.1 Trade creditors include the following in respect of related parties: 

- note 15.1 6,300,520 2,791,272 
- note 15.2 and 1,735,048 1,496,255 

note ig.g 
- note 15.4 19,729 16,925 

39,653 25,972 
- note 15.5 844,731 366,499 
- note 15.6 14,206 14,506 
- note 15.7 88,613 90,193 •. 
- note 15.8 13,211 

3,698 4,455 

2,0521102 ~1i8061ozz 

Payable to employees' post employment funds 
Withholding sales tax payable 
Contract liability 
Security deposits - interest free repayable on demand - unsecured 
Workers' welfare fund 
Workers' profit participation fund 
Others 

Trade creditors 
· Accrued liabilities 

15. Trade and other payables 

2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 

14.3 Of the aggregate facility of Rs 23,500 million (2021: Rs 16,000 million) for letters of credit, including Rs 8,000 million 
(2021: Rs 6,400 million) being available to the Company as a sublimit of the running finance facilities as referred to in note 14.1, the 
amount utilised at December 31, 2022 is Rs 7,174.054 million (2021: Rs 8,241.277 million). Of the aggregate facility of Rs 1,100 
million (2021: Rs 1,100 million) for guarantees, including Rs 100 million (2021: Rs 100 million) being available to the Company as a 
sublimit of the running finance facilities as referred to in note 14.1, the amount utilised at December 31, 2022 is Rs 1,085.620 million 
(2021: Rs 1,097.263 million). The facilities for letters of credit are secured by lien over import documents while the facility for 
guarantees is secured by joint pair-passu charge of Rs 1,085.620 million (2021: Rs 1,097.262 million) on all present and future 
current assets of the Company. The unavailed balance of letters of credit facilities as at year end is Rs 8,688.201 million (2021: Rs 
3,829.092 million). 

14.2 Facilities for obtaining short term finances of Rs 16,100 million (2021: Rs 7,400 million) including Rs 12,600 million 
(2021: Rs 7,400 million) being available to the Company as a sublimit of the running finance facilities as referred to in note 14.1, are 
available to the Company. The rates of mark-up range from 7.79% to 16.55% (2021: 7.35% to 10.53%). Short term finances are 
secured by joint pair passu charge over current assets of the Company. 

14.1 Short term running finances available from commercial banks under mark-up arrangements amount to Rs 16,600 
million (2021: Rs 11,000 million). The rates of mark-up range from 10.24% to 17.08% (2021: 7.38% to 10.27%). The mark-up is paid 
quarterly. In the event the Company fails to pay the balances on the expiry of the quarter, year or earlier demand, mark-up is to be 

· computed at the rates ranging from 20% to 22% (2021: 20% to 22%) . The running finance facilities are secured by hypothecation as 
ranking charge and joint pair passu charge over current assets of the Company. The unavailed balance of running finance facilities as 
at year end is Rs 1,851.723 million (2021: Rs 3,536.235 million). 



90,193 61,206 
- note 32 1,603 
- note gz 84,115 85,696 

175,911 146,902 

(87,298) (56,709) 

88,613 90,193 

Payable on account of group adjustment 
Closing balance 

Opening balance 
Prior Year Expense 
Provision for the year 

15.7 Workers' welfare fund 
(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

15.6 This represents amounts received from suppliers and truckers as per the respective agreements, kept in separate bank 
account maintained for that purpose as required under section 217 subsection 2 of the Companies Act, 2017. These have not been 
utilized and kept intact. 

366,499 108,378 
1,321,650 620,607 

(843,418) (362,486) ------ 
844,731 366,499 

Opening balance 
Payments received during the year 
Recognised in sales during the year 
Closing balance 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2022 

15.5 This primarily represents advances received from customers against which sales were made in the subsequent period. 
Reconciliation of carrying amount is as follows: 

15.4.1 Investments out of employees' provident fund and management staff pension fund have been made in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the conditions specified thereunder. 

16,925 19,729 

5,971 - note 15.4.1 

1,372 1,578 

9,582 11,568 - note 15:4·1 Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited - Employees' 
Provident Fund (fund of the Company) 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited - Employees' 
Gratuity Fund (fund of the Company) 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited • Management 

Staff Pension Fund (fund ofthe Company) 

(Rupees in thousand) 1.5.4 Payable to employees' post employment funds 
2021 2022 

Lahore High Court has instructed the Federal Government to make rules for resolution of disputes and manner of recovery of GIDC 
arrears prior to the promulgation date, under section 6 of the GIDC Act, 2015. Therefore, the amount of unpaid GIDC has not been 
discounted, since the timing of payment is unknown at the date of financial position. 

The Honourable Lahore High Court ('LHC') has disposed of the review petition by an order dated September 21, 2022 by stating the 
fact that High powered committee already constituted by Government of Pakistan is directed to be activated with in a period of two 

. months and thereafter, upon scrutiny and evaluation of the record and documents, the matter of recovery of Cess may commence as 
per recommendation and directions of the committee. 

However, on September 18, 2020, the Company obtained a stay order from Honourable Lahore High Court ('LHC') against payment 
of this GIDC to Sui Northem Gas Pipelines Limited ('SNGPL') on the premise that the matter of the Company is still unresolved at the 
end of High Level Committee of SNGPL to be formed under Writ Petition No. 31491 of 2016. Therefore, till the time High Level 
Conunittee of SNGPL resolves the exact liability of the Company, SNGPL cannot recover the same from the Company. The matter was 
decided in the favor of the company on June 17, 2021 by the LHC, while SNGPL filed a review petition against the decision 



17,534,144 

12,597,715 

4,804,009 

132,420 

26,144,420 

1~· 

17,231,404 

8,735,213 

177,803 

· note 18.1 

• note 18.2 

· note 18,3 

Operating assets 

Capital work in progress 

Major spare parts and stand-by equipment 

2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2022 

18. Property, plant and equipment 

(ii) Letters of credit other than for capital expenditure Rs. 2,o62.091 million (2021: Rs 5,075.102 million) 

(i) Letters of credits for capital expenditure Rs. 5,111.963 million (2021: Rs 3,166.167 million) 

17.2 Commitments 

- Sui Northern Gas Pipelines Limited (under stay order of Honourable Lahore High Court) against recovery of GIDC arrears 
· amounting to Rs Nil (2021: 29.642 million); 

. - Excise and taxation department against dues due to imposition of Infrastructure cess amounting to Rs 78 million (2021: Rs 78 
million); 

• Standard Chartered Bank Limited against supply of visa / master corporate cards amounting to Nil (2021: Rs 5 million); 

- Pakistan State Oil Limited ('PSO') for the supply of fuel against deferred payment amounting to Rs 63 million (2021: Rs 40 million); 

236,478 

132,976 

103,502 

(11,300) 

233,700 

(245,000) 

233,700 

- Sui Northern Gas Pipelines Limited against supply of sui gas amounting to Rs 944.620 million (2021: Rs 944.620 million); 

The banks have issued the following guarantees on Company's behalf in favour of: 

17.1 Contingencies 

17. Contingencies and commitments 

1,104,083 

454,507 

649,576 

Accrued mark-up on: 

- Long term finances · secured 

- Finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 

16. Accrued finance cost 

13,211 

281,911 

(268,700) Payments during the year 

Closing balance 

293,211 - note gz 
(11,300) Opening balance 

Provision for the year · 

15.8 Workers' profit participation fund 
2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2022. 



18.1 Operating assets 

Freehold Buildings on Buildings on Plant and Furniture Office 
land leasehold freehold machinery and fixtures equipment Vehicles Total 

land land 

(Rupees in thousand) 
At December 31, 2022 

Cost 247,714 123,200 3,270,668 35,167,095 29,376 460,961 481,938 39,780,952 • Accumulated depreciation/ impairment (67,590) (1,659,395) (20,309,964) (24,050) (352,116) (136,433) (22,549,548) 

Net book value 247,714 55,610 1,611,273 14,857,131 5,326 108,845 345,505 17,231,404 

At December 31, 2022 

Opening net book value 117,287 62,703 1,674,146 10,483,404 4,636 70,930 184,609 12,597,715 
Additions - at cost 130,427 289,108 5,925,404 1,741 81,343 221,490 6,649,513 
Disposals - at net book value (217,711) (144,775) (25) (8,948) (30,960) (402,419) 
Depreciation charged for the year (7,093) (134,270) (1,406,902) (1,026) (34,480) (29,634) (1,613,405) 
Closing net book value 247,714 55,610 1,611,273 14,857,131 5,326 108,845 345,505 17,231,404 

At December 31, 2021 

Cost 117,287 123,200 3,368,069 29,697,537 28,109 420,815 345,248 34,100,265 
Accumulated depreciation/ impairment (60,497) (1,693,923) (19,214,133) (23,473) (349,885) (160,639) (21,502,550) 

Net book value 117,287 62,703 1,674,146 10,483,404 4,636 70,930 184,609 12,597,715 

At December 31, 2021 

Opening net book value 111,052 71,565 1,813,207 10,075,198 5,547 79,890 182,415 12,338,874 
Additions - at cost 6,235 18,226 1,695,949 26,093 55,324 1,801,827 
Disposals - at net book value (34,978) (21) (29,874) (64,873) 
Depreciation charged for the year (8,862) (157,287) (1,252,765) (911) (35,032) {23,256) (1,478,113) 
Closing net book value 117,287 62,703 1,674,146 10,483,404 4,636 70,930 184,609 12,597,715 

18.1.1 Following are the particulars of the Company's immovable fixed assets: 

Location Particulars Usage of immovable property Total Area (in Acres) 

Kot Radha Kishan Road, District Kasur Freehold land and building Factory site and offices 239,73 

® » Depalpur, Pakpatan Road, District Okara Buildings on leasehold land Purchase center for biomass fuel 13 

.• 



(.§) 
2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 

18.1.2 The depreciation charge has been allocated as follows: 

Cost of sales 1,584,303 1,452,836 

Administrative expenses 23,246 20,468 

Distribution and marketing costs 5,856 4,809 

1,613,405 1,478,113 

18.1.3 Detail of property, plant and equipment disposed off during the year is as follows: 

2022 

Particulars of assets Accumulated Book Profit/ Sales 
sold to Cost depreciation value (loss) on proceeds Mode of disposal 

disposal 

(Rupees in thousand) 
Vehicles 

Employees 
Arslan Shahid 1,811 (851) 960 180 1,140 Company Policy 

Khalid Abdul Quddus 3,039 (1,155) 1,884 190 2,074 -do- 

Asif Ali 2,151 (817) 1,334 194 1,528 -do- 

SibatUsman 1,655 (97) 1,558 (87) 1,471 -do- 

Moghees Afzal 1,430 (858) 572 343 915 -do- 

Ahsan Shahzad 1,695 (353) 1,342 {52) 1,290 -do- 

Hassan Ali 1,788 (1,073) 715 444 1,159 -do- 

Hawaisa Waheed 2,395 (459) 1,936 (8) 1,928 -do- 

KhurramAli 1,433 (167) 1,266 (40) 1,226 -do- 
Muhammad Abu Bakar Shafique 1,433 (203) 1,230 (4) 1,226 -do- 

Muhammad Farhan 1,270 (622) 648 191 839 -do- 

Muhammad Naseer Iqbal 1,645 (274) 1,371 (140) 1,231 -do- 

Muhammad Uzair Hashmi 2,000 (533) 1,467 (167) 1,300 -do- 

Shahid Imran Ch. 1,571 (770) Soi 289 1,090 -do- 

Hammas Saleem 1,865 (342) • 1,523 (82) 1,441 -do- 

Muhammad Ali Wajid 3,180 (291) 2,889 (101) 2,788 -do- 

Muhammad Nauman Zafar 2,828 (1,358) 1,470. 307 1,m -do- 

Sharjil Naushad 2,388 (1,122) 1,266 562 1,828 -do- 

UsmanDodhy 1,600 (944) 656 403 1,059 -do- 

Emad Ud Din Ahmed 1,678 (1,007) 671 465 1,136 -do- 

MoizHassan 1,582 (949) 633 1,567 2,200 -do- 

Outsiders 

Muhammad Umer 1,823 (1,094) 729 1,171 1,900 -do- 

C/F 42,260 (15,339) 26,921 5,625 32,546 



c9 
Particulars of assets Accumulated Book Profit/ Sales 

sold to Cost depreciation value (loss) on proceeds Mode of disposal 
disposal 

(Rupees in thousand) 
B/F 42,260 (15,339) 26,921 5,625 32,546 

Plant & Machinery 

Scrapped 100,707 (82,497) 18,210 - Written Off due to fire * 
Scrapped 8,161 (4,976) 3,185 -do- 
Scrapped 2,467 (1,665) 802 -do- 
Scrapped 3,153 (1,366) 1,787 -do- 
Scrapped 91,118 (59,226) 31,892 -do- 
Scrapped 1,769 (1,032) 737 -do- 
Scrapped 2,405 (1,323) 1,082 -do- 
Scrapped 3,480 (1,740) 1,740 -do- 
Scrapped 4,936 (1,440) 3,496 -do- 
Scrapped 1,752 (253) 1,499 -do- 
Scrapped 4,788 (1,851) 2,937 -do- 
Scrapped 2,298 (766) 1,532 -do- 
Scrapped 2,435 (947) 1,48~ -do- 
Scrapped 2,893 (386) 2,507 -do- 
Scrapped 69,143 (1,153) 67,990 -do- 
Scrapped 2,266 (1,435) 831 -do- 
Scrapped 3,936 (1,771) 2,165. -do- 

Building on Freehold Land 

Scrapped 108,082 (61,516) 46,566 -do- 
Scrapped 102,630 {51,842) · 50,788 -do- 
Scrapped 15,731 (7,946) 7,785 -do- 
Scrapped 2,395 (711) 1,684 -do- 
Scrapped 132,186 (37,893) 94,293 -do- 
Scrapped 8,056 (2,149) 5,907 -do- 
Scrapped 781 (203) 578 -do- 
Scrapped 2,621 (841) 1,780 -do- 
Scrapped 2,244 ·(57~) - • 1,668 -do- 
Scrapped .1,015 (254) 761 -do- 
Scrapped 844 (99) 745 -do- 
Scrapped 3,754 (964) 2,790 -do- 

Office equipment 

Scrapped 1,332 (788) 544 -do- 
Scrapped 3,908 (3,257) 651 -do- 
Scrapped 2,100 (1,540) 560 -do- 
Scrapped 792 (277) 515 -do- 
Scrapped 2,019 (1,111) 908 -ae- 

Assets with book value 
less than Rs 500,000 228,369 (215,274) . 13,095 3,335 9,539 

968,826 (566A07) 402A19 8,960 42,085 

» • These assets have been destroyed due to fire as more fully explained in note 33 to these financial statements. 



Emnloyees 

Syed Aslam Mehdi 8,309 (4,404) 3,905 3,209 7,114 Company Policy 

Muhammad Sohail Iftikhar 2,795 (256) 2,539 14 2,553 -do- 

Haris Bin Khalid 1,780 (134) 1,647 134 1,780 -do- 

Muhammad Raheel Kamran 1,750 (117) 1,633 (23) 1,611 -do- 

Muhammad Amir Janjua 2,684 (1,261) 1,423 117 1,540 -do- 

Muhammad Ali Nazeer 1,600 (213) 1,387 (5) 1,382 -do- 

Mohammad Ali 2,503 (1,126) 1,377 161 1,537 -do- 

Sunnainah Zaidi 1,849 (573) 1,276 197 1,473 -do- 

Saliba Rashad 1,733 (537) 1,196 167 1,363 -do- 
S Khurram Ali Naqvi 1,308 (131) 1,177 131 1,308 -do- 
Asma Javed 2,220 (1,332) 888 1,123 2,011 -do- 
KhuramEjaz 1,075 (312) 763 61 824 -do- 
Mohammad Qadeer 1,250 (525) 725 108 833 -do- 
Tahir Majeed 1,771 (1,062) 708 74 782 -do- 
Muhammad Nauman Rashid 1,661' · (980) 681 282 963 -do- 
Ehsan UlHaq 1,642 (985) 657 386 1,042 -do- 
AbidRiaz 1,069 (543) 526, 148 674 -do- 

' •. 
Syed Sarosh Sohail 1,512 (907) 605 331 936 -do- 
Muhammad Asghar 1,297 (778) 519 302 820 -do- 

e· Outsiders 
Riaz Hussain 1,953 (899) 1,055 1,370 2,425 -do- 
Syed Hussain Raza 1,953 {899) 1,055 ·1,401 2,456 -do- 

Plant & Machinery 

Scrapped 37,046 (2,420) 34,626 (34,626) Written Off 

Scrapped 11,420 (11,420) -do- 
Scrapped 2,011 (2,011) -do- 
Scrapped 675 (675) -do- 

Scrapped 762 (461) 301 (301) -do- 
Scrapped 435 (435) -do- 

Assets with book value 
less than Rs 500,000 15,731 (11,524) 4,204 3,157 7,364 

111,794 (46;920) 64,873 (22,082) 42,791 

~- 

Vehicles 
(Rupees in thousand) 

Mode of disposal Sales 
proceeds 

Profit/ 
(loss) on 
disposal 

Book 
value 

Accumulated 
depreciation Cost Particulars of assets 

sold to 

2021 



18.2.3 This includes borrowing cost capitalised amounting to Rs. 620.048 million (2021: Rs 51.19 million). 

18.2.2 During the year, the management re-evaluated the recoverable amount of previously impaired equipment with accumulated 
carrying value of Rs. 631 million. Sirius Reel component is utilized on the rebuild of Paper Machine - 6 after which the management 
has reversed the previously recognized impairment loss of Rs. 180 million as the circumstances that caused the impairment in the first 
place are favourably resolved. The remaining component is estimated at recoverable value [Fair value less costs of disposal ('FVLCD') · 
level 3 fair value] based on the scrap value of the equipment in the absence of any use or secondary market for such equipment. Since 
the impairment charge market rates of scrap have increased from Rs. 98 ,648 to Rs. 102,833 per ton and based on estimated weight of 
equipment and its metallurgical composition the revised recoverable amount is estimated at Rs. 325.61 million. This has resulted in 
reversal of impairment amounting to Rs. 25.42 million which is recognized in profit and loss. 

Plant and machinery 

· Civil works 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 

Less: Accumulated impairment 

Plant and machinery 

Civil works 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 

Capital Transfers to 
expenditure operating 

Balance as incurred assets/ Balance as at 
at December during the Intangible December 31, 

;!lz 2021 iear assets 2022 
(Rupees in thousand) 

5,280,722 7,533,145 (6,010,574) 6,803,293 
362,239 806,290 (402,923) 765,606 
213,048 1,799,850 2,012,898 

5,856,009 10,139,285 (6,413,497) 9,581,797 
(1,052,000) 205,416 (846,584) 
4,804,009 10,344,701 (6,413,497) 8,735,213 

Capital Transfers to 
expenditure operating 

Balance as incurred assets/ Balance as at 
at December during the Intangible December 31, 

3112020 ;rear assets 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

2,987,727 4,019,553 . (1,726,558) 5,280,722 
138,284 247,265 (23,310) 362,239 
125,962 87,086 213,048 

3,251,973 4,353,904 (1,749,868) 5,856,009 
(1,182,000) 130,000 (1,052,000) 

2,069,973 4,483,904 (1,749,868) 4,804,009 
Less: Accumulated impairment 

18.2.1 The reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follows: 

Civil works 

Plant and machinery [including in transit of Rs 1,408.59 

million (2021: Rs 548.31 million)] 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 

765,605 362,239 

6,803,294 5,280,722 
2,012,898 213,048 
9,581,797 5,856,009 
846,584 1,052,000 

- note 18.2.1 8,735,213 4,804,009 
Less: Accumulated impairment 

18.2 Capital work in progress 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 



Level 2 fair value of investment property has been derived using a sales comparison approach. Sale prices of comparable land in close 
proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as location and size of the property. The most significant input into this 
valuation approach is price per acre. 

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 fair values 

20.1 Fair value of the investment property, based on the valuation carried out by an independent valuer, as at December 31, 2022 
is Rs 70 million (2021: Rs 14 million). Forced sale value of the investment property is Rs 52.5 million (2021: Rs 10.5 million). The 
valuation is considered to be level 2 in the fair value hierarchy due to significant observable inputs used in the valuation. The different 
levels have been defined in note 43.5. 

This represents cost of freehold land which has been rented out to Omya Pack (Private) Limited, a related party. 

20. Investment property 

30,271 28,744 

28,981 
1,290 

28,421 

323 
Cost of sales 
Distribution and marketing costs 

19.2 The depreciation charge has been allocated as follows: 

94,509 124,780 

13,639 
- note 19.2 (28,744) (30,271) 

(32,0222 
40,3oz 2~,~~ 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Additions during the year 
Depreciation charged 
Lease reassessment 
Balance at the end of the year 

19.1 The reconciliation of carrying amount is as follows: 

159,864 185,322 
(119,557) (_9_0,_8_13_) 
40,307 94,509 -. note 19.1 

Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book value 

At December 31 
(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

This represents certain land and building obtained on lease from the Holding Company and a third party as referred to in note 7: 

19. Right-of-use assets 

18.3.2 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated to cost of sales'. 

132,420 116,966 
137,011 44,116 

(111,012) (22,461) 
- note 18.3.2 19,384 (6,201) 

177,803 132,420 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Additions during the year 
Transfers to property, plant and equipment 
Depreciation reversed/(charged) 
Balance at the end of the year 

18.3.1 The reconciliation of net book value is as follows: 

198,988 172,989 
(21,185) (40,569) ------ 177,803 132,420 - note 18.3.1 

Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book value 

18.3 Major spare parts and stand-by equipment 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 



23.1 Finished goods with a cost of Rs 687.556 million (2021: Rs ;,280.052 million) are being valued at a net realisable value of Rs 
627.201 million (2021: Rs 1,216.738 million) and the resulting NRV write down expense has been charged to cost of sales. 

12,216,475 

7,997,599 
18,061 

4,200,815 
21,445,287 

-note 23.1 

16,449,950 
38,640 

4,956,697 

Raw materials [including in transit Rs 4,578.973 million 
(2021: Rs 3,738.886 million)]. 

Work-in-process 
Finished goods 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) Stock in trade 23. 

1,791,501 

759A42 
1,032,059 

2.2.1 Stores and spares include items which may result in fixed capital expenditure but are not distinguishable. 

1,667,501 

954,269 
713,232 

Stores [including in transit Rs 54 .656 million (2021: Rs 55 .615 million)] 
Spares [including in transit Rs 61.031 million (2021: Rs 46.835 million)] 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) Stores and spares 22. 

36,549 
19,393 
17,706 

29,239 
16,409 

15,177 

5 
5.5 
6.5 

73,098 
29,835 
25,295 

73,098 
29,835 
25,295 

Distributed Control System 
SAP User Licenses 
Kiwi Plan Software Suite 

• · (Rupees in thousand) 
Carrying amount 

· (Rupees in thousand) 
Cost 

2021 

11,970 
4,079 

Remaining 
useful life 

(Years) 

2022 2021 2022 

21.3 This includes the following individual intangible assets that are material to the financial statements of the Company: 

16,209 

11,972 
4,237 

Cost of sales 
Administrative expenses 

21.2 The amortisation charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 

89,647 91,726 
3,574 13,970 

- note 21.2 (16,209) (16,049) 
- note 21.3 77,012 89,647 

Opening net book value 
Additions - at cost 
Amortisation charged 
Closing net book value 

21.1 The reconciliation of net book value is as follows: 

- note 21.1 

193,027 189,605 
(116,015) (.;.;.9.;..;9,.;;..95;;...8_) 

77,012 89,647 

24,856 

3,938 
20,918 

Cost 
Accumulated amortisation 
Net book value 

21. Intangible assets 

20,918 

4,922 
15,996 

Not later than one year 
One to five years 
More than five years 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

The-maturity analysis of undiscounted minimum lease payments to be received on an annual basis: 



1,993 2,024 
258,809 81,811 
260,802 83,835 

205,558 38,540 
88,869 23,482 
75,751 50,251 

75,021 7,549 
11,300 

1,996,196 288,832 
2,071,217 307,681 

519,410 80,624 
72,981 118,062 

937,493 

13,767 4,893 
1;.2412,848 707,368 

30,722 28,503 
14,365 · ·2,219 
(11,367) 
33,720 301i22 

2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) 

-note 25.5 & 
25.5.1 

-note 15.8 
-note zg.g 

-note 25.2 

- note 25.1 

Letters of credit - margins, deposits, opening charges etc 
Rebate on imports 

Insurance claim receivable 

Other receivables 

Balances with statutory authorities 
- Customs duty 
- Workers' profit participation fund 
- Sales tax recoverable 

Due from related parties - unsecured 
Trade deposits 
Prepayments 

Advances - considered good 
- To employees 
- To suppliers 

25, Loans, advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 

24.3 There are no outstanding trade debts with respect to !!A1)Drt sales. 

Balance at the beginning of the year 
Impairment loss for the year 
Balances Written off 
Balance as at end of the year 

The reconciliation of loss allowance is as follows: 

24.2 Loss allowance 

24.1.1 The maximum aggregate amount outstanding at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 1151.014 million (2021: Rs 
668.76 million). Ageing analysis of the above receivables is disclosed in note 43.1 (b)(i). 

579,7o5 1,151,014 

578,054 
376 

1,275 

1,149,707 
279 

1,028 

1,151,014 579,705 
4,467,842 3,064,596 
5,618,856 3,644,301 

33,720 30,723 
5,652,576 3,675,024 

(33,720) (30,723) 
5,618,856 3,64~,301 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

- note 24.2 
-note 24.3 

- note 24.1 

Packages Converters Limited (Subsidiary of Holding Company) 
Tri-Pack Films Limited (Associate of Holding Company) 
DIC Pakistan Limited (Subsidiary of Holding Company) 

24.1 Related parties - unsecured 

Loss allowance 

Considered doubtful - others - unsecured 

Considered good 
- Related parties - unsecured 
- Others - unsecured 

-. 
Trade debts 



25.4 For the sales tax periods January 2019 to December 2019, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue ['DCIR'], Unit-g, Audit­ 
III, Large Taxpayers Office, issued a notice dated January 17, 2022 under section 25 of Sales Tax Act, 1990. Through the said notice, 
the DCIR required certain details and information in connection with the audit proceedings for the above tax periods. The said notice 
was duly complied by the Company. Thereafter the DCIR through assessment order dated December 31, 2022 raised sales tax demand 
of Rs 661.697 million along with default surcharge and penalty. The sales tax demand primarily pertains to disallowance of input tax 
claimed on import and local purchased items which are not allowed under section 8 with SRO 490(1)/2004 as amended by SRO 
450(1)/2013. The DCIR has also raised demand in respect of various other issues. However, an appeal dated March 1, 2023 has been 
filed against the assessment order by the Company before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals), which is currently pending 
adjudication. The management, in consultation with their legal advisor, is of the view that these sales tax matters will eventually be 
decided in the favor of the Company; therefore no provision has been made in these financial statements. 

25.3 For the sales tax periods July 2017 to June 2018, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue ['DCIR'], Unit-g, Audit-III, Large 
. Taxpayers Office, through order dated October 28, 2020 raised an additional sales tax demand of Rs 239.48 million (2020: Rs 239.48 

million) along with default surcharge and penalty. The sales tax demand primarily pertains to disallowance of input tax claimed by the 
Company. The matter was appealed by the Company before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) which is currently pending 
adjudication. Further the DCIR has not allowed credit of Rs 2,046,122 being voluntarily paid input tax. In this regard the Company 
filed appeal before the Commissioner (Appeals) which has been heard and the order is awaited. After the refusal by the Commissioner 
Appeals to grant further stay, the Company through its legal counsel approached the High Court of Sindh, who vide order in C.P.No. D- 
2927 of 2021 dated April 28, 2021 granted further stay. The management, in consultation with their legal advisor, is of the view that 
these sales tax matters will eventually be decided in the favor of the Company; therefore no provision has been made in these financial 
statements. 

25.2,3 The maximum aggregate amount outstanding from related parties at the end of any month during the year was Rs 205.558 
million (2021: Rs 53.684 million). . 

106,044 20,602 

50,135 17,524 

41,000 64 

8,379 350 . 
205,558 38,540 

Not past due 

Up to 90 days 

90 to 180 days 

181 to 365 days 

25.2.2 Age analysis of the above receivables is as follows: 

25.2.1 These are in the normal course of business and are interest free. 

Packages Limited 

Packages Converters 

DIC Pakistan Limited 

IGI Life Insurance Limited 

IGI General Insurance Limited 

OmyaPack (Private) Limited 

Packages Real Estate 

Packages Foundation 

Tri-Pack Films Limited 

Starch Pack (Private) Limited 

(Rupees in thousand) 

9,803 4,564 

93,937 3,899 

471 334 

22 so 
909 489 

92,978 26,647 

389 42 

639 750 

30 125 

6,380 1,640 

- note 25.2.1 205,558 38,540 

25.2 Due from related parties - unsecured 

2021 2022 

25.1 Included in advances to employees are amounts due from executives of Rs 0.703 million {2021: Rs 1.756 million). 



F-- .. 

Afghanistan 

United Arab Emirates 

Oman 

Kuwait 

Kenya 

Karachi Export Processing Zone 

5,142 

445 

22,290 

16,281 

195,896 

14,030 

10,436 

254,084 10,~36 

Uganda 

28.1 Information by geographical area 

e Less: Sales tax and excise duty 

Net sales 

55,331,218 43,130,563 

-note 28.1 254,084 10,436 

55,585,302 43,140,999 

(7,996,127) (6,202,680) 

47,589,175 36,938,319 

Local sales 

Export sales 

28, Revenue 
16,690 17,730 

1,402 

At banks in current accounts 15,288 15,867 

1,863 In hand 

(Rupees in thousand) Cash and bank balances 27. 

2021 2022 

In respect of tax year 2017, the DCIR issued notice dated March 11, 2020 under section177(1) of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 in 
which the DCIR intimated that the Company had been selected for audit under the provisions of Clause 72B of Part-IV of the Second 
schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 for the above tax rear and required the company to furnish information and documents. 
The above notice was fully complied by the company. Based on submissions and explanations, the DCIR vide his notice dated 
December 22, 2021 issued under section 122(9) of the Ordinance identified some discrepancies and intend to amend the deemed 
assessment order under section 120 of the Ordinance. In this regard, the Company duly furnished and complied the said notice. In 
response to the reply to the aforesaid notice, the DCIR passed an order dated April 28, 2022, in which the DCIR worked out tax 
demand amounting to Rs. 428,944,984. Being aggrieved of the order the Company filed an appeal before the CIR(A). The CIRA vide 
its appellate order dated January 26, 2023 deleted or remanded back the majority disallowances except carry forward of minimum tax 
paid under section113(2)(c) of the Ordinance amounting to Rs. 426,274,057 which is brought forward from tax years 2014, 2015 and 
2016. Being aggrieved of the above appellate order to the extent of carry forward of the minimum tax, the Company is in the process of 
filing an appeal before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue. The management, in consultation with their legal advisor, is of the view 
that these. matters will eventually be decided in the favor of the Company; therefore no provision has been made in these financial 
statements. 

26. Income tax recoverable 

25.5.1 It includes an amount of Rs. 585.833 million receivable from IGI General Insurance Limited, a related party. 

. 25.5 This represents insurance claim receivable on assets destroyed due to the fire as more fully explained in note 33.2. 



2:9.4 Cost of goods produced includes Rs 3,045.368 million (2021: Rs 1,974.249 million) for stores and spares consumed. 

29.3 This includes raw materials, finished goods and stores and spares written off amounting to Rs 10.580 million (2021: Rs 
30.468 million), Rs 14.083 million (2021: Rs 9.576 million) and Rs Nil (2021: Rs 1.188 million) respectively. 

29.2 This includes Rs 122.282 million (2021: Rs 48.735 million) in respect of short term leases not recognised as a lease liability 
[including Rs 0.820 million (2021: Rs 1.539 million) from Packages Limited, the Holding Company). 

143,786 

30,927 

46,927 

33,821 

49,095 

23,170 11,313 

24,893,105 19,503,982 

2,256,009 1,890,739 

94,758 56,489 

6,495,961 5,061,618 

915,639 1,091,427 

196,031 51,189 

293A88 180,362 

70,330 51,177 

161,517 118,507 

817,370 659,983 

375,539 387,205 

91,678 43,361 

1,593,340 IA88,018 

11,972 11,970 

33,119 15,106 

5,097 3,985 

42,486 33,949 
242,812 112,853 

38,590,251 30,761,920. 

18,061 18,450 

(38,640) (18,061) 

38,569,672 30,762,309 

4,200,815 3,623,302 

(4,956,697) (4,200,815) 

37,813,790 30,184,796 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2022 

® 

Defined contribution plans 

- Provident fund 

- Pension fund 

Defined.benefit plans 

- Gratuity fund 

- Accumulated compensated absences 

29.1 Salaries, wages and amenities include the following: 

-note 29.4 

· Add: Opening work-in-process 

Less: Closing work-in-process 

Cost of goods produced 

. Add: Opening stock offinished goods 

Less: Closing stock of finished goods 

- note 21.2 

- note 18.1.2, 18.3.2 _& 19.2 

- note 29.2 

- note 29.1 

Materials consumed 

Salaries, wages and amenities 

Travelling expenses 

Fuel and power 

Production supplies 

Rent, rates and taxes 

Material handling charges 

Medical expenses 

Insurance 

Repairs and maintenance 

Packing expenses 

Safety equipment 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 

Amortisation of intangible assets 

Technical fees 

Vehicle running expense 

Waste removal expenses 

Others - note 29.3 

Cost of sales 29. 



143,583 127,372 
24,568 12,009 
14,499 12,521 

518,470 355,301 
2,012 1,468 
8,215 9,314 
6,179 6,099 
3,011 2,759 

720,537 526,8~3 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

- note gr.a 

- note 18.1.2 & 19.2 

- note 31.1 Salaries, wages and amenities 
Travelling expenses 
Rent, rates and taxes 
Freight and distribution 
Insurance 
Advertising 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 
Others 

Distribution and marketing costs 31. 

30.4 Administrative expenses include Rs. 47.823 million (2021: Rs 25.469 million) for stores and spares consumed. 

3,585 3,230 
1,289 1,042 

10,580 3,820 
398 356 
454 438 

16,306 8,886 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

The charges for professional services include the following 
in respect of auditors' services for: 

Statutory audit 
Half yearly review 
Tax services 
Reporting to group auditors and other certifications 
Out of pocket expenses 

30.3 Professional services 

30.2 This includes Rs 0.288 million (2021: Rs 0.261 million) in respect of short term leases from Packages Limited, the Holding 
Company, not recognised as a lease liability 

9,037 6,863 
1,972 3,719 

5,895 4,964 
8,557 7,531 

25,461 2~,077 

393,281 294,510 
16,611 9,537 
17,638 16,421 

3,331 2,387 
15,154 10,501 
7,726 6,354 
8,091 5,810 
4,096 1,178 

17,532 7,519 
29,716 21,421 
3,642 770 

42,679 18,554 
14,162 6,391 
23,246 20,468 

4,237 4,079 
6,158 342 

16,181 26,331 
623,481 452,szJ 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

Defined contribution plans 
- Provident fund 
- Pension fund 

Defined benefit plans 
- Gratuity fund 
- Accumulated compensated absences 

30.1 Salaries, wages and amenities include the following: 

-note so.a 

- note 18.1.2 
-note 21.2 

-note so.s 

-note 30.2 

- note 30.1 Salaries, wages and amenities 
Travelling expenses 
Rent, rates and taxes 
Insurance 
Printing, stationery and periodicals 
Postage, telephone and telex 
Medical expenses 
Entertainment expenses 
Motor vehicles running expenses 
Computer charges 
Training expense 
Professional services 
Repairs and maintenance 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 
Amortisation of intangible assets 
Sustainability expenses 
Others 

30. Administrative expenses 



On February 09, 2022, a fire event occurred at the finishing house and centrai stores which damaged the building and certain items of 
property, plant and equipment, stores and spares and stock-in-trade with book value aggregating to Rs. 5,811.12 million which were 
adequately insured. The Company has filed an insurance claim and the insurer has accepted and acknowledged the claim amounting 
to Rs. 6,143.05 million. Accordingly, an insurance settlement gain of Rs 331.93 has been recognised. 

33.2 This represents net insurance gain on assets destroyed in fire. 

33.1 This represents rental income from investment property from OmyaPack (Private) Limited (joint venture of the Holding 
Company) and Packages Convertors Limited (subsidiary of the holding company). 

Others 
Provision and other unclaimed balances written back 

- note gg.z 

-note33.1 
8,960 
4,552 3,938 

694 2,252 
98,296 35,836 

205,416 130,000 
331,933 
42,044 9,316 

691,895 181,342 

21,777 27,513 

713,672 208,855 

Income from non-financial assets 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Rental income from investment property 
Scrap sales 
Government grant 
Reversal of impairment on property plant and equipment 
Insurance claim 
Others 

(Rupees in thousand) Othe~ income 33. 
2021 2022 

32.1 This represents donations made to Packages Foundation ('foundation'). Syed Aslam Mehdi and Syed Hyder Ali being the 
Directors of thecompany are also Directors of the foundation while another Director of the company, Mr Khurram Raza Bakhtayari is 
the Honorary Secretary of the foundation. 

293,211 233,700 
85,718 85,696 
65,591 88,849 

1,189 
887,172 332,900 

22,082 
1,077 

17,377 

1,349,069 z6:i142J 

-note 32.1 

Workers' profit participation fund 
Workers' welfare fund 
Donations 
Material written off 
Exchange Joss-net 
Loss on disposal ?f fixed assets 
Advances written off 
Miscelianeous 

2022 2021 

(Rupees in thousand) . 32. Other operating expenses 

31.2 Distribution and marketing cost include Rs 0.071 million (2021: Rs 0.804 million) for stores and spares consumed. 

3,299 3,168 
720 1,716 

2,152 2,291 
3,124 3,476 
9,295 10,651 

Defined contribution plans 
- Provident fund 
- Pension fund 

Defined benefit plans 
- Gratuity fund 
-Accumulated compensated absences 

2022 2021 

,. (Rupees in thousand) 
31.1 Salaries, wages and amenities include the following: 



Diluted earning per share has not been presented as the Company does not have any convertible instrument in issue as at December 
31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 which would have any effect on the earnings per share if the option to convert is exercised. 

3,112,102 
1,091,873,871 

2.85 

3,279,536 
1,091,873,871 

3.00 

40.21 

11.21 

{0.11) (0.01) 
(0.12) (0.18) 

3.01 - 
3.12 - 

(1.09) (0.87) 

4.85 - 
1.55 0.60 

29.00 29.00 

%age 
2021 2022. 

36.1 Diluted earning per share 

Rupees in thousand 
Numbers 
Rupees 

Profit for the year 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
Earnings per share 

36. Earning per share 

Average effective tax rate charged to the statement of profit or loss 

•. 
Numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate 

and the applicable tax rate 
Applicable tax rate 
Tax effect of amounts that are chargeable to tax at different rates 
Tax Credits 
Super tax charged during the year 
Super tax for prior year charged during the year 
Tax effect of impairment reversal in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised', 
Deferred tax previously not recognized 
Amounts that are not deductible for tax purposes - net 

Tax charge reconciliation . . . 35.1 

The Company's provision for current and deferred tax is based on separate return method as explained in note 4.1. 

1,337,265 813,217 
171,000 

1,508,265 813,217 
697,483 429,514 

2.20s,z48 lz242zZ31 

1,167,730 474,466 
1,109,855 360,698 

8,881 16,520 
2,286,466 851,684 

9,855 8,733 

2,296,321 860,~pz 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2.022. 

Deferred tax 

Current tax 
- current year 
-prior year 

Taxation 3:>· 

Bank charges 

Interest and mark-up on: 
- long term finances - secured 
- finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 
- lease liabilities 

34. Finance costs 

In addition to above, the Company is also entitled, under the insurance policy, to claim loss incurred due to business interruption. 
Therefore, subsequent to the year-end the Company has submitted the initial communication to the Insurance Company's surveyor 
for the recovery of loss due to business interruption. However, the loss claim is yet to be acknowledged and confirmed by the 
Insurance Company therefore it has not been recorded in these financial statements. 



1,063. 1,065 Average number of employees during the year 

1,061 1,084 Total number of employees as at year end 

38, Number of employees 

2022 2021 

37.3 During the year, the Company paid meeting fee amounting to Rs 1.950 million (2021: Rs 1.850 million) to its non- 
executive directors. The number of non-executive directors is 6 (2021: 6). 

Short term employee benefits 

Managerial remuneration 14,654 11,606 119,526 95,811 

Housing 6,591 5,219 63,114 49,506 

Utilities 1,465 1,160 16,419 12,369 

Bonus 18,622 13,166 153,501 106,435 

Leave passage 1,221 967 4,219 4,327 

Medical expenses 208 209 5,373 4,489 

Club expenses 24 36 

Others 2,999 4,196 33,195 18,058 

45,760 36,547 ·395,347 291,031 

Post employment benefits 

Contributions 4,907 4;007 35,488 29,622 

Other long term benefits 

Accumulating compensated absences 
368 290 2,784 5,315 

51,035 40,844 433,619 325,968 

Number of persons l 1 6 6 46 36 

37.2 The Company also provides the chief executive and executives With Company vehicles and mobile phones: 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 

Executives Directors Chief Executive 

37.1 The aggregate amount charged in the financial statements for the year for remuneration, including certain benefits, to 
the chief executive, directors and executives of the Company are as follows: 

Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives 37. 

,... 



All transactions with related parties have been carried 0•1t on mutually agreed terms and conditions .. 

39.1 This represents remuneration of the Chief Executive and some of the executives that are included in the remuneration disclosed in note 37 to these financial statements . 
• 

iii. Key management personnel 

ii. Others 

Purchase of services 66,930 60,625 
Sale of goods and services 528 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 28,889 185 
Rental charged to the Company 80,352 76,021 
Dividend Paid 1,500,796 2,661,879 

Purchase of g_oods and services 1,256,457 777,336 
Sale of goods-and services 8,682,332 6,026,635 
Purchase of Property, plant and equipment 50,849. 34,344 
Rental charged by the Company 4,552 3,938 
Insurance premium charged 318,371 205,316 
Insurance claims received 3,110,896 23,586 
Material loan given 49,969 
Material loan received 408 

Donation 65,591 26,497 

Remuneration - note 39.1 139,820 126,410 

i. Holding Company 

Nature of transactions Relationship with the Company 
(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

The related parties comprise Holding Company, subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Holding Company, directors, key management personnel and post employment benefit plans of 
the Company. The Company in the normal course of business carries out transactions with various related parties. Amounts due from and to related parties are shown under receivables and 
payables, amounts due from directors and key management personnel are shown under receivables and remuneration of directors and key management personnel is disclosed in note 37. Other 
significant transactions with related parties are as follows: 

39. Transactions with related parties 

... ~ 



® N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 
N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

100% 

%age of 
shareholding of 

Company 

Chief Executive Officer 

Post Employment Contribution Plan 

Post Employment Contribution Plan 

Post Employment Benefit Plan 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Associate 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Group Company 

Holding Company 

Relationship 

Not Applicable 

Not Applicable 

Not Applicable 

Not Applicable 

4th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi. 

4th fldor,'the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jaml, Clifton, Karachi. 

4th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi. 

Plot# G,1, G-4 Napier Quarter, Karachi 

7th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 701-713, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi. 

7th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 701-713, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi. 

4th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi 

G-20, Block 9, Khyaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi 

4th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi 

4th floor, the Forum, Suite No. 416-422, G-20, Block 9, 
Khayaban-e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi 

Registered Address 

Pakistan Asghar Abbas 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited· Pakistan 
Employees' Provident Fund 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Pakistan 
Limited - Management Staff Pension 
Fund 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited- Pakistan 
Employees' Gratuity Fund 

Pakistan StarchPack (Private) Limited 

Pakistan Packages Real Estate (Private) 
Limited 

Pakistan Packages Foundation 

Pakistan Tri-Pack Films Limited 

Pakistan IGI Life Insurance Limited 

Pakistan IGI General Insurance Limited 

Pakistan Omya Pack (Private) Limited 

Pakistan DIC Pakistan Limited 

Pakistan Packages Convertors Limited 

Pakistan Packages Limited 

Country of 
Incorporation Name 

39.2 The related parties with whom the Company had entered into transactions or had arrangements/agreements in place during the year have been disclosed below along with their basis of 
relationship: 

" .:, 



(9,647,075) (19,130,546) ==-==== 

(9,663,765) 

16,690 

(19,148,276) 

17,730 

3,199,341 1,099,727 

(902,146} (153,796) 

(13,338,417) (4,987,147) 

(2,600,841) (405,449) 

(1,988,920) (1,143,161) 

(5,798,763) 1A37,I44 

64,185 52,793 

14,005 28,605 

1,613,405 1,478,113 

(19,384) 6,201 

28,744 30,271 

16,209 16,049 

14,365 2,219 

(331,933} 

(205,410) (130,000) . 
(21,771) (27,513) 

2,296,321 860,417 

887,172 332,900 

(8,96o) 22,082 

9,832,220 7,026,970 

4,354,833 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

Finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 

Cash and bank balances 

42. Cash and cash equivalents 

Effect on cash flow due to working capital changes: 

Increase in trade and other payables 

Increase in stores and spares 

Increase in stock-in-trade 

Increase in loans, advances, deposits, 

prepayments and other receivables 

Increase in trade debts 

Exchange loss 

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

Profit before working capital changes 

Finance costs 

Adjustment for: 

Provision for retirement benefits 

Provision for accumulated compensated absences 

Depreciation on operating assets 

Depreciation on spares and stand-by equipment 

Depreciation on right-of-use assets 

Amortisation on intangible assets 

Impairment loss on financial assets 

Insurance gain on assets destroyed in fire 

Reversal of impairment loss on capital work-in-progress 

Provision and other unclaimed balances written back 

Profit before taxation 

41. Cash generated from operations 

40.1 Actual production is less than the installed capacity due to gap between market demand and supply. 

94,155 

231,431 233,380 

93,444 

2021 2022 

Actual production 

265,000 

96,000 

2021 

275,000 

96,000 

2022 

Capacity 

Paper and board mill 

Corrugator 

40. Capacity and production - tonnes 



(1,026) (5,002) 

(1,030) (11,200) Trade and other payables 

1 

4 6,197 

Loans, advances, deposits, 

prepayments and other receivables 

Cash in hands 

InEURO 

(6,620) (2,925) 

(6,637) (6,991) Trade and other payables 

1 

4,065 

Loans, advances, deposits, 

prepayments and other receivables 

Cashin hand 

InUSD 

( in thousand) 

2021 2022 

The Company is exposed to currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and the 
Euro. Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. Currency risk arises when future 
commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Company's functional 
currency. Currently, the Company's currency risk is restricted to amounts payable to foreign entities. · 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Currency risk arises mainly from future commercial transactions or receivables and payables that exist due to 
transactions in foreign currencies. 

{i) Currency risk 

(a) Market risk 

The Company's overall risk management procedures to minimize the potential adverse effects of financial market on the Company's 
performance are as follows: 

Risk management is carried out by the Company's finance department under policies approved by the board of directors. The 
Company's finance department evaluates and hedges financial risks. The board provides written principles for overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of 
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash 
flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's financial performance. 

43.1 Financial risk factors ·,. 

43. Financial risk management 



The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or Joss. Therefore, a change 
in interest rate at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss of t!ie Company. 

16,334,092 31,407,038 Net exposure 

6,670,327 

9,663,765 

12,258,762 

19,148,276 
Long term finances - secured 

Finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 

Financial liabilities 

Floating rate instruments 

126,429 66,747 Net exposure 

126,429 66,747 
Financial liabilities 

Lease liabilities 

Fixed rate instruments 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

The Company analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 
refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these scenarios, the Company calculates the 
impact on profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest­ 
bearing positions. At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments were: 

The Company's interest rate risk arises from short term and long-term borrowings. These borrowings issued at variable rates expose 
the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. 

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rate. As the Company bas no significant iloating interest rate assets, the Company's income is substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 

(iii) Interest rate risk 

Other price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
The company is not exposed to equity price risk since the company has not invested in any listed equity securities. The company is 
also .10t exposed to commodity price risk since it does not hold any financial instrument based on commodity prices. 

(ii) Other price risk 

At December 31, 2022, if the Rupee had weakened/ strengthened by 10% against the US Dollar with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profit for the year would have been Rs 46.959 million lower/ higher (2021: 83.668 million higher/ lower), mainly as a result 
of foreign exchange losses/ gains on translation of US Dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities. 

·r. 

At December 31, 2022, if the Rupee had weakened/ strengthened by 10% against the Euro with all other variables held constant, post­ 
tax profit for the year would have been Rs 103.431 million lower/ higher (2021: Rs 14.692 million higher/ lower), mainly as a result 
of foreign exchange losses/ gains on translation of Euro-denominated financial assets and liabilities. 



Not past due 1,096,918 565,265 

Upto 9odays 34,656 14,347 

90 to 180 days 6,012 93 

Above 180 days 13,428 

1,151,014 579,705 » 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

The aging analysis of trade receivables from related parties as at statement of financial position date is as follows: 

Balances with banks 

Loans, advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 

Trade debts 

87,263 83,973 

4,637,638 2,308,042 

567,003 148,726 

15,867 15,288 

5,307,771 2,556,029 

Long term security deposits 

(Rupees in thousand) 

2021 2022 

The Company monitors the credit quality of its financial assets with reference to historical performance of such assets and available 
external credit ratings. The carrying values of financial assets exposed to credit risk and which are past due but not impaired are as 
wider: 

(i) Exposure to credit risk 

Credit risk of the Company arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The management believes that it is not 
exposed to major concentration of credit risk. The management assesses the credit quality of the customers, taking into account their 
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance 
with limits set by the board. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. For banks and financial institutions, only 

· independently rated parties with a strong credit rating are accepted. 

Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss being caused if counter party fails to discharge an obligation. 

(b) Credit risk 

At December 31, 2022, if interest rates on floating rate borrowings bad been 1% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, 
post-tax profit for the year would have been Rs 175.117 million lower/ higher (2021: Rs 80.547 million higher/ lower), mainly as a 
result of higher / lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings. • 



The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months preceding the reporting date and the 
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within the aforementioned period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 
current and forward-looking information based on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables. 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade debts. 

Trade debts 

The Company's trade debts against local and export sales of inventory are subject to the expected credit loss model. While bank 
balances and debt investments carried at amortised cost are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified 
impairment loss was immaterial. · 

1,015 
19 45 

=======1=5=,8=6~z~c=="""===1~5=,2=8=8· 

39 
14,852 

352 

40 
14,206 

562 
17 
8 

2022 2021 
(Rupees in thousand) 

Short Long Rating 
term term Agency 

. 
Deutcsche Bank AG, Pakistan A-2 A- S&P 
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS 
MCB Islamic Bank Limited Al A PACRA 
The Bank of Punjab Al+ AA+ PACRA 
Bank IslamiPakistan Limited Al A+ PACRA 
Meezan Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS 
1~ational Bank of Pakistan • A-1+ AAA PACRA 

(c) Impairment of financial assets 

TI1e credit quality of company's financial assets (majorly bank balances) that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by 
reference to external credit ratings as follows: 

(ii) Credit quality of financial assets 

0.24% 
3.45% 
7.30% 

77.41% -----""'-'-'- 

4,559,255 5,127 
951,353 12,678 

132,560 6,691 
9,408 9,224 

5,652,576 33,720 

3,161,754 7,630 
463,416 15,988 
44,910 3,278 

4,944 3,827 
3,675,024 ~0,723 

Not past due 
. Up to 90 days 

90 to 180 days 
Above 180 days 

December 31, 2021 

0.11% 
1.33% 
5.05% 

98.04% -------- 

Not past due 
Upto 90 days 
90 to 180 days 
Above 180 days 

Rupees in thousands 

Loss 
Allowance Trade debts Expected 

Loss rate 

Local Sales December 31, 2022 

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade debts. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates art! hased on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months 
before December 31, 2022 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the trade debts. The Company has identified the Gross Domestic Product and the Consumer Price Index of the country in which it 
majorly sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected 
changes in these factors. On that basis, the loss allowance as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was determined as follows: 



Accrued finance cost 

· Trade and other payables 

9,663,765 9,663,765 
9,663,765 

4,413,606 4,413,606 4,413,606 

236,478 236,478 236,478 

21,110,605 21,135,792 14,359,162 2,046,331 3,647,663 1,082,636 

up arrangements - secured 

Finances under mark 

59,057 45,313 151,616 126,429 Lease liabilities 

1,082,636 3,588,606 1,999,085 6,670,327 6,670,327 Long term finances - secured 

At December 31, 2021 Overs 
years 

a to g 
years 

1 to 2 
years 

Lessthant 
year 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

(Rupees in thousand) 

. At December 31, 2022 Carrying Contractual Less than r r to 2 2to5 Overs 
amount cash flows year years years years 

Long term finances - secured 12,258,762 12,258,762 1,353,023 2,471,256 6,489,755 1,944,728 
Lease liabilities 66,747 73,290 50,353 18,407 4,530 

.Finances under mark 

up arrangements - secured 19,148,276 19,148,276 19,148,276 
Trade and other payables 8,175,025 8,175,025 8,175,025 
Accrued finance cost 1,104,083 1,104,083 1,104,083 

4o',752,89:t 40,759,436 29,830,760 2,489,663 6,494,285 1,944,728 

The table below analyses the Company's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
unciiscounted cash flows as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

Management monitors the forecasts of the Company's cash and cash equivalents (note 41) on the basis of expected cash flow. This 
is generally carried out in accordance with practice and limits set by the Company. These limits vary by location to take into 
account the liquidity of the market in which the entity operates. In addition, the Company's liquidity management policy involves 
projecting cash flows in each quarter and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet its liabilities, monitoring 
statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt 
financing plans. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the company's business, the company's 
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. At Dec 31, 2022, the 
Company had Rs 16,600 million available borrowing limits from financial institutions under mark up arrangements and Rs 17.730 
million in cash and bank balances. 

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Company shall encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. 

Liquidity risk (d) 



11,015,186 5,811,483 

19,130,546 9,647,075 
30,145,732 15,458,558 

15,778,051 14,153,430 

45,923,783 29,611,988 

66% 52% Percentage Gearing ratio 

- note 6 

- note 42 

Borrowings 

Add: Cash and cash equivalents 

Net debt 
Total equity 

· Total capital 

(Rupees in thousand) 
2021 2022 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders or issue new shares. 
Consistent with the others in industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net 
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings including the current and non-current borrowings as disclosed 
in note 6 less cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in note 42. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the statement of 
financial position plus net debt. The gearing ratio as at year is as follows: 

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. 

43.4 Capital risk management 

There are no significant financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements 
· and similar agreements. 

43.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 

12,258,762 6,670,327 

66,747 126,429 

19,148,276 9,663,765 

8,175,025 4,413,606 

1,104,083 2361~28 
40,752,893 21,110,605 

Long term finances - secured 

Lease liabilities 

Finances under mark-up arrangements - secured 

Trade and other payables 

Accrued finance cost 

Financial liabilities 

87,263 83,973 
5,618,856 3,644,301 

567,003 148,726 

17,730 161620 
6,290,852 3,893,690 

Long term security deposits 

Trade debts 

Loans, advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 

Cash and bank balances 

· Financial assets 

(Rupees in thousand) 
202.1 2022 

At amortised cost 

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements approximate their fair values. Fair value is 
determined on the basis of objective evidence at reporting date. 

• 
43.2 Financial instruments by categories 



Chief Executive 

l\i:T,,~punc!ing fir;ures haw lll'l'll 1·cc:Jm,sifi~d whcl't·!\'Cl' 1w1•,•ss111')' lo 1'1:!llc,tct mon· .ippru[>rinlt> prt•St•nl;;tit•11 of t,\'(•nts ,111.I 
cransodinns for 1111• p1111mse <1f 1~.:11tpaii~n11 uml hc•lh!r prt·seni,1tlo11. l-!ow1•,·1·r. nu ~ignifi(',illf rccla;,;~ific,1tio11 h;1s he<·11 uiadt'. 

.. ~ . 

46. Co1·1·es1>onding 11gnres 

'.\lon,owr. th1, lloard of f>iri,dur~ have· apprnved nu int,,rim cash ,lividl'nd for !he.jl('.l'iod,·nck,d' February 28, :202:> ()f Rs. 0.3:!1 ptir 
shnre (2021: u.119:!) 11mt1unrinl,( to R!i. :350 milJfo,1 <:w:u: wu.45 millioni. ·· • 

The Board of Directors have proposed a final cash dividend for the y,•ar ended ne,·cmbcr 31, :11i:t? of Rs o.r.;50 p,•r share (2021· K'> 
0.73::!J, amountin~ lu Rs 600 million (!:.!u:i.1: Rs Hua million) Ht lkir nwetinl\ held nn l\l:ird1 :!1, 2.02~1 tur nppn,v,1! of 1ite 11w111hcrs 
at 1!w ,\111111111 Ocnernl Mcetini; whid1 is sd1cduled to he held c,11 April 27, 2023. 

45, fa·(•nls ullm• the stutement offiii1mci:1l roi1siti01i date 
•. 

..i.:t 1.Jatc of authoriwtion for issue 

·111 .. r,• ,wre 110 muu-riul Li.•v<-1 1, :.i ur :l a~,ets or li.ihililie~ during current 01· prior vear. 
The rv were 110 tr,1nsfors between levels I and ~ for recurriuj; foir value measurements duriug t!w Y<'.11'. 

Spl'dti(:, aiuuticn teclmiques u,<•d llJ vuluc fin and al i11sln111ic111s include: 
· Quoicd prices ,unadjusted) in ,1rtiH' markets for idemieul assets or liabilities (lev(•l i). 

· lnputs other than qu111ecl price, included within level I that nre ohservuhle for the .issc1 nr liuhiliry, ci1lw1· diJec:ily II hut is, a~ 
prb,s) or indirectly (that is, derivedfrom prices) (level !I), 

- f 11p11ts for I he ;,sst<t or li11hilily tlml are no! hased on observable iunrket data (llwl is, unobservable inputs) [level :1). 

Tilt: c:,rr,vin)!. mnount Jess impnirmen! provislon ofirmlt' rct·1•ivable,. and µayabfos ,ir,• ;iss111n1:J lu upproxirnate tht•ir tuir values. Thl· 
fair 1·:1h1c• of financial liuhllitics for disclosure purposes is csti111:1lNI by'disr1,tmli11!,'; the fulur£· rnni1·11('l11al cash ik.w~ al the current 
market interest rate 1h:11 is uvnilahlc to tlH• Cmrip.iny for siuular (i11a11dral :11.~l1·11mc11ts. 

Fair value is th,• amount for which an nsset coultl be exchanged, or liabilitv settled, between l.1111,1·11.•d;:t:abk~ 1·;i11i11g panh,s in an 
urrus lell!lth trunsactiun, Umll·rlying the d1:finitio11 ill' foir value is th<' prem1mpCi@ llrnl lhc Cumpuuy is u llui111; concern witlumt 
auy intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale 01· its operations or Lo underiuk« n transaction on adverse terms. The 
c.il'l'~·ini; values of all fi11u11ci11I nssets and liabilities' reflected ln these finaneial statements approximnte their fair values, Fair value 
ix determlned on Ila, basis of ohjt'1.'lh'c• evidence al ea,·h reporting dato, 

43.5 F.1iI• value esthnnticn 

l Iude-r rue tcru.s of the ~,t":rt:l:ti!enh ;,,1· iun~ tt.-•n11 huarn:,·s ~!;HL'r,'.d m\11 htll1 1::1riotZ,"i l,~,atkf!-> d~ rt·frrn'.Li 111 UHtt~ h, I.ht: Ct11npa11.v ,~ 
required l.o climply with certain lin:ml"iai 1:•Jn:11:1111~. The Co111pill\l' nus .:omplit•.d with all tuc cuveuants throughout the year exn!pt 
of Loau mentloned in o.:l-3 tluu requires the Company tu maintain Jess than 2 leverage. Nun-eompliunce with this covenant restrict 
thl' Crnnpany tu dlstribute dividends tu its shareholder. The Compan)' is u1 lhu process II> clnuln waiver over such restriction and 
expected to obtain the same. 

..;:i-4· • Loan cuvenunts 

- (' 

.. ::· .. ·. '\. 
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Waqas Munir - Chief Financial Officer 
He joined Packages in 2014 as Manager 
Internal Audit and is associated with the 
Group for 9 years. He served as Group 
Head Internal Audit and Group Head HR. 
He is a Chartered Accountant and · 
Certified Internal Auditor. 

Faisal Haneef - Business Unit Head (PBD) 
He joined Packages in 1998 and is 
associated with the Group for 25 years. 
He is a Mechanical Engineer from UET 
with Master's degree from Asian Institute 
of Technology, Thailand and MBA from 
Nanyang Technological University, 
Singapore. 

Management Profile ,A.1Wa~!~ 
Asghar Abbas - Chief Executive Officer 
He joined Packages in 1998 arid is 
associated with the Group for 25 
years. He is an Engineer from UET 
with MBA from Nanyang 
Technological University, Singapore. 



Q ,., 

He joined Packages in 2015 as IR Manager 
and is associated with the Group for 8 
years. He has over 14 years of experience 
in HR and IR management. He has MBA 
Marketing degree from University of· 
Lahore and Master of HR Management 
Degree from University of Punjab. 

Ahsan Cheema - 
Cluster Head of Human Resources 

He joined Packages in 2003 as Production 
Engineer and is associated with the Group 
for 20 years. He is a Mechanical Engineer 
from UET with MBA from Nanyang 
Technological University, Singapore. 

Syed Ali Murtaza Bukhari - 
Business Unit Head (Corrugated Packaging) 

Management Profile 
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BSP FUTURE BUSINESS PLANS 



... . . 

• BSPPL is wholly owned by Packages Limited 

• BSPPL spread over 225 acres of land expanded its product lines to Liquid 
Packaging Board, Folding Box Board, White Line Chip Board, Writing Paper 
and Photocopy Paper, Test Liner and Fluting/Corrugated medium paper 

• BSPPL currently has the capacity to produce 360~000 tons of paper and 
board, and 210 million corrugated boxes annually 

• BSPPL setup a captive co-generation thermal plant for its self consumption 
of electricity and steam requirement · 

• Biomass thermal co-generation plant has the Gross Installed Capacity of 41 
MW and Gross Operational Capacity of 30 MW (at present}, with the boiler 
of 150 TPH steam, which is utilized in the manufacturing process 

.a a A~~~• lliJPl ... A ., - t>a.atllrl'llbga <t)'4'..t.r1Gc1G1~:::se1~0,i 
- ... __ .... Qiliillin · ---- :=:= · · ·--·-:.:; ... /-:·_-;:..--- .. r~:~-~;._:i·.-::- .. :,·<t'.J>:;tr\.//_ ... >·.-.:- .". 

BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 
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• BSPPL got Generation License for Biomass thermal generation plant 
from NEPRA on 12 Nov 2020 

• BSPPL got permission for supplying of electricity to its associated company 
OmyaPack Private Limited (BPC) under Second-Tier Supply Authorization 

• Interconnection between BSPPL and BPC is on private land, electricity supplied 
exclusively through a private underground cable/feeder operating at 220/440 
volts 

BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 
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·-·-·---·-· Steam RequJrement _ 
97TPH 

__________ Electricity_Requirement _ 
32MW 

• BSPPL supply arrangement and steam requirement 
BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 
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• Investment on paper board machines has increased production 
capacity by 50% on both machines. From 240,000 tons to 360,000 
tons annually. 

• Further investments will increase production capacity by 20%. 
• This expansion will increase both the electricity requirement and 

steam requirement of 12 MW and 9 TPH respectively in next 2 to 3 
years. 

• All these changes along with relocation of businesses to Kasur will 
increase electricity requirement. 

BSPPL BUSINESS PLANS 



ELECTRICITY REQUIREMENT (MW) :1) 

YEAR 3 
J 

YEAR 2 ; YEAR 1 STEAM REQUIREMENT (TPH} · 

BSPPL YEARLY ELECTRICITY/STEAM REQUIREMENT' 



• With these planned investments the electricity requirement of the 
complex is expected to increase to 49 MW. 

• Current electricity generation is around 26MW. With planned 
investment this can go up to 45 MW by 2026. 

• BSP has the financial capability to invest in these expansion projects as 
demonstrated in the past. 

ELECTRICITY OUTLOOK 2024-26- 
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YEAR 3 YEAR 2 t. ~ YEAR 1 INVESTMENT (PKR Million) 

• BSP has invested around USO 300 million in last three years. Future 
investments planned are around USO 200 million. 

BSPPL INVESTMENT PLAN 



Muhammad Alif Chaudhry I Atif.Chaudhry@pacra.com I +92-42-35869504 

Sector Study I Paper and Packaging(Nov-22) 

Methodology I Corporate Rating(Jun-22),Methodology I Correlation Between Long-term & Short-term Rating 
Scales(Jun-22),Methodology I Rating Modifiers(Jun-22) 

Bulleb Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited 

Q - . 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited 'BSP' or ('The Company') ratings reflect the strong sponsor's profile, established 
market position,' and adequate financial profile. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Packages Limited. The assigned 
rating takes into account the strong governance framework, strong control environment, and qualified and experienced 
management team. BSP is predominately manufacturing i) Corrugated boxes and ii) Paper & Paper boards. As per management 
representation, the Company's market share in the overall industry (Paper & Board) is almost -15%. Liquid packing board (falls 
under the purview of paper & Board) - the Company is the sole manufacturer in this segment, and Corrugated board - BSP is the 
major supplier and holds 16% market share. During CY22, the utilization level remained on the higher side Corrugator-97% and 
paper and board 85%. In order to improve productivity and capture further market share of imported paperboard, BSP has 
performed BMR on its paper and board mill. 
As far the financial performance is concerned, the top line of the Company has shown an increasing trend due to an increase in 
sale price but the increase in prices of products has impacted demand. Though, an industry-wide volumetric decrease in sales has 
been reported but, the selling prices have absorbed the impact to much extent During 6MCY23, the Company generated a top 
line of -PKR 31,39lmln (6MCY22: -PKR 21,63lmln, CY22: -PKR 47,589mln), showing an increase of - 32% in revenue. 
However, considering i) PKR depreciation ii) foreign exchange losses, and iii) finance cost, the bottom line of the Company 
clocked in at -PKR 996mln in 6MCY23 decreased from -PKR 2,03lmln in 6MCY22 (CY22: -PKR 3,280mln). The Company 
is strengthening its revenue base by devising new business strategies in the export segment. The Company has received -PKR 
6bln insurance claim during the period which is partially utilized for BMR and working capital management. On the other side, 
leverage indicators continue to remain elevated on account of higher utilization of short-term and long-term borrowings for 
funding working capital-requirements and performing BMR work on its paper and board mill respectively. However, STB has 
been reduced due to efficient working capital management. The Company is also exploring ways to reduce the reliance on 
imported raw materials so that, the supply chain can be made more efficient. Going forward, the impact of higher finance costs 
& overheads on profitability is expected to be offset by an improvement in margins and an increase in the top line. However, the 
Company has been managing its energy requirements by using a mix of Biomass, Gas, and supply from WAPDA. 

The ratings are dependent upon the management's ability to improve margins while sustaining its market share. Prudent 
management of the working capital, and maintaining sufficient cash flows and coverages are imperative for the ratings. Any 
significant decrease in margins, profitanility and coverages will impact the ratings. 

ca: •••• 
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Bulleh Shah Packaging (Pvt.) Limited 
Rating Report 

Working Capital The Company has reduced the working capital requirement by efficiently managing the inventory and reducing receivable days by collecting sales in 
advance. the Company's net inventory days decreased to -119 days from -129 days in CY22 which inventory days are still very high because BSP has imported raw 
materials in huge quantities due to the rise in raw material prices and currency rate fluctuations. Meanwhile, trade receivable days also decreased to -30 days from -36 
days during the same period. During 6MCY23 the trade payable days increased to -SS days from -S3 days during CY22. Con.,equcndy, the Company's net working 
capital days decreased to -94 days during 6MCY23 from -111 days at the end of CY22 
Covuqes In 6MCY23, the Company's FCFOs stood at -PKR 6.S87mln increasing from -PKR 4,619mln in 6MCY22 (CY22: -PKR 8,734mln, CY21: -PKR 
6,504mln). But during 6MCY23, FCFO/Finance cost stood at - 2.6x decreased from - S.9x of coverage during 6MCY22 (CY22: -3.Bit. CY21: -7.6x) due to a significant 
increase in the finance cost. The finance cost stood at -PKR 2,S34mln increased from -PKR 790mln (CY22: -PKR 2,296mln, CY21: -PKR 860mln); however, this is 
still o healthy coverage level for the Company. 
Capitalzadon The Company has a highly leveraged capital structure. Long-term debt is related to expansion activities, whereas short-term debt is related to worlcing 
capital management. The Company has planned to finance CAPEX partially with a mix of debt and equity. At the end of 6MCY23 the long-term borrowing has increased 
to -PI<R 14,999mln from -PKR !O,SS!mln cnd-CY22 (end-CY21: -PKR 4,732mln) and the fixed assets increased to -PKR 29,910mln from -PKR 26,144mln end.CY22 
(end-CY21: -PKR 17,534mln). While the short-tenn borrowing bas decreased to -PKR 14,038mln from -PKR 19,J48mln during the same period (eod-CY21: -PKR 
9,66Smln). Consequently, at the end of 6MCY23, the total borrowing has decreased to -PKR 30,80Smln from -PKR 3!,S8Smln at the end of CY22 (end-CY21: -PKR 
!6,S07m!n). The long-term liabilities are -111% of equity at the end of 6MCY23 (CY22: -81%, CY21: -42%). Its gearing ratio bas decreased from -66.7% at the end of 
CY22 to -6S.6% at the end of6MCY23 due to a decrease in total borrowings, while ithu remained at -53.Bo/, in CY21. 

Industry Dynamics Pakistan's packaging industry consists of four major segments, paper, plastic, tinplate and glass. Paper and plastic segments occupy the major share in 
total market Despite, the economic slowdown caused by several issues, demand for the segment remained almost consistent as it falls in the supply chain of various 
essential products and industries. The segment's direct costs consist largely of imported raw materials. Chemical wood pulp is one of the main raw materials in the 
production of paper packaging. Therefore, volatility in exchange rates and international price trends has an impact on costs. 
Relative Position The Company's market share in the overall industry (Paper & Board) is almost -15%. Liquid packing board (falls under the purview of paper & 
Board) - the Company is the sole manufacturer in this segment, and Corrugated board-BSP is the major supplier and holds 16% marlcet share. 
Revenues The Company's top line shows ait increasing trend due to increase in sale price but the increase in prices of products has impacted demand. Though, an 
industry-wide volumetric decrease in sales bas been reported the selling prices have absorbed the impact to much extent. During 6MCY23, the Company generated a top 
line of -PKR 31,391 min (6MCY22: -PKR 21,63 lmln, CY22: -PKR 47,589mln, CY2J: -PKR 36,938m!n), showing an increue of - 32% in revenue. 
Margins In 6MCY23, the gross margin and operating profit margin both decreased as compared to 6MCY22. The GP margin decreased from - 23% in 6MCY22 to - 
20.4% in 6MCY23 (CY22: -20.So/o, CY21: -18.3%) while the OP margin decreased from - 20.3% in 6MCY22 to - 17.8% in 6MCY23. However, during CY22 and 
6MCY23 considering i) PKR depreciation ii) foreign exchange losses, and iii) finance cost, the net profit margin of the Company dccreued from - 9.4% in 6MCY22 to - 
3.2% in 6MCY23 (CY22: -6.9%, CY2 I: -8.4%). 
Sustainability The Company has a well-established brand name in the market, especially in consumer products. Going forward, in order to strengthen its market position, 
BSP has recently done BMR to enhance the production capacity of the paper and board division and corrugator division. Going forward the Company is also planning for 
further ex ansion plans including new projects which wiU ma'orly reduce the dependence of BSP on imported pul . 
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Oraanizational Structure The Company hu established a well-deflned management structure divided into functional departments with clear lines of responsibilities. 
Management Team The Company's CEO, Mr. Asgbar Abbas bu joined Packages Limited in 1998 and developed strategic and functional level expertise in packaging 
business over the years while serving at various positions in different companies of the Packages Group. 
Elfectl .. neso The experience of the sponsors along with a professional management team has helped the Company to streamline their operations and cut down on their 
costs. Tu production facilities have minimal wastage which is effectively managed through re-cycling and re-using in the process 2SO tons of paper per day. 
Mrs To generate MIS and operational reports, ERP software, SAP ECC6 is used. 
Control Environment To ensure operational efficiency, the Internal Audit Function is in place that identifies and reports risks. The audit committee reviews the internal 
audit department reports and planned activities. 

Board Structure 11,c Company has a seven members board comprising one independent directors, five non-executive diRctors and one executive directors (including the 
CEO). The board is chaired by Mr. Syed Hyder Ali. Apt Board size and presence of independent oversight supplements good governance framework, , 
Memben' Pronle The BoD, with a well-diversified background and relative expertise of its members, is a key source of oversight and guidance for the management The 
Chainnan of the Board Mr. Syed Hyder Ali is a seasoned business professional and carries a track record of successful business ventures with him. All other members arc 
professionally qualified with extensive experience and diversified skill mix. 
Board Effectiveness The Board met six times during CY22, with the majority attendance to discuss pertinent matters. Toe minutes of the meetings are documented 
properly. To ensure effective governance, the Board has fanned three committees. namely, (i) Audit Committee (ii) Executive Committee (iii) Human Resource and 
Remuneration Committee Both committees arc chaired by non-executive directors. 
Financial Transparency Mis A.F. Ferguson & Co, arc the external auditors of the Company. They gave an unqualified opinion on the Company's financial statements for 
the year ended Dec 31, 2022. The board has also established an internal audit dcoartmcnl 

Ownership Strudure Bulleh Shah Padcaging (pVL) limited is 100% owned subsidiary of Paclca11es Limited. 
Stability Packages Limited is the flagship investment holding company of the Ali Group which bu a history spanning over a period of more than 6S years. Packa11es'C 
investment book comprises entities engaged in the manufacturina and sale of inks, flexible packaalng material, paper, paperboard, and corrugated boxes, biaxially 
oriented polypropylene film and cast polypropylene film, pcodoction and sale of ground calcium carbonate products, entities engaged in insurance, power generation, real 
estate segment of the economy and recently diversifyin11 into manufacturing of com-based stan:h. 
Business Acumen The Group is ranked amongst the leading industrial groups of the COW!lry with interests in paper and packaging. financial institutions, education. 
Packages Limited hu significant successful joint ventures with intcmatiooal conglomerates and long standing relationship with various multinational companies. 
Flnandal Stnnph Packagca bu a consolidated total assets of - PKR 172bln and equity of - PKR 66.7bln and eoerated a turnover of-PKR 121.Sbln during CY22. 
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Disclaimer: P ACRA bas used due care in preparation of this document. Our information bas been obtained from sources we consider to be reliable but 
its accuracy or completeness is not guaranteed. P ACRA shall owe no liability whatsoever to any loss or damage caused by or resulting from any error 
in such information. Contents of P ACRA documents may be used, with due care and in the right context, with credit to P ACRA Our reports and 
rating; constitute opinions, not recommendations to buy or to sell 

e) Holding Company Rating 
f) Independent Power Producer Rating 
g) Microfinance Institution Rating 
h) Non-Banking Finance Companies Rating 

Note. Thia scale is applicable lo the followins methodology(s): a) Broker Entity Rating 
b) Corporate Rating 
c) Debt Instrument Rating 
d) Financial Institution Rating 

Outlook (Stable, Positive, Radn& Watcla Alerta to the Suspension It is not Withdrawn A rating ia Harmonization A 
Nei:ative, Developing) Indicates possibility of a rating change possible to update an withdrawn on a) chanp in rating due to 

the potential and direction of a subsequent to, or, in opinion due to lack termination of rating revision in applicable 
rating over the intermediate term in anticipation of some material of requisite mandate, b) the debt methodology or 

response to trends in economic identifiable event with infurmation. Opinion Instrument is underlying scale. 
and/or fundamental indeterminable rating should be rewmcd in redeemed, c) the rating 

busincss/fuiancial conditions. It is in1plications. But it docs not foreseeable future. remains suspended for 
not necessarily a precursor to a mean that a rating change is However, if this ai>< months, d) the 
rating change. 'Stable' outlook inevitable. A watch should be docs not baPPCn entityrissuer defaults., 
means a rating is not likely to resolved within foreseeable within si>< (6) or/and e) PACRA finds 

cbanp. 'Positive' means it may be future, but may continue If months, tho rating ii impractical to surveill 
raised. 'Negative' means it may be underlying circumstances arc should be considered the opinion due to lack 

lowered. Where the trends have not settled. Rating watch may withdrawn. of requisite 
conflicting clements, the outlook accompany rating outlook of information. 

may be described as 'Developing". the respective opinion. 

Sun•elllance. Surveillance on a publicly disseminated rating opinion is carried out on an ongoing basis till it is formally suspended or withdrawn. A 
comprehensive surveillance of rating opinion la carried out at least once every six months. However, a rating opinion may be reviewed in the 
intervening period if it is necessitated by any n1aterial happening. 

•nre correlation shown U lndicatiw, and. in certain 
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Definition I scale 
Sbort-term Rating 

Credit rating reflects forward-looking opinion on credit worthiness of underlying entity or instrument; more specifically it covers relative ability to honor 
financial obliptions. The primary factor being captured on the rating scale is n,lative likelihood of default. 

Long-term Rating 
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Monitoring and review 
( 18) PACRA monitors all the outstanding ratings continuously and any potential change therein due to any event associated with the issuer, the security 
arrangement, the industry etc., is disseminated to the market, immediately and in effective manner, after appropriate consultation with the entity/issuer; I 
Chapter Ill I 18-(a) 
(19) PACRA reviews all the outstanding ratings on semi-annual basis or as and when required by any creditor or upon the occurrence of such an event 
which requires to do so; I Chapter m 118-(b) 
(20) PACRA initiates immediate review of the outstanding rating upon becoming aware of any information that may reasonably be expected to result in 
downgrading of the rating; I Chapter m 118-(c) 
(21) PACRA engages with the issuer and the debt securities trustee, to remain updated on all information pertaining to the rating of the entity/instrument; 
I Chapter III I 18·( d) 
Probability of Derault 
(22) PACRA's Rating Scale reflects the expectation of credit risk. The highest rating has the lowest relative likelihood of default (i.e, probability). 
PACRA 's transition studies capture the historical performance behavior of a specific rating notch. Transition behavior of the assigned rating can be 
obtained from PACRA's Transition Study available at our website. (www.pacra.com). However, actual transition of rating may not follow the pattern 
observed in the past I Chapter Ill I 14-(f·Yll) 
Proprietary lnfonnatlon 
(23) All information contained herein is considered proprietary by PACRA. Hence, none of the information in this document can be copied or, otherwise 
reproduced, stored or disseminated in whole or in part in any form or by any means whatsoever by any person without PACRA's prior written consent 

Independence & Conflict or Interest 
(12) PACRA receives compensation from the entity being rated or any third party for the rating services it offers. The receipt of this compensation has 
no influence on PACRA's opinions or other analytical processes. In all instances, PACRA is committed to preserving the objectivity, integrity and 
independence of its ratings. Our relationship is governed by two distinct mandates i) rating mandate· signed with the entity being rated or issuer of the 
debt instrument, and fee mandate· signed with the payer, which can be different from the entity 
(13) PACRA does not provide consultancy/advisory services or other services to any of its customers or to any of its customers' associated companies 
and associated undertakings that is being rated or has been rated by it during !IJe preceding three years unless it has adequate mechanism in place 
ensuring that provision of such services does not lead to a conflict of interest situation with its rating activities; I Chapter ill; 12-2-(d) 
(14) PACRA discloses that no shareholder directly or indirectly holding 10% or more of the share capital of PACRA also bolds directly or indirectly 
10% or more of the share capital of the entity which is subject to rating or the entity which issued the instrument subject to rating by PACRA; I 
Reference Chapter ID; 12·2-(f) 
( 15) PACRA ensures that the rating assigned to an entity or instrument is not be affected by the existence of a business relationship between PACRA and 
the entity or any other party, oc the non-existence of such a relationship I Chapter ill; 12-2-(i) 
( 16) PACRA ensures that the analysts or any of their family members shall not buy or sell or engage in any transaction in any security which falls in the 
analyst's area of primary analytical responsibility. This clause shall, however, not be applicoole on investment in securities through collective 
investment schemes. I Chapter III; 12-2-(1) 
(17) PACRA has established policies and procedure governing investments and trading in securities by its employees and for monitoring the same to 
prevent insider trading, market manipulation or any other market abuse I Chapter Ill; 11 ·B·(g) 

Conduct of Business 
(6) PACRA fulfills its obligations in a fair, efficieni, transparent and ethical manner and renders high standards of services in performing its functions 
and obligations; I Chapter ID; 11-A-(a) 
(7) PACRA uses due care in .preparation of this Rating Report, Our information has been obtained from sources we consider to be reliable but its 
accuracy or completeness is not guaranteed. PACRA does not, in every instance, independently verifies or validates information received in the rating 
process or in preparing this Rating Report I Clause 11-(A)(p). 
(8) PACRA prohibits its employees and analysts from soliciting money, gifts or favors from anyone with whom PACRA conducts business I Chapter ill; 
11-A·(q) . 
(9) PACRA ensures before commencement of the rating process that ail analyst or employee has not had a recent employment or other significant 
business or personal relationship with the rated entity that may cause or may be perceived as causing a cQDflict of interest; I Chapter ID; 11 ·A·(r) 
( l 0) PACRA maintains principal of integrity in seeking rating business I Chapter ill; 11-A-(u) 
( 11) PACRA promptly investigates, in the event of a misconduct or a breach of the policies, procedures and controls, and takes appropriate steps to 
rectify any weaknesses to prevent any recurrence along with suitable punitive action against the responsible employee(s) I Chapter ID; I l·B·(m) 

Restrictions 
(3) No director, officer or employee of PACRA communicates the infonnation, acquired by him for use for rating purposes, to any other person except 
where required under law to do so. I Chapter ill; 10-(5) 
( 4) PACRA does not disclose or discuss with outside parties or make improper use of the non-public information which has come to its knowledge 
during business relationship with the customer I Chapter ill; 10-7-(d) 
(5) PACRA does not make proposals or recommendations regarding the activities of rated entities that could impact a credit rating of entity subject to 
rating I Chapter DI; 10-Hk). 

2) Connie! orinterest 
i, The Rating Team or any of their family members have no interest in this rating I Chapter ID; 12·2-0) 
ii. PACRA, the analysts involved in the rating process and members of its rating committee, and their family members, do not have any conflict of 
interest relating to the rating done by them I Chapter ID; 12·2-(e) & (k) 
Iii. The analyst is not a substantial shareholder of the customer being rated by PACRA [Annexure F; d-(ii)) Explanation: for the purpose of above clause, 
the term "family members" shall include only those family members who are dependent on the analyst and members of the rating committee 

RaUng Team Statements 
( I) Rating is just an opinion about the creditworthiness of the entity and does not constitute recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security of the 
entity rated or to buy, hold or sell the security rated, as the case may be I Chapter ID; 14-3-(x) 



Deponent 
Khur ram Raza Bakbtayari 

Director 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

I, KHURRAM RAZA BAKHTA Y ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representative of 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.) LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue of 
BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, hereby solemnly affirm and declare that the 
following license has been granted by the honorable Authority to Bulleh Shah Packing Private 
Limited: 

I. Generation License No. SGC/151/2020 dated November 12, 2020, for supply of electricity 
to one Bulk Power Consumer i.e., Omya Pack (Private) Limited (the "BPC") in place of 
originally allowed Second Tier Supply Authorization. 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
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Deponent 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 

Director 
BULLER SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

2. That nothing has been concealed or misstated in the accompanying Application. 

I. That the accompanying Application for grant of Electric Power Supplier license in liue of 

Second-Tier Authorization for a consumer of generation company not connected to the 

DISCOs network filed before the National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, the 

contents of the same form an integral part of this affidavit, are true and correct to the best 

of my knowledge and belief. 

.. 
I,_ KHURRAM RAZA BAKHT A Y ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representative of 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.)-LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue of 

BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, do hereby declare and affirm on oath as under: 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
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Deponent 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 

Director 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

I, KHURRAM RAZA BAKHTAY ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representative of 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.) LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue of 
BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, hereby solemnly affirm and declare that the 
Applicant is compliant with and shall always fulfill the obligations imposed on it under the 
National Electricity Policy and National Electricity Plan made under section 14A of the Act. 
Moreover, the applicant commits to adhering to relevant o~ligations where applicable as per laws. 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
. THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

,:::t,;,s-'+..,. ,:;;"" ....,, ,.., A~ lp ;1.,,s,,;.,......._...._,;,.J<'-'.,s .,..u-,1.,L,;1.,..,.., J.Oi .... .,,S.S..u.,l,.;.I.,. ,:;;"" ,..,.., c,F.:,.,...;.)...,, .:..,. 

Type "eStamp <16 digit eStamp Number>" send to 8100 

Amount ln Words: Three Hundred Rupees Only 
Reason: In Favor of National Electric Power Regulatory Authority 
Vendor Information: Shuja Ud Din I PB-LHR-2432 [ Badami Bagh 

Applicant: 
Representative From : Bulleh Shah Packaging Pvt Ltd 
Agent: Akash Yousaf (35201-5161816·1] 
Address: Lahore 
Issue Date: 27-Nov-2023 4:32:33 PM 
Dellsted On/Validity: 4-Dec-2023 

..,.'.'!- 
,.. AFFIDAVIT - 4 

Bulleh Shah Packaging Pvt Ltd [00000-0000000-0] 
Description: 

111111111111m11m1m111111n11 Ill irh 
Scan for online verification 

PB-LHR-BB26DFB73A941FCO 
Low Denomination 
Rs ~00/- 

ID: 
Type: 
Amount: 

E-STAMP 



Deponent 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 

Director 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

I, KHURRAM RAZA BAKHT A Y ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representative of 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.) LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue of 

BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, hereby solemnly affirm and declare that the 

Applicant is compliant with and shall always fulfill all the requirements of The Eligibility Criteria 

(Electric Power Supplier License) Rules, 2023. Moreover, the applicant commits to adhering to e . relevant obligations where applicable as per laws. 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

·.:t<il-- .. .,l.,,.°""1'""•~J,µ.....,..,..,,,Jo'-".,1~• ..... ~Jljd,,:1..Uw""'-c-'.,.i~~).,:O:.JI 
Type "eSlamp <16 dlgij eStamp Numbot>" send IO 8100 

~: 

Issue Date : 1-Dec-2023 10:43:51 AM 
Dellsted On/V1lllll(y: .,._ 8-Dec-2023 
Amount In Words : Three Hundred Rupees Only 
Reason: IN FAVOUR OF NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
Vendor lnforrnatrcn : Muhamamd Sa~ I P&-LHR.f;75 I Fero1e Pur Roa.d 

LAHORE Add_ress: 
MUHAMMAD NAZIR (35202-2433508·7 

AFFIDAVIT -4 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING PVT l TO [00000-0000000-0J 
BUUEH SHAH PACKAGING PVT LTD 

Description : 
Applicant: 
R1present.1tlvti: 
A1ent: 

$can for anllne -· 

111111111111111111111111011~1 

E-STAMP 

PB-lHR-4CA13316BE2CFA8C 
low Denomination 
Rs.300/- - 

10: 
Type: 
Amount: 
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BY ANDBETWEEN 

CALCIPACK (Pvt.) Umlted ("CALCIPACK') 

AND 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED;("BSP") 

~:1p·,'~~~;·<?~-:;~;:~~~¥:·~~f~~fit~~1~;.~J;;.;··:.'.:.·':t;;~t~ ... :. . ·~~~T~~~~;~~~T,G:·:-~~::1 
:{:);./,/::'/: '<+82~).,3,ff8cc:t''i;-1J-!·:,,)).:(:,: :;''_ ','( i,f;~;·:·;';).\.,;,,:ir,"J JI.IJ~lllllJ!1.tHl,t1.uq1igJ,IR!IJ~]IJl).l.~JI., -. ,_. - ! '.::i;~;/ : - _ ,. -x- ,_ ,,,,,- .• "' """ •--< ·-,·:·,:;, ,, , __ ~ • ,, ·- .• - ' -:- ,,, :;c,:,.,·,.·,-~-.-k,::":,,·,ll;--,, ,.·;,: ,):,,<:; · .•. ;.-.-,'." .a; ~.:,·'.·:•, .. .-<::.,:.-.· c,··:i ,,:;,:':-',·.· ._, • ,._, .•. - .v ·',-: 

:: . ·~-.,.. ·-· 
\t}fr\'_ 



\ 
\ 
\ 
' l 

l).hasra No. Kana ls 

2790 8 
2791 8 
2798 8 
2799 8 
2800 8 
2801 8 
2g&4 8 
Total 56 

(a) CALCIPACK is a company which manufactures products based on natural calcium 
carbonate mainly by grinding & classifying processes. 

(b) BSP is the sole and absolute owner of the following land, situated at Mouza Herdosehari, 
Tehsil and District Kasur, 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED, a company incorporated under the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984 with its registered office at 4th Floor, The Forum, Suite No.416. 
422, G·20, Block 9, Khayaban-e-Jsrni, Clifton, Karachi (hereinafter referred to as "BSP", which 
expression shall, wherever the context so iequires or permits, includes its successors-in-interest, 
representatives 111\d assigns) of the OJHER f'ARI and acting through Mr. Syed Aslam Mehdi s/o 
Syed Asbhad Mehdi, holding CNlC No. 42201-3145966-S •. 
(BSP and CALCIPACK are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "PARTIES") 

WHEREAS 

• 
AND 

CALCIPACK (P\1.) Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies'Ordinani:e. 1984. 
with its registered office iu 4th Floor, The Forum, Suite No.416-422, G-20, Block-9, Khayaban­ 
e-Jami, Clifton, Karachi (hereinafter refereed to u "CALCIPACK", which ~pressian shal\, 
wherever the context so ~uires or pemiiU, includes its successcrs-la-ieterest, reprcscn1atives 
nnd petmi\ted assigns) of the ONE PART and aeting through Mr. Fucci Ur Rebman s/o Fan\ 
Ur Rehman, holding CNIC No. 35202-2425947-3. 

BY AND BETWEEN 

This Tenancy Agreement is made at Lahore on this .,fday of Seere:~2016; • 
LAND LEASE AGREEMENT 

-·, .1'. ~ ·.•• •. ·J 

~:;i:,•.'': :,;>~\1ffci:?'1iF)1?}I;~~~l?:~~%:."%'.it~~~~};t;~2~~t'J~iW;~t?lf~~~~ir.lilt~f6~'.Jt,:f1\ 

\ 
\ 



(iii) BSP does not guarantee provision of electricity, gas, water, conservancy and 
sewerage facility nt the PREMISES during the term of the tenancy or any 

(i) BSP is the sole and exclusive owner of the PREMISES and warrants that it has 
good, valid and legal title to the PREMISES. 

(ii) BSP shall fully defend its title in and to the PREMISES and will indemnify 
CALCIPACK against any damage, costs, charges, expenses, claims, fees and/or 
expenses which CALClPACK may suffer or be exposed to by reason of any claim 
against the title or defect in title of the PREMISES. 

as delineated in the Site Plan. duly signed by the parties. and attached herewith as 
Aonexure 'A' (the said area of 56 kanals hereinafter collectively referred to as 
"PREMISES") is intended to be rented out by BSP to CALCIPACK on the terms and 
conditions contained hereunder. 

~.~· .. 

r., 
',• ', 

2. CALCIPACKs' Covenants 

CALCIPACK covenants with BSP as follows: 

(i) The purpose of the Premises shall be only for ground calcium carbonate 
manufacturing. Without the prior consent of BSP, CALClPACK cannot utilize the 
PREMISES for any other purposes. 

(ii) CALCIPACK shall pay all utility bills i.e. in respect of water, electricity, gas, 
conservancy, municipal services and telephone and incidental charges and claims i~ 
arising therefrom in respect of and utilized in the PREMISES during the term of I the tenancy including any Government Taxes and charges resulting from the 
conduct of business by CALCIPACK. For avoidance of doubt, in no event shall 
CALCIPACK be liable to make payment of any bills, taxes and charges relating t to property taxes which shall be the sole and exclusive obligation ofBSP. 

l· 

(iii) CALCIPAK shall pay all future taxes and other local municipal tax & Federal tax 

t ~ 

or imposed by any authority to carry out the business, except those laid out in 
Clause 2 (ii), 

fl (iv) CACLIPAK shall not sublet the PREMISES to any person(s) or company during I the subsistence of this agreement or any renewal thereof. 

3. BSP Covenants I 
BSP covenants with CALClPACK as follows: 

(c) NOW, THEREFORE, THIS TENANCY AGREEMENT WITNESSETH AS ,.....,..... 
FOLLOWS: ~,"i''.11':it 
Rental. Lease Tegn~ent Tenn fl I" --~~ ~{Dt 

(\,, I""(;,.. \ -\1,.-1.ee. \\ :'e-. ~'-' 
Total ren\.f<li REMIS~all be PKR 3.150 million (Pakistan Rupee~ mlllion ~~J'A 
one hundrea,. . nd) annually, which shall be. payable by CALCIPACK to BSP in 
advance on the date of commencement· of tenancy (to be agreed between the parties) 
under this Agreement All payments of the rental amount in terms of this Tenancy = shall be. subject to deductions I withholding of all t~e~ as may be required. ~of rW.:i~ 
under the applicable law. *'" ,p..! f ~~ 

• ~ ~T II, · c.. ~1' 
1.2 The lea:se of the Premises shall commence from ~ ~ and bi~ for ten () 0 ·~e· ~~r 

years. The ten (10) years lease is renewable with inutuaPagreement, -~- .. ~-::.- 

~ I .3 The Parties agree that the rental shall be the same for 3 years from the commencement 
date defined in clause 1.2 and that the rental shall be increased after every three years by 
25% (twenty five percent) as per Anae:ii:ure 'B', 



.............................................. i.,::,~~--!!11 J 

(ii) On receipt of the said proposal, BSP shall consider, including right to say no 
based on valid reasons, or agree to do either of the following: 

6. Additions to the PREMISES 

(i) For initial construction and if in the opnuon of CALCIPACK, it appears 
necessary for its operntions that additions or improvements to the PREMISES are 
necessary, CALCJPACK shall submit to BSP written proposals including the 
costs. 

(ii) 

grant the right to occupancy of the PREMISES, either temporarily or free of 
charge or otherwise, to any third party; and 

assign its rights under the Sale Deed (except mortgage in favour of financial 
institutions) without CALCJPACK's prior written consent and provided that the 
assignee shall (a) undertake. to comply with the terms and conditions of this 
Tenancy Agreement; (b) recognize the rights of CALCIP ACK as a tenant of the 
PREMISES; and (c) confirm and undertake that the rights of CALCIPACK as a 
tenant of the PREMISES shall not be adversely affected in any manner 
whatsoever. 

(i) 

Obligations ofBSP 

During the term of this Agreement, BSP shall not: 

5. 

(ii) BSP has the right to obtain from the management of CALCIPACK such 
information as may be required for ensuring regulatory compliance in relation to 
the PREMISES. 

(vii) BSP shall at all times during the term of this Tenancy Agreement comply with all 
applicable regulations in relation to the PREMISES Md shall not attempt_ to take 
any action which would result in BSP defaulting of such obligarioris. BSP further 
agrees to indemnify and keep harmless CALCIP ACK against any costs, charges, 
expenses, claims, fees or actions that may arise as a result of BSP failing to 
comply with its obligations in relation to the PREMISES and vice versa. 

(viii) BSP has the . requisite authorization and authority to rent the PREMlSES to 
CALCIPACK forthe term specified herein. 

4. Rights ofBSP 

(i) BSP has the right to inspect the PREMISES with adequate notice during normal 
working hours. 

(v) BSP shall be responsible to pay charges, bills and taxes referred in Clause 2(ii) 
only for the period prior to the commencement of the tenure of the tenancy under 
the Tenancy Agreement BSP shall provide to CALCIPACK the requisite 
payment challans in respect of such charges, bills and truces to CALCIPACK. 

(vi) All property and other land related taxes in respect of the PREMISES and any 
expenses related to reclassification of land for industrial use shall be solely borne 
byBSP, 

extension thereof and CALCIPACK acknowledges and accepts this position. 
CALCIP AK will be responsible to get these connections from the concerned 
authorities. However, · BSP shall make reasonable· efforts to facilitate 
CALCIPACK in obtaining these connections. 

(iv) BSP shall allow CALCIPACK quiet and peaceful use of the PREMISES without 
any interruption whatsoever. 

((f 



Any notice required to be given under this Tenancy Agreement including any notice of 
change of address pursuant to this Clause shall be in writing. Such notice shall be 
sufficiently served if properly addressed to the other party at the addresses given below 
and sent by registered post (acknowledgement due) or courier: 

Any disputes or differences arising out of or relating to the interpretation or effect of any 
term of this Tenancy Agreement, and/or breach of any term of this Tenancy Agreement 
shall, unless amicably settled, be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the 
Arbitration Act 1940 of Pakistan, which rules shall be deemed to be incorporated by 
reference into this clause. The number of arbitrators shall be three (3). Each party shall 
have the right to nominate one (I) arbitrator and the two party appointed arbitrators shall 
nominate the chairman of the tribunal within sixty (60) days of the date of appointment of 
the second party appointed arbitrator. 

This Tenancy Agreement shall be governed in accordance with the laws of the Islamic 
Republic of Pakistan. 

................................ 1111111 ~t~ 

Governing Law and Arbitration 8. 

7.4 In the event of a termination, CALCIP ACK shall remove the plant & machinery on its 
own cost and give back to BSP the Premises, within 12 months since the effective date of 
the termination, subject to clause 6 above. 

BSP.may terminate this Agreement by giving prior written notice to CALCIPACK ofnot 
Jess t~an twelve (12) months. · 

This Tenancy Agreement may be terminated by CALCIPACK by serving three (3) 
months prior written notice to BSP at any time during the tenure of the tenancy. Upon 
termination by CALCIPACK in accordance with this any advance rent paid by 
CALCIPACK to BSP shall be immediately refunded and returned to CALCIPACK 
without any deduction or set-off. 

Renewal and Tem1ination 

CALCIP ACK and BSP hereby undertake to execute all necessary documents or deeds as 
may be required to give effect to any renewal of the tenure of tenancy under this Tenancy 
Agreement. 

(iii) CALCIPACK shall have the right to put up its signboard, name-plate, logo, 
emblem, flag and national tax number etc withiri the parameters of the 
PREMISES and at the main entrances of BSP, subject to. restrictions imposed by 
the local body concerned. CALCIP ACK shall also be entitled to use the postal 
address of BSP as its postal address: 

(b) allow CALCIPACK to arrange for construction, additions or 
improvements to be carried out on its own, in which event BSP shall have 
the right (inclqding reasonable right to say no )r at the end of the tenn 
hereof or termination of this Agreement, to buy from CALCIPACK at the 
book value of the said construction, additions or improvements as per the 
audited financial statements ofCALCIPACK. 

(a) arrange from BSP's funds for the said construction, additions or 
improvements to be carried out. in which event BSP agree beforehand on 
a higher rental after such construction; additions or improvements; or 

(. 

- 7. 

• 7.1 

7.2 

7.3 
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IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
SIGNATURE OF WJlNESSES 

• 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Tenancy Agreement has been signed by the Parties on the day, 
month and year first above written in the presence of witness . 

To BSP: Mr. Syed Aslam Mehdi 
Shahrah-e-Roomi 
P;O Amer Sidhu, Lehore, 54760 

To CALCIPACK: Mr. Fazeel Ur Rehman 
Shahrah-e-Reomi 
P.O Amer Sidhu, Lahore, 54760 

.... 

······~·-·_........,.__ ... ,t?·•;;,::,,,., .. 



.._________ ! 

• 

ANNEXURE 'A' 

' .,. 

.. -·-~~- .-~ 

e 
' 

I • 
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..................................... ------ ·~·~, ~__. 

-.······~?/ 

e . 

.... ~- .,_ ... ··,:•,;.•:.--:--~·-· -- . ·-·· ... · 

Sr.No. Period Rent 
PKR per annum 

I Year 1 3,150,00Q 

2 Ycar2 3,150,000 

3 Year3 3,150,000 

4 Year4 3,937,500 

5 Years 3,937,500 

6 Ycar6 3,937,500 

7 Year7 4,921,875 

8 Year8 4,921,875 

9 Year9 4,921,875 

10 Year 10 6,152,344 

c 

ANNEXURE •e• 

.. 
' 

r·· 
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Paper • Board • Corrugated Products 

BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Packages Group company 

-T ~u_bmitted_ wit.h .--I Annexur~ \\ ith 

4l111t1al Application th' A 1. . 
(p ) rs pp icuuon age no. I 

Certificate of Incorporation with SECP_. . 32 ] '.~ . 

RErinnNSlB' ~ Lahore Office Kasur Factory Karn.::, ··):ci, uru, Li.. S~ahrah-e-RoomiP.O.Amer Kasur .. 7KM,KotRadhaK'1shanRd. 4H,-,:.' ,-·1,.TheFon.u.,. 
Sidhu, Lahore-54760, Off4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, Bi()CI, 1'-.11i'iyd,an-e-.h,,1. 
Ph: 042-35811541-46 Kasur - 55050 Clittor. · ., ;-,chi 

Ph: 049-2717335-45 Pl): !l:, .. •;;;,,:P 'i 

r--1-- 
1 # Documents Required 

The required information is provided as follows: 

1. Information/documents reg uired under Rule 3 of Supplv Eligibility Criteria Rules: 

Capitalized terms used herein which have not been defined shall have the same mcanmg as 
given to such terms in !3SPPL's initial application. 

4. 

3. fn accordance with paragraph 3 of the NEPR.t.\ letter. we would like to bring. to your c111~.::11io11 
that the requisite information, as stipulated by the Eligibility Criteria (Electric Power Su 1 'I >I iLT) 
Rules, 2023, had been previously submitted along with the initial application. Howcx er. It u: 
your convenience and reference, we are herewith providing the said information. 

The fee remitted for the submitted application was calculated based on the NO\ ember 
indexation for the projects with capacity up to l O MW, as the fee structure for December .2023 
was not available at that time. We would like to confirm the submission of the outstandine lee 
amounting to 20, 11 I/- herewith, aligning with the necessary requirements. 

') ... 

In response to your aforementioned letter, we would like to apprise you that BS PPL has .ilrcady 
diligently addressed each item highlighted by NEPRA in its letter No. NEPR/\!I< : .\S­ 
I 00/3 8102 dated I 1.12.2023 (received on 12. 12.2023) ("NEPRA Letter"). 

I. 

Dear Sir, 

APPLICATION FOR GRANT OF ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIER LI( ENSE 
IN LIVE OF SECOND-TIER AUTHORIZATION FOR SALE.\ OF 
ELECTRJCITY TO OMYA PACK (PRIVATE) LIMITED (BPC) ~OT 
CONNECTED TO THE DISCOs NETWORK 

SUBJECT: 

To: 
The Registrar 
National Electric Power Regulatory Authority 
NEPRA Tower, Attaturk Avenue (East) 
Sector G-5/1, Islamabad 

Reference: Letter No. NEPRA/R/LAS-100/38102 dated 11.12.2023 (received on 12.12.2023) 

December 20. 2023 
Ref: AG/ 50•i 

Abdul Zaki
Rectangle



BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Packages Group Company 

Paper • Board · Corrugated Products 

Clifloi, 
r/·,: u.: 

Kasur - 7 KM, Kot Radha Kishan Rd. 
Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, 
Kasur-55050 
Ph: 049-2717335-45 

Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O. Amer 
Sidhu, Lahore - 54760, 
Ph: 042-35811541-46 

b. 
I 

I 
I 

D 

c Strategic Business Plan for the three years duly 134_ 141 
111. 

certified by CEO or CFO or Company_ Secret~.!}'._- -------------+--- 
i~- ·I Minimum Human Resource Re9uire111ent 130-133 

: An Affidavit signed by duly authorized officer in 'i 149 
'J1]1e form as provided in Schedule-Ill .. . 

Information regarding ability to ensure pro1~ 
and effective coordination with the syst~~~ J ~s BSPPL generator and BPC arc nut 
operator. market operator and relevant distribution ,1 connected to the grid, wherever required 

vi. licenseestocomplywiththeprovisionsofthegrid we will ensure the communication. 
code, distribution code, commercial code, and , however as per our understanding this 

I other rel~vant legal instruments as aQJ.ili_cablc. --l compliance requirement should he 

I Information regarding ability to discharge the I deemed as not applicable. 
I following public service obligations: 

vii. : a. quality of electric power supply service by: II BS PPL is applying for supplier license in 
\ i. Automated systems or software tools I ieu of second tier authorization to :ii ign 
j .. ~!:_~illing and colle~tion _ _ I' c.xistin~ authorization with supply 

\ 11. Exchange system tor commu111cat1ons. regulations. 
I j and transactions with the market 

; L~perator, system operator, disu_·ibution . . 

hl_1censees, and other relevant entities . 
complying with the performance I --------· -1 
standards and any codes specified by the BS PPL -11 1 · .1 I , . 
Al - c. .. , I. , w1 compy witn i1cl ut ionty ror provision or e ectnc I · · . 1 1 ff . performance standards and anv L·;,tk•s . 

I power services, parncu ar y, e recuve , . _ .· . . . ·. . .. 
d · I b'IJ" d ll · f specified by the Authority Io: p1c1\1\1,,11 

L; an time Y I mg an co e~tion ° of electric power services if applicable 
charges, customer support services and ' 

_ resolution of consumer complaints ---·--- --· 
j iv. timely dissemination of BSPPL affirms its commitment In i .-1 cC2_1_npliance as applicable. · 1 

I , v. Maindtainindgdthe ~omplete ai1:ct1a1 ccurate 

I 
:,-. recor s an ata In respect o · a aspects 

of electric power supply business . All BSPPL hereby affirms its co111111it11k'1ll · 

such. records a,:d data shall, unless I tl)_ rnaintainin~ record_s in accordance 
j ,· provided otherwise under the law. be with the specified requrrcmcnts. 
· maintained for a period of five years · ; 

after the creation of such record or data; _. __ _ j \l \ 
Information regarding transparency of BS PPL is committed to compliance 11 ith • 
transaction by: all applicable regulations. Presently. 11...: • 

1. compliance with the accounting I adhere to the International Finnucial I 
standards and uniform system of Reporting Standards (I FRS) ru1 , .ur J 

accounts as specified by the Authority reporting requirements. It is notewouhy j 
and in addition to that ensure that A.F. Ferguson & Co. serves ,h ihc ; 

liance w"th i1 ·national financial auditors for BSPPL, ensuring th~_J 
ara.. ,,·::ficE- 

416-,1:. .<W. The f'ol'1•,),. 
Blew!· • · /;:,1y"lhan-(, ... .L-:,, .i. 

... _ ..... I 
I 

I- .. !: -------·---------------·-- ---· -- --11·---Sub-mitt-ed~iti1·--i·--A---··-- . 
1 I " . . . . nncxure wun 

I # 

1: 

Documents Requirtd _ , Initial Applicarlon I 1. A 1. . 
I (P ) t us pp 1ca11011 age no. 1 

Information regarding Minimum Solvency .. ·-· - .. __ \ 
II. R . 142-146, 71 B cgu1rement _ 



BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Paclcages Group Company 

Paper · Board · Corrugated Products 

. >:'(ii.;t) 
, . :-:r;. The Forum. 

:·.:i 1~1ynh,.1rt-\i-.b 11i 
. ;::y:hi 
. f;)i·\fifl. l 1 

Karac 
4Hi-,r-· 
Blocl. 
Cliftc,1, . 
Pt1: o:·· 

Kasur Factory 
Kasur - 7 KM, Kot Radha Kishan Rd. 
Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, 
Kasur-55050 
Ph: 049-2717335-45 

Lahore Office 
Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O. Amer 
Sidhu, Lahore - 54760, 
Ph: 042-35811541-46 

d. Collection and deposit of any and all . . 
I b · db h F d 1 BS PPL acknowledges its com1111tme111 to sure targes as may e impose y t e e era 1. d -11 di 

G . . . comp ranee an wt a ,ere to anv. 
I overnment and applicable taxes 111 a timely I 

1. 
bl 

1 
• • if · · d ff · app ica e c iarues m its speer re case. _l._ __ a1~ ect1ve manner. __j___ ~ _ __ . 

.nul 

if applicabk-~~1 i1s.J deposit the charges 
instant case. 

property. 
The NE Policy and NE Plan rcquuc a 
competitive supplier to pay for :-:,rid 
charges, including the cross subsid , and 
stranded cost, only 111 case the : 
competitive supplier's generator and the 

11. BPC are both connected with the !-'.rid 
directly or indirectly. 

I Moreover, BSPPL will collect 

--BS PPL has to acquire an Ele~t~i~- I),,,, er -i 
Supplier License from the Authoriiv i11 
accordance with the Licensing · 

I 
Regulations, read along with the 
provisions of the Electric P\1\\t:I" 

\ Supplier Regulations pursuant to lilt 
letter dated December 12, 2022. h;11. ing ' 
Reference/No. NEPRA/DG (LicJ/1 \( i- 
30/23448 issued by NEPRA, w]: ... r.-in i 

I 
BSPPL was directed to apply for Electric I 
Supplier License. It is crucial t\1 

Collection and deposit of the following emphasize that the BPC is not connected 
charges, as may be determined by the to any grid infrastructure and opcr.ucs : 

I 
Authority, in a timely manner. including: but exclusively within the same prernisc-. on ; 
not limited to- l a privately owned property uncle! the : 
1. transmission use of system charges; boundary rational. For abundant claritv. I 

11. distribution use of system charges; it rs stated that BS PPL is suppl', i11g 
I 

iii. market and system operator fee; and electricity to BPC which is llOl • 

rv. any other charges as provided in rule 5 connected to LESCO and fu11c1i(111s 
of these rules solely on same premises r.e., private 

C. 

# 
Submitted with I A -----1 

Documents Required Initial Application I th~nAexu•1·~.~iith 
I 

(p ) 
rs pp icutinn . age no. 

1---+--- reporting standards (IFRS) as ap.j)tic~~ integrity and accu1~1cy ti its -r;~;.111, ial 
_ in Pakistan; rc~ords. . -·---·--··-- 

ii. Sharing the necessary information and As 8SPPL is not connected to the gl'id. 
data through website or portal as wherever required we will share the 
required by any legal instrument required information, however as per tH11· 

understanding this compliance 
iii. Information required by the Authority I requirement should be deemed a~ nut 

for the purpose of monitoring applicable. 



BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
A Packages Group Company 

Paper • Board • Corrugated Products 

Karac. rr;ice 
416-,j·• · · ,-/0, !"he r:on!r.,. 
Block , i1.11.1v.iban-e· ,J,m11 . 
Cliftcr.. · ·.,r.,,:ili 
Ph: 02 - .'.:,:,',:·;~14 ·1 

Kasur Factory 
Kasur - 7 KM, Kot Radha Kishan Rd. 
Off 4 KM Kasur-Raiwind Rd, 
Kasur-55050 
Ph: 049-2717335-45 

Lahore Office 
· Shahrah-e-Roomi P.O. Amer 

Sidhu, Lahore - 54760, 
. Ph: 042-35811541-46 

RESPONSIBLE 

Mr. Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 
Director 

For and on behalf of 
Bulleh S · h Packaging (Pvt.) Limited 

Yours Sincerely, 

Your cooperation in this regard will be highly appreciated. 

The copy of the affidavit, as required by Rule 6 of the Supply Eligibility Criteria Rules. is 
enclosed herewith as Annexure - F. It is pertinent to note that the original affidax it was 
submitted with the initial application and can be found on page number 150 nl' the 
application document. 

II. Information/documents required under Rule 6 of Supply Eligibility Criteria Rull's: 



(SIDNEY C. PEREIRA) 
Joint Registrar/Incharge 

Company Registration Office, (\ 
Karachi \ j 

CERTIF!t:U T•?t;i~ C•;F·: \ .. ,J 
FORBULLEHSHIJ,PACiACiNO \lk\VMU ,,~ 

'j' f '.}. 'I '•'/) 'Jl.,. •. /IC/ :.1 ·, ·') , .·•,,1.·. /' /Y:•. · £.1 !(;,( . ··,J..l .r. <,.~., , ,,. o , : 

Rs. 500()/- 

Chien mu/er my Iuuu! al Karachi this 03,,1 tlay ofOctober Two Tlio11s1111,l ,111,/ 
Twelve. 

This change is subject to the condition that for period of 011e ye11r from tire 

date of issue of this certificate, the compm1y shall continue to mention its foruwr 

m1111L' along with its new name on tlte outside of every office or place i11 toliich i!~ 

bus iuess is ca rried 011 and in every doc1111ll!11 t or 110 tice ref erred Lo in cla uses (a) /?JI(/ , d 

of section 7 43, 

l hereby certify that pursuant to the provisions of section 39 of the Compan i,·,; 

Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984), the name of BUtLEH SHAH PAPER MU:!, 

{ERIVATE> LIMITED has been changed to BLlLLF.Ii SHAH PACKAGING (PR/Vt\J f1 
lffi.11TED and that the said company has been duly incorporat ed as a coJ11J"w11 

limited by shares tis a privt1te company_ 1111dcr the provisions of the suit! Ordinance, 

Co111pa11y Registration No: 0052465 

[Under section 40 of tlte Companies Ordinance. 1984 (XL Vll of l98'J)] 

. CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORA TJON ON CHANGE OF NAME 

SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COA1.lvlJSSION OF PAKISTAN 
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Muhammad AtifChaudhry I Atif.Chaudhry@pacra.com I +92-42-35869504 

Sector Study I Paper and Packaging(Nov-22) 

Methodology f Corporate Rating(Jun-22),Methodology I Correlation Between Long-term & Short-term R.11ing 
Scales(Jun-22),Methodology I Rating Modifiers(Jun-22) 

Q - .. 

Bulleh Shah Packaging (Private) Limited 'BSP' or ('The Company') ratings reflect the strong sponsor's profile, established 
market position; and adequate financial profile. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Packages Limited. The assigned 
rating takes into account the strong governance framework, strong control environment, and qualified and experienced 
management team. BSP is predominately manufacturing i) Corrugated boxes and ii) Paper & Paper boards. As per management 
representation, the Company's market share in the overall industry (Paper & Board) is almost -15%. Liquid packing hoard (falls 
under the purview of paper & Board) - the Company is the sole manufacturer in this segment, and Corrugated board·· BSP is the 
major supplier and holds 16% market share. During CY22, the utilization levei remained on the higher side Corrugator-97% and 
paper and board 85%. In order to improve productivity and capture further market share of imported paperboard, BSP has 
performed BMR on its paper and board mill. 
As far the financial performance is concerned, the top line of the Company has shown an increasing trend due to an increase in 
sale price but the increase in prices of products has impacted demand. Though, an industry-wide volumetric decrease in sales has 
been reported but, the selling prices have absorbed the impact to much extent. During 6MCY23, the Company generated a top 
line of -PKR 31,39lmln (6MCY22: -PKR 21,63lmln, CY22: -PKR 47,589mln), showing an increase of - 32% in revenue. 
However, considering i) PKR depreciation ii) foreign exchange losses, and iii) finance cost, the bottom line of the Company 
clocked in at -PKR 996mln in 6MCY23 decreased from -PKR 2,03lmln in 6MCY22 (CY22: -PKR 3,280mln). The Company 
is strengthening its revenue base by devising new business strategies in the export segment. The Company has received -PKR 
6bln insurance claim during the period which is partially utilized for BMR and working capital management. On the other side, 
leverage indicators continue to remain elevated on account of higher utilization of short-term and long-term borrowings for 
funding working capital-requirements and performing BMR work on Its paper and board mill respectively. However, STB has 
been reduced due to efficient working capital management. The Company is also exploring ways to reduce the reliance on 
imported raw materials so that, the supply chain can be made more efficient. Going forward, the impact of higher finance costs 
& overheads on profitability is expected to be offset by an improvement in margins and an increase in the top line. However, the 
Company has been managing its energy requirements by using a mix of Biomass, Gas, and supply from W APDA. 

The ratings are dependent upon the management's ability to improve margins while sustaining its market share. Prudent 
management of the working capital, and maintaining sufficient cash flows and coverages are imperative for the ratings. Any 
significant decrease in margins, profitanility and coverages will impact the ratings. 

Initial AA- 05-Sep-2022 

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited 
IC •••• m: ••• 
2--· .. : 
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Working Capital The Company has reduced the working capital requiremeru by efficiently managing the inventory and reducing receivable days by collecting sales in 
advance. the Company's net inventory days decreased to -119 days from -129 days in CY22 which inventory days are still very high because BSP ha, inipurtcd raw 
materials in huge quantities due to the rise in raw material prices and currency rate fluctuations. Meanwhile, trade receivable days also decreased to -30 days fr,nn -36 
days during the same period. During 6MCY23 the trade payable days increased to -SS days from -53 days durin2 CY22. Consequently, the Company's 11,·1 working 
capital days decreased to -94days during 6MCY23 fmm -Ll l days at the end ofCY22. 
Coverqes In 6MCY23, the Ccmpany's FCFOs stood at -PKR 6,S87mln increasing from -PKR 4,619rnln in 6MCY22 (CY22: -PKR 8,734mln, CY~!: -!'KR 
6,S04mln). But during 6MCY23, FCFO/Finance cost stood at - 2.6x decreased from •5.9x of coverage duriog 6MCY22 (CY22: -3.Sx, CY21: -7.6x) due to a significant 
increase in the finance cost. The finance cost stood at -PKR 2,S34mln Increased from -PKR 790mln (CY22: -PKR 2,296mln, CY2i: -PKR 860mln); however, this is 
still a healthy coverage level for the Company. 
Capitalization The Compnny has a highly leveraged capital structure. Long-term debt is related to expansion activities, whereas short-term debt is related h> working 
capital management. The Company has planned to finance CAPEX partially with a mix of debt and equity. Al the end of 6MCY23 the long-term borrowing b, increased 
to -PKR 14,999min trom -PKR I0,551rnln end.CV22 (end·CY21: -PKR 4,732mln) and the fixed assets increased to-PKR 29,910mln from -PKR 26, 144111111 <'nc!-CY22 
(cnd.CY21: -PKR 17,534mln). While the short-term borrowing has decreased to -PKR 14,038mln from ·PKR 19,148mln during the same period (end-CY! I: -PKR 
9,665m!n). Consequently, at the end of 6MCY23, the total borrowing has decreased to -PKR 30,805min from -PKR 31,585mln at the end of CY22 (end·C:Y:?.J ·. -PKR 
16,507mln). The long-term liabilities are -111% of equity at the end of 6MCY23 (CY22: -81%, CYZI: -42%). Its gearing ratio has decreased from -66.7% :it ihe end of 
CY22 to ~.6% at the end of 6MCY23 due ton decrease in total borrowings, while it has remained at -53.8% in CY21. 

Jndustr,- D1namlcs Pakistan's packaging industry consists of four major segment.!, paper. plastic, tinplate and gloss. Paper and plastic segments occupy th•; 111ai,>r share in 
total marlcet. Despite, the economic slowdown caused by several issues, demand for the segment remained almost conslstem as it falls in the supply chain of various 
essential produclS and industries. The segment's direct C0311 consul largely of imponed raw materials. Chemical wood pulp is one of the main raw materials in the 
production of paper packaging. Therefore, vol utility in exchange rates and intemational price trends has an impact on costs. 
Relative Position The Company's market shore In the overall industry (Paper & Board) is almost -15%. Liquid packing board (foils under the purview or paper & 
Board) - the Company is the sole manufacturer in this segment, and Corrugated board- BSP is the major supplier and holds 16% market shore. 
Revenues The Company's rop line shows an increasing trend due to increase in sale price but the increase in prices of products has impacted demand. Though, an 
industry·wide volumetric decrease in sales has been reported the selling prices have absorbed the Impact to much extent. During 6MCY23, the Company gcncruicd a top 
line of -PKR 31,391 min (6MCY22: -PKR 21,63 lmln, CY22: -PKR 47,S89mln, CY21: -PKR 36,938mln), showing an increase of - 32% in revenue. 
Mnrgins In 6MCY23, the gross margin and operaling profit margin both decreased as compared to 6MCY22. The OP margin decreased from - 23% in '1:CICY22 to - 
20.4% in 6MCY23 (CY22: -20.5%, CY21: -l&.3%) while the OP margin dec=scd from - 20.3% in 6MCY22 lo - 17.8% in 6MCY23. However. durii:1, CY22 and 
6MCY23 considerina i) PKR depreciation Ii) foreign exchange losses, and iii) finance cost, the net profit margin of the Company decreased from - 9.4% in Ii\ ICY22 to - 
3.2% in 6MCY23 (CY22: -6.9%, CY21:-8.4%). 
Sustainability The Ccmpany has a well-established brand name in the market, especially in consumer products. Ooing forward, in order to strengthen its ma, kct position, 
BSP bas =•ntly done BMR to enhance the production capacity of the paper and beard division and corrugator division. Going forward the Company is also ('lanning for 
further ex ansion plans including new projects which will ma'orly reduce the d ence ofBSP on im orted pulp. 

Orpnlzatlonal Structure The Company has established a well-deflned management structure divided into functional departments with clear lines of respon-il.il.rics. 
Management Team The Company's CEO, Mr. Asghar Abbas has joined Packages Limited in 1998 and developed strategic and functional level expertise in p:ickaging 
business over the years while serving ~I various positions in different companie. of the Packages Group. 
Etrectlveness The experience of the sponsors along with a professional management team has helped the Company to streamline their operations and cut down on rhcir 
costs. The production facilities have minimal wnstage which is effectively managed through re-cycling and re-using in the process 250 tons of paper per day. 
MIS To generate MIS and operntional reports, ERP software, SAP ECC6 Is used. 
Control Environment To ensure operational efficiency, the Internal Audit Function is in place that identifies and reports risks. The audit commutee reviews tile internal 
audit department re and planned activities. 1-~ wrmw--i-~~t~":·:,x,:?·~;·,:~:· ·:·.1!E3 

Board Structure The Company has a seven members bean! compnsing one Independent directors, five non-executive directors ancj one executive directors (including the 
CEO). The board is chaired by Mr. Syed Hyder Ali. Apt Board size and presence of independent oversight supplements good gqvemance framework. 
Members' Pronle The BoD, with a well-dlversified background and relative expertise or it> members, is a key source of oversight and guidance for the manugcment. The 
Chairman of the Board Mr. Syed Hyder Ali i, a seasoned business professional and carries a track record of successful business ventures with him. All 0U1cr mcrubers arc 
professionally qualified witl] extensive experience and diversified skili mix. 
Board Effectiveness The Board met six times during CY22, with the majority attendance to discuss pertinent matters. The minutes of the meetings arc documented 
properly. To ensure effective governance, the Board has formed three committees, namely, (i) Audit Committee (ii) Executive Committee (iii) Human Resource and 
Remuneration Committee Both committees are chaired by non-exeeutlve directors: 
Financial Transparency Mis A.F. Ferguson & Co, are the external auditors of the Company. They gave an unqualified opinion on the Company's financial statements for 
the year ended Dec 31, 2022, The board has also established an internal audit department 

Legal Structure Bulleh Sh:ih Packaging (Private) Limited 'BSP' or 'The Company') was incorporated a. a private limited company on September 16. '21~1:i under the 
Companies Act,20 I 7. The Company's primary object is to canyon the business of manufacture and sale of paper & paper board of all kind and corrugated h, '""'­ 
Background The Company was established in new green project incorporated as a separate entity under the name of Bulleh Shah Paper Mills (BSPM). In September 
2012,joint venture between Stora Enso (3~%) and Packages Limited (6~%) was established and the name has been changed to Builch Shah Packaging (Pvt.) I rd. Lately, 
in 2017 Stora Enso took an exit making the Company wholly owned by PackaaO!J Limited. 
Operations Bulleh Shah Paclcaeing (Private) Limited is engaged in the manu!actwins and sale of Corrugated boxes, Paper, paper board and Other products or paper. The 
Installed capacity of pa er& paper board is 360,000 MT er annum. while that of corrugated box is 130,000 MT per annum. t§N@'tftW :111 -lft7Tt®t1% ~;;;=~.,;;.a.;;;,m;;;;:_ ;;;;::;,~:;;;Jbi,.::.:it;,:i'1i~S;::t;;:,:~~:;;:i;::;:~;·;;:::===:!<-::;;~;:;:~,;:::,:.r=,.£==.:==::;;;;;:::;::·_.:,:::;:.{~'d 

Ownership Structure Bulleh Shah Packaging (pvt.) limited is lOO'l'o owned subsidiary of Packages Limited. 
Stablllt1 Packages Limited is the flagship Investment holdlng company of the Ali Group which has a history spanning over n period of more than 65 yenrs. Packages'O 
investment book comprises entlries engaged in the manufacturing and sale of inks, flexible packaging material, paper, paperboard, and corrugated h•m:s. biaxially 
oriented polypropylene film and cast polypropylene film, production and sale of ground calcium carbonate products, entities engaged in insurance, power generation, rcnl 
estate segment of the economy and recently diversifying into manufacturing of com-based starch, · 
Bualneu Acumen The Group Is ranked amongst the leading industrial groups of the country with interests in paper and packaging, financial institutions, education. 
Packages Limited has significant successful joint ventures with intemalioaal conalomerates and long standing relntionship with various rnultlnational ccmpanicx. 
Financial Strength Pack.ages ha.s a consolidated total assets oC- PKR 172bln and uity of - PKR 66.7bln and generated a turnover of -PKR i21.8bln during CY22. 

6) 
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Disclaimer. PACRA has used due care in preparation of this document. Our information has been obtained from sources we consider to be reliable bul 
its accuracy or completeness is not guaranteed. PACRAshall owe no liability whatsoever to any loss or damage caused by or resulting from any error 
in such information. Contents of PACRA documents may be used, with due care and in the right context, with credit to PACRA. Our reports .1:,cl 
ratings constitute opinions, not recommendations to buy or to sell 

e) Holding Company Rating 
f) Independent Power Producer Rati01g 
g) Microfinanco Institution Ro.tin~ 
h) Non-Banking Finance Companies Jlncing 

Note. This scale is applicable to the following methodology(a): a) Broker Entity Ra1ing 
b} Corporate Ratin11 
c) Debt Instrument Rating 
d) Financial Institution Rating 

Surveillance. Surveillance on a publicly disseminated ratlng opinion is carried out on an ongoing basis till it is formally suspended or withdruwu. =1\ 
comprehensive surveillance of rating opinion is carried out at least once every six months. However, a rating opinion may be reviewed in the 
intervening period if it is necessitated by any niatcrial happening. _ . ---· 

Wlthdniwn A rating is 
withdrawn on a) 

termination of rating 
mandate, b) the debt 

insuument is 
redeemed, e) the rating 
remains suspended for 

six months, d) the 
entity/issuer defaults., 

or/and e) PACRA finds 
it iinpractical to surveill 
the opinion due 10 lack 

of requisite 
infom1ation. 

Harmoni-,a-.i;;-;-A ··1 
change: in rating due to 
revision in applicahle 

methodology or 
underlying scale. 
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•17re correlation shown is indicative and, in certain 
cas•s, '1JQY not hold. 
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The capacity for timely repayment is more 
susceptible to adverse changes in business, 
economic, or fmancial conditions. Liquidity A4 

AJ 

A satisfactory capacity for -,~11cly 
repayment. This may be sus<:'-'p11hl..: to 

adverse changes in busincs-v, 
economic, or financial condi~i11r1s_. .._ -­ 

An adequate capacity for timely repayment. 
Such capacity is susceptible tu adverse 

changes in business, economic, or financial 

A2 

The highest capacity for timely rcpuvment. 
A strong capacity for timely 

repayment. 

Suspension It is not 
possible to update an 
opinion due to lack 

of requisite 
information. Opinion 
should be resumed in 
foreseeable future. 

However, if this 
docs not happen 

within six (6) 
months, the rating 

should be considered 
w~bdrawn. 

luting Watch Alerts to the 
possibility of a rating change 

subsequent to, or, in 
anticipation of some material 

identifiable event with 
indeterminable rating 

lru.plioations. But it docs not 
mean that a rating change is 

inevitable. A watch should be 
resolved within toresc:cablc 
future, but may contlnue if 

underlying circumstance1 are 
not settled. Rating watch may 
accompany rating outlook of 

tho respective opinion. 

Outlook (Stable, Positive, 
Ne11atlve, Developing) Indicates 

the potential and direction of a 
rating over the intermediate term in 

response to trends ia economic 
and/or fundamental 

business/financial conditions. It is 
not necessarily a precursor to a 
rv.ting change. 'Stable' outlook 
means a rating is not likely to 

clu.ap. 'Poaiiivo• mCans It may be 
raised. 'Negative' means it may be 

lowered. Where tho trends have 
conflicting elements, the outlook 

may be described as 'Dcvoloping'. 

Obliptiona are currently in default. D 

c 

cc 
Very high credit risk. Substantial credit risk "CCC" Defauk is a real possibility. 

Capacity for meeting flnancial commitments is solely reliant upon sustained, tllvomblc 
business or economic developments. "CC" Rating indicates that default of some kind 

appears probable. ''C" Ratings signal imminent default. 

CCC 
B- 

Hi&h credit risk. A limited margin of safety remains against credit risk. Financial 
commitments arc currently being· met; however, capacity for continued payment is 

contingent upon a sustained, favorable business and economic environment. 
B 

B+ 
BB- 

BB 

Moderate risk. Possibility of credit rislc developing. There ia a possibility of credit risk 
developing. particularly as a result of adverse economic or business changes over time: 

however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial 
· commitments to be met. 

BB+ 
BBB- 

Good credit quality. C=ntly a iow expectation of credit ris~ The capacity for timely 
BBB payment of tlnancial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse changes ih 

circumstances and in economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity. 

BBB+ 
A· 

High credit quality. Low expectation. of credit risk, The capacity for timely payment of 
financial commitments is considered strong. Thia capacity may, nevertheless, be 

vulnerable to cbanps in circumstnnccs or in economlc conditions. 
A 

A+ 
AA· 

Very high credit quality. Very low expectation of credit risk. Indicate very strong 
capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly 

vulncrab\o to foreseeable events. 
AA 

AA+ 

AAA Highest credit quality. Lowest expectation of credit risk. Indicate exceptionally strong 
capacity for timely p1.ymcnt of financial commitments 

De!initlon I scale 

Credit rating reflects fotW&rd-looking opinion on credit wortbines& of underlying entity or Instrument; more specifically it covers relative ubili1y to honor 
Ilnanclal ob!iptions. Tho primary factor being captured on the rating scale is relative JJkclihood of default, 
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Monitoring and review 
(18) PACRA monitors all the outstanding ratings continuously and any potential change therein due to any event associated with the issuer, the security 
arrangement, the industry etc., is disseminated to the market, immediately and in effective manner, after appropriate consultation with the entity/issuer; I 
Chapter m 118-(a) 
(19) PACRA reviews all the outstanding ratings on semi-annual basis or as and when required by any creditor or upon the occurrence of such an event 
which requires to do so; I Chapter 1II 118-(b) 
(20) PACRA Initiates immediate review of the outstanding rating upon becoming aware of any lnformatlon that may reasonably be expected lo result in 
downgrading of the rating; I Chapter DI 118-(c) 
(21) PACRA engages with the issuer and the debt securities trustee, to remain updated on all infonnation pertaining to the rating of the entity/instrument; 
I Chapter Ill 118-(d) 
Probability of Derault 
(22) PACRA 's Rating Scale reflects the expectation of credit risk. The highest rating has the lowest relative likelihood of default (i.e, probahil icy). 
PACRA"s transition studies capture the historical performance behavior of a specific rating notch. Transition behavior of the assigned raring can be 
obtained from PACRA"s Transition Study availahle at our website. (www.pacra.com). However, actual transition of rating may not follow the pattern 
observed in the past I Chapterlll 114-(f·YII) 
Proprietary Information 
(23) All information contained herein ls considered proprietary by PACRA. Hence, none of the information in this document can be copied or. otherwise 
reproduced. stored or disseminated in whole or in part in any form or by any means whatsoever by any person without PACRA's prior written consent 

Independence & Conflict of interest 
(12) PACRA receives compensation from the entity being rated or any third party for the rating services it offers. The receipt of this compensation has 
no influence on PACRA"s opinions or other analytical processes. In all instances, PACRA is committed to preserving the objectivity, integrity and 
independence of its ratings. Our relntionship is governed by two distinct mandates i) rating mandate· signed with the entity being rated or issuer of the 
debt instrument, and fee mandate - signed with the payer, which can be different from the entity 
(13) PACRA does not provide consultancy/advisory services or other services to any of its customers or to any of its customers' associated companies 
and associated undertakings that is being rated or has been rated _by it during the preceding three years unless it has adequate mechanism in place 
ensuring that provision of such services does not lead to a conflict of interest situation with its rating activities: I Chapter III: 12-2-(d) 
(14) PACRA discloses that no shareholder directly or indirectly holding 10% or more of the share capital of PACRA also holds directly or indirectly 
10% or more of the share capital of the entity which is subject to rating or the entity which issued the instrument subject to rating by PACRA: I 
Reference Chapter ill; 12-2-(t) 
(15) PACRA ensures that the rating assigned to an entity or instrument is not be affected by the existence of a business relationship between P ACRA and 
the entity or any other party, or the non-existence of such a relationship I Chapter ID; 12·2-(i) 
(16) PACRA ensures that the analysts or any of their family members shall not buy or sell or engage in any transaction in any security which falls in the 
analyst's area of primary analytical responsibility. This clause shall. however, not be applicable on investment in securities through collective 
investment schemes. I Chapter III; 12-2-(1) 
(17) PACRA has established policies and procedure governing investments und trading in securities by its employees and for monitoring the s.unc to 
prevent insider trading, market manipulation or any other market abuse I Chapter Ill; 11 ·B·(g) 

Conduct of Business 
(6) PACRA fulfills its obligations in a fair, efficient, transparent and ethical manner and renders high standards of services in performing its functions 
and obligations: I Chapter ill; 11-A-(a) 
(7) PACRA uses due care in preparation of this Rating Report. Our information has been obtained from sources we consider to be reliable but it, 
accuracy or completeness is not guaranteed. PACRA docs not, in evecy instance, independently verifies or validates information received in the rating 
process or in preparing this Rating Report I Clause 11-(A}(p). 
(8) PACRA prohibits its employees and analysts from soliciting money, gifts or favors from anyone with whom PACRA conducts business i Chapter lll; 
ll·A·(q) 
(9) PACRA ensures before commencement of the rating process that ail analyst or employee has not had a recent employment or other significant 
l;::~iness or personal relationship with the rated entity that may cause or may be perceived as causing a conflict of interest; I Chapter III: J 1-A-(r.J 
',. i) PACRA maintains principal of integrity in seeking rating business I Chapter ill; 11-A-(u) 
(11) PACRA promptly investigates, in the event of a misconduct or a breach of the policies, procedures and controls. and takes appropriate steps lo 
rectify nny weaknesses to prevent any recurrence along with suitable punitive action against the responsible employec(s) I Chapter III: 11 ·B-lm I 

Restrictions 
(3) No director, officer or employee of PACRA communicates the information, acquired by him for use for rating purposes, to any other person except 
where required under law to do so. I Chapter ID; 10.(5) 
(4) PACRA does not disclose or discuss with outside parties or make improper use of the non-public information which has come to its knowledge 
during business relationship with the customer I Chapter III; 10- 7 ·( d) 
(5) PACRA does not make proposals or recommendations regarding the activities of rated entities that could impact a credit rating of entity subject to 
rating I Chapter m. 10· 7-(k) 

2) Conflict of Interest 
i. The Rating Team or any of their family members have no interest in this rating I Chapter Ill: 12-2-(j) 
ii. PACRA, the analysts involved Jn the rating process and members of its rating committee, and their family members, do not have any co111:'l:i ,if' 
interest relating to the rating done by them I Chapter IIl; 12·2-(e) & (k) 
iii, The analyst is not a substantial shareholder of the customer being rated by PACRA [Annexure F; d-(ii)) Explanation: for the purpose of above clause, 
the term "family members" shall include only those family members who arc dependent on the analyst and members of the rating committee 

Rating Team Statements 
(1) Rating is just an opinion about the creditworthiness of the entity and does not constitute recommendation to buy, hold or sell any security of the 
entity rated orto buy, hold or sell the security rated, as the case may be I Chapter Ill: 14-3-(x) 
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BSP FUTURE BUSINESS PLANS 

I RESPONSIBLE 
Pockogtng 



• BSPPL is wholly owned by Packages Limited 

• BSPPL spread over 225 acres of land expanded its product lines to Liquid 
Packaging Board, Folding Box Board, White Line Chip Board, Writing Paper 
and Photocopy Paper, Test Liner and Fluting/Corrugated medium paper 

• BSPPL currently has the capacity to produce 360,000 tons of paper and 
board, and 210 million corrugated boxes annually 

• BSPPL setup a captive co-generation thermal plant for its self consumption 
of electricity and steam requirement 

• Biomass thermal co-generation plant has the Gross· Installed Capacity of 41 
MW and Gross Operational Capacity of 30 MW (at present), with the boiler 
of 150 TPH steam, which is utilized in the manufacturing process . 

BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 
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• BSPPL got Generation License for Biomass thermal generation pJant 
from NEPRA on 12 Nov 2020 

• BSPPL got permission for supplying of electricity to its associated company 
OmyaPack Private Limited (BPC) under Second-Tier Supply Authorization 

• Interconnection between BSPPL and BPC is on private land, electricity supplied 
exclusively through a private underground cable/feeder· operating at 220/440 
volts 

I .·' · , · · &4¥S(i-···' · ' ~· ·.: 

BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 



·-·-·--·-· Steam Reguirement·-·-·-·-·-·-·-·-· 
97TPH 

___________ Electricity_Reqyirement ·-·-·-·-·-· 
32MW 

• BSPPL supply arrangement and steam requirement 
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BSPPL BUSINESS PROFILE 



• Jnvestment on paper board machines has increased production 
capacity by 50% on both machines. From 2.40,000 tons to 360,000 
tons annually. 

• Further investments will increase production capacity by 20%. 

• This expansion will increase both the electricity requirement and 
steam requirement of 12 MW and 9 TPH respectively in next 2 to 3 
years. 

• Atl these changes along with relocation of businesses to Kasur will 
increase electricity requirement. 

BSPPL BUSINESS PLANS 
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ELECTRICITY REQUIREMENT (MW) · ·:; 
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• With these planned investments the electricity requirement of the 
complex is expected to increase to 49 MW. 

• Current electricity generation is· .around 26MW. With planned 
investment this can go up to 45 MW by 2026. 

• BSP has the financial capability to invest in these expansion projects as 
demonstrated in the past. 

ELECTRICITY OUTLOOK 2024-26 
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• BSP has invested around USO 300 million in last three years.· Future 
investments planned are around USO 200 million . 

I 

RESPONSJBLF. . 
1 '). - •.. ·: ~ .... ~, I.. ,J:,,.,.,.):. ,, 

BSPPL INVESTMENT PLAN 
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Waqas Munir - Chief Financial Officer 

He joined Packages in 2014 as Manager 
Internal Audit and is associated with the 
Group for 9 years. He served as Group 
Head Internal Audit and Group Head HR. 
He is a Chartered Accountant and· 
Certified Internal Auditor. 

Asghar Abbas - Chief Executive Officer 
He joined Packages in 1998 and is 
associated with the Group for 25 
years. He is an Engineer from UET 
with MBA from Nanyang 
Technological University, Singapore. 

·. ·· .· .. ···~ ... , ·weee . . ; ·.::; 

Faisal Haneef - Business Unit Head (PBD)_ r~· 
He joined Packages in 1998 and is 
associated with the Group for 25 years. 
He is a Mechanical Engineer from UET 
with Master's degree from Asian Institute 
of Technology, Thailand and MBA from 
Nanyang Technofogicaf University, 
Singapore. 

Management Profile 



He joined Packages in 2015 as IR Manager 
and is associated with the Group for 8 
years. He has over 14 years of experience 
in HR and IR management. He has MBA 
Marketing degree from University of 
Lahore and Master of HR Management 
Degree from University of Punjab. 

Ahsan Cheema - 

Cluster Head of Human Resources 

I·-·-···· .. --· __.:_·- -~t 

He joined Packages in 2003 as Production 
Engineer and is associated with the Group 
for 20 years. He is a Mechanical Engineer 
from UET with MBA from Nanyang 
Technological University, Singapore. 

Syed Ali Murtaza Bukhari - 
Business Unit Head (Corrugated Packaging) 

Management Profile 
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Deponent 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 

Director 
BULLER SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

I, KHURRAM RAZA BAK.HT A Y ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representative of 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.) LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue of 
BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, hereby solemnly affirm and declare that the 
Applicant is compliant with and shall always fulfill the obligations imposed on it under the 
National Electricity Policy and National Electricity Plan made under section 14A of the Act. 
Moreover, the applicant commits to adhering to relevant obligations where applicable as per laws. 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
. THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

Type "eStamp <16 digij.eStampNumber>" send to8100 

Three Hundred Rupees Only 
Jn Favor of National Electric Power Regulatory Authority 
Shuja Ud Din) PB-LHR-2432) Badami Bash 

Lahore 
27-Nov-2023 4:32:33 PM Issue Date: 

Delisted On/Validity: 4-Dec-2023 

Address: 

Applicant: 
Representative From : Bulleh Shah Packaging Pvt Ltd 
Agent: Akash Yousaf [35201-5161816·1] 

..,.. "fr· AFFIDAVIT .. 4 
Bulleh Shah Packaging Pvt Ltd (00000-0000000-0) 

Description: 

Scan for onllne verification 

PB-LHR-BB26DFB73A941FCO 
Low Denomination 
Rs ~00/- 

ID; 
Type: 
Amount; 

lllllllllllllllllillll 
E-STAMP 

Amount in Words: 
Reason: 
Vendor Information: 



Deponent 
Khurram Raza Bakhtayari 

Director 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING 

PRIVATE LIMITED 

I, KHURRAM RAZA BAKHT A Y ARI, DIRECTOR, being the duly authorized representati Vt! or 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING (PVT.) LIMITED, duly authorized in this regard by virtue ot 

BOARD RESOLUTION dated 02 October 2023, hereby solemnly affirm and declare that the: 

Applicant is compliant with and shall always fulfill all the requirements of The Eligibility Criteria 

(Electric Power Supplier License) Rules, 2023. Moreover, the applicant commits to adhering to 

. relevant obligations where applicable as per laws. 

AFFIDAVIT 

BEFORE 
THE NATIONAL ELECTRIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

..,;;... .. .,,.,....,,;,....,.,,,.;,...:.,...,.,..,,..-.,,. ......... ~,:1.,......J,lic;lld""""'"""-1.Jtll!:,JJ~) .. :.!._,; 

l)pe "eStamp <16dlgil e51amp Number:>" send lo 8100 

Address: lAHORE 
issue Date: l·Dec-2023 10:43:51 AM 
Oellsted On/Vallllliy: 'Tr 8-Dec·2023 
Amount In Words : Three Hundred Rupees Only 
Reason: IN FAVOUR OF NATIONAL ELECl'RIC POWER REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
Vondor Information: Muh•mamd S.dlq I PS·LHR-675 I Ferozo PUt Road 

MUHAMMAD NAZIR (35202-2433508·7 

AFFIDAVIT • 4 
BULLEH SHAH PACKAGING PVT LTD {00000-0000000·0) 
BULLEfi SHAH PACKAGING PVT LTD 

Description : 
Applicant: 
Representative: 
Agent: 

Scan for online verUic.atfon 

IIIIIIHll~Hlllllrnltllllll!I 
E-STAMP 

P8·LHR-4CA133168E2CFA8C 
Low Denomination 
Rs. 300/· - 

ID: 
Type: 
Amount: 
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